

UvA-DARE (Digital Academic Repository)

Smart technology for ageing in place

Machine learning for continuous sensor monitoring of the functional health of independently living older adults Nait Aicha, A.

Publication date 2020 Document Version Final published version License Other

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Nait Aicha, A. (2020). Smart technology for ageing in place: Machine learning for continuous sensor monitoring of the functional health of independently living older adults. [Thesis, externally prepared, Universiteit van Amsterdam].

General rights

It is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), other than for strictly personal, individual use, unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

Disclaimer/Complaints regulations

If you believe that digital publication of certain material infringes any of your rights or (privacy) interests, please let the Library know, stating your reasons. In case of a legitimate complaint, the Library will make the material inaccessible and/or remove it from the website. Please Ask the Library: https://uba.uva.nl/en/contact, or a letter to: Library of the University of Amsterdam, Secretariat, Singel 425, 1012 WP Amsterdam, The Netherlands. You will be contacted as soon as possible.

Smart Technology for Ageing in Place: Machine Learning for Continuous Sensor Monitoring of the Functional Health of Independently Living Older Adults

Ahmed NAIT AICHA

Smart Technology for Ageing in Place:

Machine Learning for Continuous Sensor Monitoring of the Functional Health of Independently Living Older Adults

Ahmed NAIT AICHA

Smart Technology for Ageing in Place:

Machine Learning for Continuous Sensor Monitoring of the Functional Health of Independently Living Older Adults

ACADEMISCH PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Universiteit van Amsterdam op gezag van de Rector Magnificus prof. dr. ir. K.I.J. Maex ten overstaan van een door het College voor Promoties ingestelde commissie, in het openbaar te verdedigen in de Agnietenkapel op donderdag 19 november 2020, te 16.00 uur

door

Ahmed NAIT AICHA

geboren te Ouarzazate

Promotiecommissie

Promotor:	Prof. dr. ir. B. J. A. Kröse	Universiteit van Amsterdam
Co-promotor: Overige leden:	Dr. G. Englebienne	Universiteit Twente
	Prof. dr. H.J. Hermens Prof. dr. M.A.G.M. Pijnappels Prof. dr. B.M. Buurman-van Es Prof. dr. A. Abu-Hanna Prof. dr. T. Gevers Dr. H.C. van Hoof	Universiteit Twente Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Universiteit van Amsterdam University of Amsterdam University of Amsterdam University of Amsterdam

Faculteit der Natuurwetenschappen, Wiskunde en Informatica



Advanced School for Computing and Imaging

This work was carried out in the ASCI graduate school. ASCI Dissertation No. 412.



This work was supported by SIA-Raak projects 'Smart Systems for Smart Services', 'Hipper' and 'Bravo', and by COMMIT/ project 'Virtual Worlds for Well-being'.

© 2020, Ahmed NAIT AICHA, all rights reserved.

Yesterday is history, tomorrow is a mystery, but today is a gift. That is why it is called the present.

MASTER OOGWAY

Contents

1	Gen	eral Introduction	1
	1.1	Ageing world	1
	1.2	Addressing an ageing population	3
	1.3	Ageing in place	4
	1.4	Assistive technology for ageing in place	5
	1.5	Focus of the thesis	7
	1.6	Contributions	8
	1.7	Outline of the thesis	8
2	Bac	kground and Related Work	11
	2.1	Smart homes	11
	2.2	Visit Detection	14
	2.3	Continuous gait velocity measurement	16
	2.4	Digital technology for fall risk assessment	18
	2.5	Data Processing and Analysis	20
3	Uns	upervised Visit Detection in Smart Homes	23
-	3.1	Introduction	23
	3.2	Related Work	25
	3.3	Sensor Data	25
	3.4	Features: description and extraction	26
	3.5	Models	27
	3.6	Experiments	32
	3.7	Results	34
	3.8	Conclusions	40
4	Con	tinuous Measuring of the Indoor Walking Speed of Older Adults	41
	4.1	Introduction	41
	4.2	Related Work	42
	4.3	Sensor Data	43
	4.4	Approach	43
	4.5	Experiments	49
	4.6	Results	51
	4.7	Conclusion	59
5	Dee	p Learning to Predict Falls in Older Adults Based on Daily-Life Data	61
	5.1	Introduction	61
	5.2	Sensor Data	63
	5.3	Approach	63
	5.4	Deep Learning Neural Network Models	65
	5.5	Experiments and Results	67
	5.6	Discussion and conclusions	74
6	Gen	eral Conclusion	77

Bibliography	81
List of publications	91
Summary	93
Samenvatting	95
Acknowledgments (Dankwoord)	97

1

General Introduction

1.1 Ageing world

The worldwide population over 65 years of age will more than double, from 617 million in 2015 to 1.6 billion, by 2050,¹ meaning that the proportion of older adults in the global population will shift from 8.5% to 16.7%. This shift is not equally distributed, as shown by the two maps in Figure 1.1, which demonstrate that Europe and Japan currently have the highest proportion of the 65+ population and will retain that position by 2050. In addition, Asia and Latin America will have an accelerated increase of the 65+ population in the upcoming decades, which will result in an enormous total number of the 65+ population worldwide. The population in Africa, meanwhile, is at the moment young and will remain relatively young by 2050.

¹Census report www.census.gov



Figure 1.1: The distribution of the 65+ proportion of the population worldwide in 2015 and 2050. Figure taken from www.census.gov

There are two major reasons for the ageing worldwide population, according to the Census report. The first reason is the declining fertility rate caused by later marriage, better education about contraceptives and women choosing to pursue a career before having children. The second reason is the increasing life expectancy as a result of medical advances and lifestyle improvements. As people live longer, they pursue new activities such as a new career, an education or a neglected hobby. The functional health status of older adults is the major factor on which all these new activities depend. Functional health refers to the capability to perform activities that a person needs and wants to do, without being limited by pain or injury. Improving the functional health and independence of this part of the population is the focus of this work.

The process of ageing involves many unavoidable changes. Older adults can suffer from changes related to the decline of their cognitive and mental health, including the deterioration of memory and thinking, which may result in dementia and depression. In addition, they can suffer from changes related to their physical health, including problems of mobility (standing, walking, climbing stairs and carrying objects), agility (difficulty in bending, co-ordination and poor balance) and chronic pain (Sternberg et al., 2011). Ageing therefore has major implications for healthcare services. However, the ageing population is also an important resource in terms of human capital and therefore must be seen as an investment rather than a cost. By 2050, one in three Europeans will be over 65 years old. This ratio will have a huge impact on every market and industry, including

home accommodation, transport, food, insurance, robotics and health, all of which must adapt to an ageing population as demographic change leads to new needs and to new markets for products and services (Tiago et al., 2016). All these markets will and must adapt to ageing population as demographic change leads to new needs and to new markets for products and services (Tiago et al., 2016). This Silver Economy (referring to the greying hair of the elderly) can be seen as an opportunity for economic growth as long as the older adults are healthy and able to live independently. Problems arise when these older adults suffer from mental or physical health issues resulting in the need for support in their activities of daily livings (ADLs). The support for some of these older adults can be on an incidental basis and easy to realize. For others, the support of several professional healthcare providers may be needed every day for the remainder of their expected life. The ageing of the increasing population will result in increasing demands from the healthcare system, and actions to address this pressure are therefore needed.

1.2 Addressing an ageing population

Countries have forwarded many suggestions for how to deal with the issue of an ageing population. Increasing income taxes and the retirement age are two examples of these solutions from an economic point of view, because they lead to more tax revenues, which can be partly invested in the healthcare system (Fine, 2014a,b). A disadvantage of these solutions is their unpopularity, especially among those near retirement age. Furthermore, these solutions do not solve the main problem of increasing demands placed on healthcare systems due to the worldwide increase in the ageing population. Another solution is a policy to encourage people to work in the healthcare sector in order to address the lack of caregivers. In particular, encouraging skilled immigrants to live and work in a country may solve a large part of the problem. In general, a policy that encourages an increase in the rage of immigration will result in an increase in the labour workforce of the country. This workforce will support a high proportion of the older population, because the healthcare services are organized, financed and delivered by the government in the majority of countries (McDonald, 2015, 2017). A disadvantage of this solution is that the proportion of the ageing population in the countries of origin of immigrants increases, making the problem worse in these countries. Another disadvantage of the immigration policy is that these immigrants will age and therefore contribute to the ageing population in the future. A long-term solution is to encourage child bearing in order to boost fertility rates. These children can look after their ageing parents. This solution will necessitate huge investment in the encouragement policies, such as creating a financial incentives depending on the number of children and providing cheap child care (Lutz et al., 2017). Unfortunately, this solution is difficult to effectuate, and the continued growth of the human population is untenable, given the planets finite resources. The other long-term solution is to maximize the quality of life and independence of the ageing population, so that the burden on society does not grow beyond reason.

Given the increasing older population, much discussion has surrounded who should be responsible for the elderly: the person him or herself, their family or the government? Some believe that the government should take care of older adults, as these elderly have

paid their share to society through taxes. But this leaves the problem of those who have paid less taxes or were not able to pay taxes at all and whether the government should take care of them too. Others believe that children should take care of their parents as an obligation for being raised, as family is more likely to provide a more personal and comforting standard of care. But what if the families cannot provide adequate care for their elderly family members then who should take care of these older adults? Others still believe that the elderly themselves are responsible for their care, but this still leaves the question of what if the elderly cannot provide adequate care. This thesis does not aim to determine who should take care of the elderly. Ageing in place is emerging as the best solution for both the individuals, the family and the government. It is more economical and more closely aligned with the needs of the elderly population (Pereira et al., 2018; Wiles et al., 2012). Ageing in place has the benefit of allowing older adults to be supported in living independently in a familiar and safe home environment. For the family members, it offers greater ease to look after the health and well-being of the older adult. The current situation in developing countries compared to the non-developed countries is that the majority of older adults live in senior care facilities such as assisted living homes or nursing homes, for which the annual fees, usually paid by the government, are very high in comparison to aging in place.

1.3 Ageing in place

As people age, they undergo inevitable physical, mental and emotional changes. Their vision, hearing, movement and mobility may decline, and these impairments may affect, with varying severity, basic ADLs. Some older adults prefer to stay in nursing homes, where they are assisted in almost everything, in particular in healthcare. Those who choose to stay in their homes may have concerns about safety, taking care of their health and performing the ADLs. Living alone also increases the risk of social isolation and loneliness. Despite all these risks, however, the majority of older adults choose to continue to live at home rather than to be in assisted living facilities or nursing homes (N. Farber and Harrell, 2011; Steels, 2015), because ageing in place offers a strong feeling of independence and autonomy and allows individuals to maintain their social networks (Wiles et al., 2012).

Ageing in place requires modification to the home for safety and comfort. The major home modifications include making sure that there is a bedroom and bathroom on the first floor compliant with the needs of older adults (high bed and high toilet, grab bars in the bathroom). The minor home modifications include adding grab bars and a non-slip surface in the bathroom and a no-threshold entrance and improved lighting (bright and remote controlled) in the home. However, adapted housing is not sufficient. In addition, suitable healthcare is an important condition for the older adult to be able to age in place. This condition can be fulfilled using assistive technology, which is defined by the United Nations as technology adapted or specially designed to improve the functioning of people with disabilities (Rosenbaum and Stewart, 2004). Assistive technology for ageing in place refers to any piece of equipment, software or other tool used to support older adults in coping at home with little or no help from formal and informal care givers. Examples of these assistive technology devices include fire alarms, medication devices and surveillance cameras. Assistive technology for ageing in place is expected to grow rapidly during the next few years.

1.4 Assistive technology for ageing in place

In order to age in place, older adults may require some tools and services to be able to accomplish their normal tasks and address new needs in their daily life. Examples of low-tech solutions include walkers, which can increase mobility for older adults who experience trouble walking; grab bars in the bathroom to support independently taking a shower without the fear of falling; and joining a voluntary organization for social activities to decrease the risk of social isolation and loneliness. These solutions improve peoples daily quality of life, but they do not address emergency situations, such as falls, strokes or other medical emergencies. Medium-tech solutions can provide help and peace of mind in these situations. Examples include a special button that older adults wear to call for medical assistance in case of emergency, an automated medication dispensing system to reduce the health risks associated with medication errors and a tablet designed for seniors to stay connected with distant family and friends, reducing the risk of social isolation and loneliness. Such medium-tech solutions still do not help when the person is incapacitated, however, and ideally, problems should be detected before emergencies arise. Technology solutions supporting this are referred as high-tech solutions. Research about the use of technology for ageing in place is rapidly emerging and is multi-disciplinary in nature. It has resulted in various devices used to support healthcare (Kruse et al., 2017). The authors of the survey Assistive Technology Devices and Applications for Ageing in Place provided a categorization of these devices with respect to the device types and their application (O'Brien and Ruairi, 2009). In this section, we describe the types of devices used in three emerging application areas, namely, health telecommunication, robotics for health and health monitoring devices.

The simplest form of health telecommunication or tele-health is to send text, audio or video messages for interventions using a cell phone. This form of tele-health is commonly used in lower-income nations (Durrani and Khoja, 2009) and may result in significant improvements in compliance with taking medicine, fewer missed appointments and more rapid diagnosis and treatment (Santosh Krishna and Balas, 2009). Examples of tele-health systems are the systems aimed to support older adults with medication compliance. These systems vary from standalone devices that operate independently to networked devices that are part of an advanced compliance solution that may communicate with an emergency response system. The major limitation of the tele-health tools is that their success is greatly dependent on the motivation of older adult and the support that they receive when using them (Kampmeijer et al., 2016). A recent population survey shows that a substantial proportion of the German population, mainly older adults, did not use smart phones or health apps (Ernsting C, 2017).

Another emerging assistive technology is the use of robotics for healthcare. Some robots have a primary function to support users with some disabilities in taking medications.

Other functionalities of the robots include entertainment using voice and video communication with the aim of increasing the quality of life of older adults. Deploying robots in the home environment of elderly individuals may have positive effects, reducing the utilization of primary healthcare (Orejana et al., 2015). The major disadvantage of the use of robots is that they are expensive for large-scale deployment due to the complexity of the incorporated technology, which may also introduce some technical challenges in rural settings.

Another example of assistive technology to support older adults in ageing in place while still having sufficient security standards in case of emergency is ambient technology. Ambient technology falls within the category of information technology and aims to help people in their everyday lives through a smart environment that is aware of their presence and is adaptive and responsive to their needs. To accomplish this, wireless sensor network (WSN) are used. A WSN consists of a set of autonomous nodes/devices that can communicate using a wireless protocol and are dedicated to monitoring the physical condition of an environment. The key advantages of WSN are their multi-functionality, low cost, energy-efficient sensors and ease of deployment. Some applications of WSN focus on the monitoring of ADLs with the aim of detecting odd conditions such as falling, wandering and skipping a meal. Other applications include medication intake monitoring, which aims to support older adults with medication compliance, as medication noncompliance is common in elderly people with cognitive disabilities. Ambient technology also has its limitations. The first is the wide variety of devices available. While the applications of WSN can be categorized into one or a combination of three classes environmental data collection, security monitoring and object/subject tracking the devices suitable for one application area can be widespread, which makes it difficult to choose the right device for a certain application. The second limitation is the privacy issue, as the devices are connected to the internet and the data is usually not stored in the elderly persons home, but elsewhere. While ambient sensors can provide rich, unobtrusive information that is not privacy-sensitive, a deficiency in the security and handling of the data may leave the subjects data vulnerable. Even if the collected subjects data is secure, it can be used by the device supplier for other purposes. The third limitation is the algorithms in the ambient system. The usability of ambient systems largely depends on the intelligence of the software used for decision-making. A good performance of the implemented algorithms results in a device that performs well, and vice versa. The performance of the algorithms usually depends on the quality of the collected data sets. The analysis of these data sets is, however, challenging for several reasons, including the presence of a lot of noise in the data and the lack of accurate labels. The focus of this thesis is the development and use of machine-learning algorithms for the purpose of monitoring the functional health condition of older adults, in particular detecting changes in health condition. This thesis is part of a healthcare monitoring project that aims to use pervasive technology to support older adults in independently living longer in their own homes and their familiar, safe environment.

1.5 Focus of the thesis

The purpose of this thesis is the improved monitoring of the functional health condition, and changes thereto of older adults living alone. To achieve this, this research is focused on the systems for the monitoring of the activities of older adults, such as bathing, going to the toilet and preparing meals using networks of ambient and wearable sensors. Monitoring these activities allows the detection of change in these activities and their execution. This change may be an indication of a change (usually a decline) in the functional health condition of the older adult.

Most studies on activity recognition, anomaly detection or trend detection assume that there is only a single resident in the home. The sensor data analysed for these studies consist of sensor readings collected while only the subject monitored is alone at home. In reality, the resident may receive visits from family members and care givers. The target group of this thesis are older adults living alone and willing to age in place and maintain their independence. Some of these subjects are dependent on some facilities, such as a cleaner, while others are independent of formal or informal care givers. The sensor data collected for this thesis consists of sensor readings obtained over several years of monitoring the subject. Older adults living together are not taken into account in this thesis, as they can take care of each other and can act as monitors of each other. The first part of this thesis focuses on the methods to detect visits to the older adult. Detecting and analysing visits allows for more accurate automatic activity recognition and gives insights in the social life of the resident.

Many studies on the monitoring of ADLs focus on the recognition of ADLs and therefore on the metrics for the measurement of these activities, such as number of steps per day and the duration of the sleep time. More important is the measurement of the ability of older adults executing their ADLs. In other words, it is better to focus on the quality of the ADLs of older adults over time. As we are interested in the change in the execution of ADLs, especially a decline in ability, we focussed on the factors that cause this decline in the ability to independently execute these activities. Two important factors are investigated in this thesis: decline of gait velocity and risk of falling.

Gait velocity is an important predictor of functional health that is shown to predict the risk of falling (Montero-Odasso et al., 2005; Quach et al., 2011), as well as hospitalization and survival (Studenski et al., 2011). For that reason, gait velocity is an important measure in comprehensive geriatric assessment in clinical settings. The disadvantage of the clinical assessments is that the tests are usually carried out over a short period of time in an unnatural setting using dedicated sensors. Moreover, the measurements may be subjective to the therapist and are also sensitive to the white coat effect. In this thesis we focus on the continuous measurement of gait velocity in an objective manner using data collected in a natural environment from an ambient WSNs.

Falls among older adults are one of the major functional health problems that lead to a decreased quality of life and increased morbidity and mortality. More than one-third of community-living older adults fall each year. Moreover, approximately 10% of falls result in a major injury, such as a fracture, serious soft tissue injury or traumatic brain injury (Tinetti and Kumar, 2010; Tinetti and Williams, 1997). Existing models for the assessment of fall risk of older adults use handcrafted extracted features (Rispens et al., 2015b; van Schooten et al., 2015). These features rely on the expertise and experience of the movement scientist. In this thesis, we focus on the prediction of fall risk using deep learning methods on accelerometer data acquired in the home environment. Compared to conventional models, deep learning methods have the advantage of automatically extracting the best features from the data.

1.6 Contributions

The main purpose of this thesis is to use sensor monitoring collected in a smart home using an ambient and wearable sensor networks to support a healthy and active ageing in the home environment. Based on this and on the information presented in the previous sections, the main contributions of the thesis are as follows.

Visit detection: The first contribution of this thesis pertains to the detection of visits to older adults from ambient sensor data. Such visits can be occasional or regular, and modelling this allows more accurate and more informative visit detection. We explored both supervised and unsupervised methods to detect visits to the homes of older adults. A Markov modulated multidimensional non-homogeneous Poisson process (M3P2) allows us to incorporate multiple feature streams. The nonhomogeneous property allows us to model weekly and daily cycles.

Gait velocity: The second contribution of the thesis pertains to the continuous measurement of the gait velocity (indoor walking speed) of the elderly from unconstrained sensor data. Many studies have showed that gait velocity is an important predictor of functional health. We have developed a method to collect walking trajectories and calculate their duration and length in a simultaneous manner.

Fall risk assessment: Early detection of high fall risk is an essential component of fall prevention in older adults. The third contribution of the thesis pertains to the assessment of fall risk using deep learning methods. Fall risk assessment is a process in which the probability of a future fall is estimated, usually within a time frame of six to twelve months. We showed that applying deep learning models to accelerometer data acquired in the home environment provides comparable accuracy to conventional models in the assessment of fall risk, with the advantage that these models do not rely on handcrafted extracted features.

1.7 Outline of the thesis

This section provides a brief overview over the thesis chapters.

The general introduction provides a description of the ageing population in the world, the opportunities and the issues regarding this population, different strategies for how to deal

with this issue and the role of assistive technology to support ageing in place.

The background and related work chapter provides an overview of the related work, describing the role of the smart home in elderly (health) care and describing related work in the area of visit detection, measurement of walking speed and fall risk assessment.

Visit detection: Most of the research on smart homes assumes that a living space is occupied by a single person, the resident. In reality, older adults could receive guests such as care professionals and family members. This chapter provides a description of the methods used to detect regular and irregular visits of the older adult in the smart home. The chapter also provides a description of the data sets used for both visit detection and continuous measurement of gait velocity. This chapter is based on the work published in Nait Aicha et al. (2014) and Nait Aicha et al. (2013).

Continuous measurement of walking speed: Many studies have showed that gait velocity is an important predictor of functional health. This chapter describes the method for the continuous measurement of gait velocity. The chapter provides a description a description the challenges involved when dealing with collection of the walking trajectories and gives a description of different ways to (simultaneously) calculate their duration and length. This chapter is based on the work published in Nait Aicha et al. (2015).

Fall risk prediction: Early detection of high fall risk is an essential component of fall prevention in older adults. Conventional methods to assess fall risk rely on handcrafted extracted features, which is time consuming. This chapter provides a description of several deep learning methods applied to accelerometery truck data to assess fall risk. First, the data set is described. Then, a set of deep learning methods are compared to the conventional methods and to each other. This chapter is based on the work published in Nait Aicha et al. (2018).

General conclusions: This chapter summarizes the overall conclusions of the thesis, as derived from the previous chapters.

2

Background and Related Work

This thesis describes the research on systems for monitoring the daily activities of older adults using sensors installed in their homes (smart homes). In particular, the detection of changes in the execution of these activities may be an indication of a change (usually a decline) in the functional health condition of the older adult. This chapter begins with a description of smart homes, providing a definition, categories, background and an overview of how they have developed in the past two decades. The ambient sensors used in the smart home of this thesis are binary sensors and do not have the ability to distinguish the resident from visitors. This is problematic for models of resident behaviour, and in the second section, we describe work related to the problem of visit detection, its relation to the identification problem and how these problems can be solved.

Many studies have shown that gait velocity is an important predictor of the functional health of older adults. The third section describes work related to the assessment of walking speed in relation to walking ability and how to continuously measure this velocity in a smart home. The fourth section describes work on another important predictor of functional health, that is, the assessment of fall risk, presenting work on the possibilities of digital technology to support fall risk assessment. The fifth section introduces how data-driven methods can be used for the automatic analysis of sensor data and sets the stage for the algorithms proposed in this thesis. We focused on algorithms related to visit detection, continuous measurement of indoor walking speed and the assessment of fall risk in a smart home.

2.1 Smart homes

Smart homes have been researched for more than two decades. A pioneering work in this area is the Smart Rooms project of MIT, which resulted in a system that can be sued to track people in an environment and interpret their behaviour (Darrell et al., 1997; Pentland, 1996). During these two decades, many definitions were provided for a smart home, for example, by Lutolf (1992) and Allen et al. (2001). A smart home is defined as a home equipped with computing devices (such as sensors and actuators) and information technology (such as WSNs) which anticipates and responds to the needs of the resident.

An example of a simple smart home is a home in which the lights in a room automatically turn on when the resident enters the room. An infrared sensor installed in the room detects a person entering the room, and an actuator in the switch turns the lights on. For a more complex smart home, one can imagine a smart home consisting of many smart devices, each with a different purpose. For example, a smart doorbell can allow an older adult with limited mobility to see who is at the door. Using his or her smart phone connected to the smart lock, the individual can open the door for the visitors without needing to walk to the door. A smart speaker, such as Amazon Alexa or Google Assistant, allows an older adult to use his or her voice to turn lights on and off without needing to walk. Smart hallway lights with motion sensors turn on when the older adult gets up in the night to use the bathroom, which helps prevent falls. Wearable smart fall sensors automatically send an alert to relatives and to emergency assistance if the older adult does fall and cannot get back up.

During the first decade of in the emergence of smart homes, the major review papers categorized the smart homes into three categories: 1) health care smart homes, aiming to provide assistance to occupants by recognizing their actions; 2) comfort smart homes, aiming to ease the daily life of older adults by increasing their comfort; and 3) security smart homes, providing surveillance systems able to alert residents in case of security threats (Alam et al., 2012; Silva et al., 2012). Recent review papers identified more specific categories of smart homes (Kon et al., 2017; Pal et al., 2017). For example, environmental monitoring smart homes (smoke-detectors, electronic door openers) aim to satisfy the physiological needs of the elderly and provide them with a sense of safety, while social communication smart homes aim to reduce social isolation and depression by connecting older adults with family and friends and physical activity smart homes aim to stimulate older adults in maintaining an active lifestyle by providing programs ranging from exercise applications to behaviour recognition systems.

The major focus of the research on the smart home during the first decade was the recognition of activities of daily living, such as walking, sitting, bathing and cooking. The smart homes were in general labs at the university, and the students were asked to participate in the research. To recognize these activities, the participants were asked to conduct some activities in a certain order. Students and researchers were responsible for collecting and labelling the data. The machine-learning algorithms used to recognize these activities from the data usually achieved high performance because of the limited number and variety of activities, the clean data collected and the presence of accurate labels. In recent years, there has been a shift in the smart homes used from university labs to living labs. Some research on smart homes is still conducted at the university, but instead of using students as participants, older adults are asked to conduct some activities of daily living in a certain order. The reason for this shift is the large difference in the execution of activities between younger and older adults. In some studies, the older adults are asked to live in the lab for a short period of time, ranging from a day or a night to a week, depending on the aim of the research. This is done because it is easier, quicker and cheaper to transform the university lab into a living lab than to shift the equipment needed to monitor the older adults and collecting data in their home. The equipment usually consists of sensors developed at the universities and sophisticated cameras that collect the labelled data which is required to analyse behaviour. The acceptance and adoption of this technology in a home situation is usually beyond the scope of the research. The development of miniature sensors, however, especially wearable sensors, has resulted in more research in the homes of older adults (the wild). The ease of deployment and use of such miniature sensors has increased the use of these sensors by older adults in their daily routines, even while sleeping (Deen, 2015; Mendona et al., 2019). This has resulted in the emergence of technology for ageing in place. This new miniature technology used in the home environment has now given rise to new issues with respect to acceptance and adoption (Kruse et al., 2017).

The two most important factors which appear to affect the adoption of technology for ageing in place are privacy and high costs (Peek et al., 2014). With respect to the first factor, various studies have shown that older adults are willing to give up some privacy, such as sharing monitoring information with family members and health professionals, as long as using the technology is beneficial to them (Boise et al., 2013; Fischer et al., 2014). The use of cameras is considered to be the most serious privacy issue in the monitoring of older adults. With respect to the second factor, high costs can be monetary, as well as non-monetary, such as the time and effort needed for the adoption and the use of the technology.

Ambient sensors, such as motion, contact and pressure sensors, installed in the home of the older adult seem to be able to address both privacy and high cost problems. These sensors provide rich, unobtrusive and non-privacy-sensitive information. In a comprehensive review of smart homes that are related to ambient assisted living projects, the authors included different types of ambient-sensor-based monitoring technologies and concluded that ambient sensors are able to collect relevant data while preserving the privacy of the user (Uddin et al., 2018). Moreover, these sensors see high acceptance by the elderly due to their unobtrusive monitoring characteristic.

The problem that arises when using ambient sensors to monitor the elderly is the identification problem: It is difficult to identify the source of the data using these sensors, because they do not record any audio or video information. Especially, when dealing with smart homes inhabited by more than one person and possibly by pets (Benmansour et al., 2015). In this situation, known as the multi-occupancy problem, data association and interaction must be taken into account. The multi-occupancy problem is not within the scope of this thesis, because the purpose of the thesis is to predict changes (usually a decline) in the functional health condition of the *single* resident. In a smart home with multiple occupants, the residents can take care of each other and alert health professionals in case of emergency. The problem of identifying the resident from the collected data remains an issue in a single-occupant smart home, however, as the resident often receives visitors such as family members and healthcare professionals.

To summarize, while the first smart homes consisted of labs at universities simulating the living areas of older adults, recent smart homes have used the living areas of the elderly as labs (living labs). These living labs are set up in such a way that the data generated by the older adults is collected and stored without disturbing their normal day and night patterns. This setup results in the collection of rich real-life data sets, which make it possible to analyse some behaviour of the resident. The analysis of these data sets using machine-learning algorithms is, however, challenging for several reasons, including the

presence of a lot of noise in the data and the lack of accurate labels. The first problem that rises when dealing with data collected in living labs is the identification of the source of the data. When researching some behaviour of an older adult who is being monitored in a living lab, it is important to know that the data analysed is generated by the older adult himself and not by visitors. The following section describes different means of solving the problem of visitors that have been proposed in the literature.

2.2 Visit Detection

This thesis describes the monitoring of the daily activities of older adults living alone in their homes for several years. As the residents may receive visits from family and caregivers, it is important to distinguish the activities of the visitors from those of the resident. There are two possibilities for dealing with the monitored activities with respect to the collection of data: a) Monitor the activities of both the resident and the visitor simultaneously or b) monitor the activities of the resident and ignore those of the visitor. The first case is known as the identification of multiple persons in a smart home (identification problem). However, the identification problem is outside the scope of this thesis, because our purpose is to detect changes in the functional health of the resident and not of the visitor. In this section, we describe the background and related work on possible ways to deal with the detection of visits in a smart home.

During the first decade of the emergence of smart homes, the majority of research was based on experiments executed in a lab at a university. The focus of this research was the recognition of predefined simple activities of an individual person. The activities were usually scripted and carried out by the researchers or students. Research experiments involving more persons aimed to recognize interrupted or interwoven activities (Crandall and Cook, 2010). Over the years, smart homes have shifted from university labs to living labs, and the duration of the monitoring periods has increased to several months or even years. The resulting increase in extraneous data from visits can be dealt with in three ways:

- 1. The resident or the visitor manually indicates the visits.
- 2. An additional device is used to detect the visits.
- 3. Sophisticated algorithms are used to detect visits based on existing sensor data.

The remainder of this section addresses these three methods.

Manual indication of visits:

Manual actions from the resident or visitor are usually used in case the research experiments last only a few days to a few weeks. If the resident is required to manually indicate visits to a recognition system, this results in a number of unintended consequences. First, the resident can forget to indicate a visit or the end of a visit, resulting in a corruption of the data. Even if the resident performs the indications perfectly, the mere act of indicating visits modifies the residents normal behaviour and is detrimental to activity recognition. This latter point can be solved by asking visitors to indicate visits to the system but leads to practical problems due to visitors not being familiar with the system.

Use of additional devices:

Visual sensors are a popular type of sensor used in several research projects to solve the identification problem in general and the detection of visitors in particular(Skubic et al., 2009). Because of their ability to record and store audio and images of the resident, the processing and analysis of this type of data results in well-labelled data sets and good performance of the developed algorithms. Privacy, however, remains a major issue when using such sensors in the living labs, as these devices can record sensitive information on the resident, especially video material. To address the privacy issues, approaches such as silhouettes, depth images and low resolution images are used instead of raw video material. For example, Banerjee et al. (2012) extracted the silhouettes of the persons from the videos and used them as features to detect visits. Clustering techniques are used with the hypothesis that each residents data will cluster and the visitors will appear as outliers. In another study aiming to evaluate the socialization level of the older adult, the authors used a low-resolution visual sensor network to detect the visitors (Eldib et al., 2015). The privacy concerns are generally best addressed by executing the processing and the prediction tasks locally on the camera device. The disadvantage of this method is that the requirements of the camera devices (CPU, memory and GPU) are high, which make them expensive for deployment in living labs.

To address the privacy issue in situations in which the experiments last for a long period of time, nonvisual wearable sensors are usually used to solve the identification problem. For example, in a research project aiming to detect abnormal behaviour in older adults suffering from dementia, the authors solved the visitors problem using an radio-frequency identification (RFID) reader located next to the front-door. Visitors are asked to wear a badge containing an RFID tag during their visits and to use it to register their entrance and leaving times (Lotfi et al., 2012). In another study, Hu et al. (2017) incorporated the activity data from a Fitbit activity tracker (wearable watch) into the ambient sensor data to improve the performance of the visitor detection algorithm. Recent research showed the possibility of estimating the number of occupants in a room by using environmental sensors able to measure environmental parameters such as temperature, humidity, pressure and CO_2 concentration (Jiang et al., 2016; Wolf et al., 2019). The disadvantage of this type of CO_2 sensor is that the accuracy of the detection is small when the number of occupants is small (less than four persons), which is often the case when detecting visits in smart homes designed for the elderly.

Use of sophisticated algorithms:

A better way to detect visits is to use the same data collected for monitoring the functional health to also detect the visits. This method works well because the collection and processing of the data is reduced to one set using a single monitoring system. In addition, no need to use additional devices means no need for additional maintenance of the devices and the related software systems. However, the identification problem is very challenging because the same data set collected for the monitoring is also used for another purpose (the detection of visits). This challenge is even bigger in smart homes consisting of ambient sensors, which do not record any audio or video and only generate binary data. Singla and Cook (2009) addressed this problem and demonstrated an ability to identify multiple individuals and their activities in a smart home using hidden Markov models (HMMs). The disadvantage in this study is that the smart home used for the experiments was very dense, consisting of more than fifty sensors, and in addition, the occupants were students. In a study aiming to automatically observe and model the daily behaviour of older adults, the authors used anomaly detection techniques as a method to detect visits (Aran et al., 2016). The disadvantage of this method is that the collected sensor data in living labs may contain many anomalies which do not correspond to visits, for example, a sensor failure or a change in the daily routine of the subject due to health problems. Another disadvantage of the proposed anomaly detection technique is that the regular visits (same time and same duration) are not seen as visits.

In this thesis, we focus on the detection of changes in the functional health of older adults living independently and alone. We therefore propose a method to detect visits to older adults when dealing with only ambient sensors. Inchapter 3, we describe this method and how we are able to detect both regular and irregular visits in an unsupervised manner.

2.3 Continuous gait velocity measurement

In the first decade in which smart homes were emerging, the walking ability of older adults was assessed in a clinical setting. Typical assessment tests include the Berg balance scale (BBS) test (Berg KO, 1989) and the timed up and go (TUG) test (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). For these tests, the subject is asked to walk a distance of three to five meters, and the occupational therapist measures the walking speed using a stopwatch. The major advantage of these tests is that they are simple and have the ability to provide a global indication of the walking ability of the subject, but the tests also have many disadvantages. The accuracy of these tests may be inconsistent, as they rely on the experience level of the assessor, the mood of the subject during the test and the environment in which the tests are conducted. Furthermore, these clinic-based tests do not provide a complete picture of the true physical state of the elderly individuals, because the walkway in a clinical setting is not representative of the complex environment of a home setting. To address these problems, several sophisticated home setups have been developed in recent years. The assessments are therefore shifted from a clinical to a living environment, which supports continuous gait assessment.

In a living environment setup (smart home), two types of device are usually used: wearable devices and ambient sensors. The majority of wearable systems designed for the analysis of gait are incorporated in shoes, belts or wristbands (Bamberg et al., 2008; De Rossi et al., 2011; Xu et al., 2012). The sensors used for such systems are mainly pressure sensors and pedometers. An additional advantage of insole-based solutions is the possibility of continuously measuring the weight of a subject, especially for frail older adults (Campo et al., 2015; Charlon et al., 2018). Belt- and wristband-based solutions are suitable for long-term measurement of the physical activity, but not for measuring indoor walking speed, and pedometers significantly underestimate the gait velocity of older adults (Cyarto et al., 2004). In general, the major disadvantage of wearable devices for gait analysis is that the subject must not forget to wear the device and must recharge it regularly. The acceptance of wearable sensor applications for indoor long term monitoring is therefore low.

The majority of ambient systems can be grouped into visual and non-visual sensors. The visual sensors have been widely investigated for human activity analysis. For example, Wang et al. (2013) used a low-cost webcam-based system to extract gait parameters including walking speed, step time, and step length from silhouette images. Stone and Skubic (2011) evaluated the use of the Microsoft Kinect for passive gait assessment against an existing web-camera-based system. Among other limitations such as lighting condition and occlusion, privacy remains one of the largest concerns in the long term implementation of a visual system in real-life smart homes. The most used non-visual sensors are passive infrared sensors, contact switches and pressure mats. These devices are popular because they are simple, ambient and cheap. Furthermore, they can be deployed in smart homes without affecting the daily life routines of older adults, as they can be incorporated into furniture such as bed, couch or closet. A network of these sensors has been successfully used for = investing purposes, such as the assessment and monitoring of gait and balance parameters (Kasteren et al., 2010; Rantz et al., 2008; Skubic et al., 2009). To calculate walking speed, sophisticated systems have been developed such as smart carpet (Cantoral-Ceballos et al., 2015) and smart floor systems (Muheidat et al., 2017). An example of a system incorporated in furniture is the TUG chair, introduced by Frenken et al. (2011) and used for the automated assessment of TUG parameters. Walking speed is measured by incorporating force and laser sensors into a chair. The disadvantage of these sophisticated systems is that they are expensive for large-scale implementation.

An emerging solution for the human gait analysis is to use the Doppler radar sensor (Boroomand et al., 2018; Diraco et al., 2017; Rui, 2017), which is popular because of its multiple functionalities. The sensor can distinguish humans from pets and can detect the presence of a subject in an environment and measure their speed. fast Fourier transform (FFT) is usually used as a technique for the processing and analysis of the raw signals. Doppler radar sensors have the advantage that they are non-obtrusive and that their signals can penetrate through walls, which makes them suitable for installation in closets. However, the sensor may not have a wide viewing angle compared to a passive infrared sensor. Therefore, distributing several sensors in a smart home is necessary to cover each room. The application of multiple radar sensors in a smart home is an open research area.

In chapter 4, we propose a method for the continuous measurement of gait velocity using a network of simple ambient sensors. One of the reasons is that this kind of sensor is already installed in many smart homes for long-term purposes, such as the reduction of energy usage and lifestyle monitoring. The data collected for these purposes can also be used to calculate the walking speed of older adults.

2.4 Digital technology for fall risk assessment

About one-third of people older than 65 years and a half of those older than 85 years fall at least once a year. A significant portion of those falls leads to injury-related hospitalization. Falls among older adults are one of the major health problems that lead to a decreased quality of life and increased morbidity and mortality. In addition, falls pose a high cost to public health services (Cameron et al., 2018; Rubenstein, 2006). Most falls occur in the home or in the immediate home surroundings while older adults are undertaking their usual daily activities.

Fall risk factors are generally categorized into intrinsic and extrinsic factors. Intrinsic factors are related to the subject and include factors such as cognitive decline and muscle weakness, while extrinsic factors include the use of medication and environmental hazards. Among these risk factors, a history of falls and gait and balance disorders have been identified as strong predictors (Deandrea et al., 2010; Rispens et al., 2016; van Schooten et al., 2015). For effective fall prevention, it is important to identify those older adults with a high risk of falling and determine the appropriate interventions to reduce the risk of future falls (Ambrose et al., 2013).

Fall risk assessment is a process in which the probability of a future fall is estimated, usually within a time frame of six to twelve months. In many of the intervention programs proposed for fall prevention, fall risk assessment is performed as the initial step to identify persons at the highest risk. The assessment of fall risk is commonly conducted in a clinical setting and based on questionnaires and functional tests of mobility such as the TUG test (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991), the performance oriented mobility assessment (POMA) test (Tinetti, 1986) and the BBS test (Berg KO, 1989). These tests are carried out by specialists who observe the quality of a patients gait during the test. The questionnaires are also carried out and evaluated by specialists. The disadvantage of these validated clinical assessments is the subjectivity of the assessment, which may have a negative effect on the diagnosis. Retrospective studies (looking backwards and examining fall history) and prospective studies (tracking fall occurrences during the study) are other techniques to assess fall risk. Retrospective studies have the disadvantage that subjects recollection of falling may not be reliable, which affects the fall risk assessment (Cummings et al., 1988). Furthermore, a history of falling may lead to a fear of falling, which can therefore affect the gait pattern of the subject, which in turn affects the assessment of fall risk. For the assessment of future fall risk, prospective studies are more suitable compared to retrospective studies. The use of novel technology in prospective studies offers the possibility of accurately monitoring and evaluating gait characteristics, which may provide an accurate and objective fall risk assessment.

Much research has been conducted on the use of digital technology for fall risk assessment (Howcroft et al., 2013; Rispens et al., 2015b; Weiss et al., 2013). This research has resulted in a lot of technological devices supporting the detection, assessment and prevention of falls. The variety of these devices is huge and dependent on the setting in which they are used (acute hospital or at home), who is using them (non-fallers or recurrent fallers) and the objective of the use (detection or assessment). For example, an alarm button integrated in a bracelet is useful to detect falls in a home setting for recurrent fall-

ers but is unsuitable for a person who has physical or cognitive impairments, as they may experience difficulty pushing the button or forget to wear the bracelet. Another example is the incorporation of balance training games in a fall prevention program using devices such as a Wii balance board or a Kinect. These games can be useful for non-fallers but are unsafe for recurrent fallers. The devices used for the assessment of fall risk can be categorized into non-wearable and wearable sensors.

Non-wearable sensors consist of two major categories: visual and non-visual sensors. Microsoft Kinect is the most used example of a low-cost visual sensor to assess fall risk (Ejupi et al., 2016; Stone and Skubic, 2015). The Kinect provides the possibility of tracking joints in the body without the need for markers or any calibration process, but the major disadvantage is the privacy concern. Pressure sensing systems such as the Wii board (Clark et al., 2018; Young et al., 2011) and smart floors (Daher et al., 2017; Muheidat et al., 2017) are the most used non-visual sensors for fall risk assessment. This type of sensor provides accurate information about the postural stability and gait pattern of the subject. A disadvantage of these sensors is that they are expensive to deploy in a home setting. In addition, motion ambient sensors such as radar and laser sensors are emerging due to their capacity to unobtrusively track movement.

Wearable sensors are increasingly applied for gait and balance assessment due to their low cost and light weight. In a systematic review focusing on the use of wearable sensors, Howcroft et al. (2013) concluded that inertial sensors have the potential to provide objective fall risk assessment in older adults. An additional advantage of the use of wearable compared to non-wearable sensors is that the subject is identified by the sensor that he or she is wearing. Another advantage is their portability, meaning that they can be deployed in a variety of settings, including a home. The sensors can be incorporated in clothes and shoes, which makes them feasible for the measurement of various body segments. From the measurements of a wearable sensor, several features related to the quantity of the movement of the subject, such as the duration and intensity of activities, can be extracted from the sensor data. Features related to the quality of the movement of the subject, such as gait stability, variability and smoothness can also be extracted from the sensor data collected by inertial sensors (Doi et al., 2013; Rispens et al., 2015b; van Schooten et al., 2016; Weiss et al., 2013).

Digital technology has been shown to have the potential to provide an objective, accurate and inexpensive means of assessing fall risk through the extraction of both quantitative and qualitative movement characteristics of the subject (Sun and Sosnoff, 2018; van Schooten et al., 2016; Weiss et al., 2013). The extraction of these features from sensor data is, however, preserved for professionals in the biomechanical research area. The feature extraction is time consuming, however, in case of a lack of knowledge and experience in this area. The models used for the analysis of the data by the biomechanical researchers, meanwhile, are not sophisticated. In chapter chapter 5, we explored deep learning models for the assessment of fall risk. We automatically distilled features from raw sensor data, which has the advantage that the probability of missing features is small compared to the way biomechanical features are selected. The performance of the deep learning models is compared to a base model which used biomechanical features to assess fall risk. The sensor data used was collected during a prospective study that lasted for more than one year. This data came from wearable sensors, because the monitored area is the subjects home and its surroundings.

2.5 Data Processing and Analysis

The typical architecture of a smart home system consists of at least four layers: The bottom layer consists of the hardware such as sensors and actuators. The top layer is an application layer in which different types of applications can be built, such as fall alarms or a rehabilitation feedback. These two layers are connected through a communication and an information layer. The communication layer is responsible for the transportation of the raw sensor data to the information layer, in which the data is stored, processed and transformed so that it can be analysed by the algorithms in the application layer.

The algorithms in the application layer are considered to be the main step in the data processing and analysis phase. They solve the main problem in the smart home according to manually predefined rules or by learning from data (machine learning). Compared to rule-based algorithms, machine-learning algorithms are less predictable, require less to no human intervention to update and are much easier to maintain. Especially when dealing with a system with too many rules, adding new rules without introducing contradictory rules is almost impossible. Applying rule-based systems to monitor older adults is thus not preferred, because it is too complex to capture the daily activities of the older adult in the form of rules, and even if it were possible, these activities evolve over time, and it is nearly impossible to capture these changes.

Data-using algorithms can be divided into two main categories: supervised learning and unsupervised learning algorithms. Supervised learning algorithms use labelled data from which to learn, which means that the algorithm is trained to learn some task or behaviour using labelled data, after which the trained model is applied to new, unseen data to predict the learned task/behaviour. For example, Kasteren et al. (2010) used supervised techniques to classify the activities of daily living. Labelled data is used to learn the machine the relationship between the activities and raw sensor data. Unsupervised learning algorithms learn from unlabelled data. These algorithms are able to discover new patterns from data without the use of labels. For example, Banerjee et al. (2012) used clustering techniques as an unsupervised method to detect anomalies from sensor data. The hypothesis is that the residents data (daily rhythm) is captured in clusters and that anomalies appear as outliers.

The major disadvantage of supervised learning technique compared to unsupervised technique is the labelled data-sets have to be available. Especially when dealing with data collected in the wild, it is difficult to collect labels without affecting the daily routine or privacy of the older adult. The approach we used in chapter 3 to detect the visits is fully unsupervised. The method is based on the Markov modulated Poisson process (MMPP) but is extended to allow the incorporation of multiple feature streams. Markov modulated poisson process models are composed of a stochastic process component, representing observed events over time (sensor transitions, in our case), and a latent component, which modulates the observed process (visits, in our case). For the continuous measurement of the indoor walking speed of the older adult, we also used unsupervised methods, as described in chapter 4. Indoor walking paths of the resident are collected from the data and modelled as trajectories in a graph. The length and duration of these trajectories (the sequence of sensor events) are simultaneously estimated by solving a set of equations using the least squares method. The analysis of the data showed that the majority of the walking paths of the resident are interwoven with some activity. Therefore, the estimation of the duration is done by fitting a probabilistic model, consisting of a mixture of a Poisson and a normal distribution, on the collected data.

In chapter 5, we studied the use of deep-learning neural networks by supervised learning to model fall risk on the basis of accelerometer data. The collected sensor data was subject of a study of fall risk factors and consisted of a population of 296 older adults. Fall incidences and descriptions (labels) were obtained monthly during a six-month follow-up period (Rispens et al., 2015a; van Schooten et al., 2015, 2016). Deep-learning methods can be applied as a supervised and as an unsupervised method. Because of the presence of labels, we trained three deep-learning model architectures convolutional neural networks (CNNs), long short term memory (LSTM) networks and ConvLSTM which is a combination of these two architectures to predict fall risk. The ground truth (labels) needed for the training of our models consists of the fall incidences, which were collected monthly. No further labelling of the sensor data was needed. These trained deep-learning architectures are compared to each other and to the strong baseline model, which uses biomechanical features. The advantage of deep-learning techniques is that the features are automatically distilled from raw sensor data, with the advantage that the likelihood of missing features is small compared to the way biomechanical features are selected. The performance of the three deep-learning architectures compared to the baseline model with biomechanical features showed comparable accuracy. Fine tuning the deep-learning models using multi-task learning resulted in significantly better performance. Further fine tuning by excluding the non-gait data samples resulted in even better performance.

In summary, this thesis proposes and evaluates methods to continuously monitor functional health by applying state-of-the-art machine-learning algorithms to raw sensor data collected in the wild for the purpose of detecting visits, continuously measuring walking velocity and predicting fall risk.

This chapter was previously published as: A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Unsupervised visit detection in smart homes. Pervasive and Mobile Computing, 34:157 – 167, 2017a. ISSN 1574-1192. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmcj.2016.05. 003. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1574119216300517. Pervasive Computing for Gerontechnology

Unsupervised Visit Detection in Smart Homes

Assistive technologies for elderly often use ambient sensor systems to infer activities of daily living (ADL). In general such systems assume that only a single person (the resident) is present in the home. However, in real world environments, it is common to have visits and it is crucial to know when the resident is alone or not. We deal with this challenge by presenting an novel method that models regular activity patterns and detects visits. Our method is based on the Markov modulated Poisson process (MMPP), but is extended to allow the incorporation of multiple feature streams. The results from the experiments on nine months of sensor data collected in two apartments show that our model significantly outperforms the standard MMPP. We validate the generalisation of the model using two new data sets collected from an other sensor network.

3.1 Introduction

Intelligent technology that supports elderly to live independently needs information about their activities. There is an increasing interest in networks of ambient sensors, such as motion detectors and door switches, for monitoring human activities (Acampora et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2012; Pol et al., 2013). Often the focus is on ADLs, such as sleeping, toileting and cooking. ADLs are considered important indicators for the functional health status of older adults (Covinsky et al., 2003).

In our group, researchers from different disciplines (information technology, machine learning and occupational therapy) work together to develop monitoring systems for older adults. The objective of the research is to use pervasive technology to support older adults to independently live longer in their own homes and their familiar and safe environment. Currently our group monitors about 20 elderly living alone using sensor networks. For a correct health assessment it is important that we are sure that the data originates from the activities of the resident only and, therefore, that we know when there are visitors. Furthermore, the type and the frequency of visits are important indicators of

the social participation of elderly. One solution to identify the visitors is using RFID tags (Lotfi et al., 2012), but this method has some practical disadvantages in real life situations such as the ease of forgetting to scan a visit. It is also possible to use a video sensor to count persons (Skubic et al., 2009), but this is hard to realise in real life situations because of privacy reasons. An unobtrusive supervised method is used in (Petersen et al., 2012). A more holistic solution, multi-person activity recognition in smart homes, has been presented (Nait Aicha et al., 2013; Phua et al., 2011; Singla et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2011). Hence simple sensors, both wearable and ambient, can be used for the detection and monitoring of multiple persons in smart homes. Unfortunately, these methods rely on large supervised data sets which brings the difficulty of collecting the ground truth data.

Because the number of apartments we are monitoring is large and future projects will involve even more apartments, we cannot rely on supervised learning methods to build accurate individual models for visit detection. In this paper we present an unsupervised method for visitor detection. The method specifically looks at transitions between sensors and models the regular pattern as a normal (non visitor) pattern. An anomaly in this pattern (for example non-modeled transitions between two distant sensors) may indicate that visitors may be present. A model that has been successfully applied for the detection of anomalous events using counts as features is the Markov modulated non-homogenous Poisson process (MMPP) (Scott and Smyth, 2003), which takes into account both the periodic and non-periodic influences present in the data. This fits our situation, assuming that the resident has periodic (daily and weekly) living patterns and non-periodic patterns such as a visit on an occasional basis. However, MMPPs are univariate, and as such cannot deal with the richer, multidimensional, datasets that are common to ambient assisted living (AAL).

In Nait Aicha et al. (2014) we showed, on a single data set, that multidimensional Markov modulated non-homogenous Poisson process (M3P2) can be used for visit detection. The M3P2 model extends the MMPP by allowing the use of a multidimensional feature stream. In this paper we present a more extensive evaluation on a more elaborate data set. We studied the effect of feature selection, the assumption on periodicity of data and the generalisation to other sensor networks.

The contribution of our research is two-fold: a) we show that properly designed unsupervised methods can be used to detect visits with networks of a small amount of simple sensors and b) we show that M3P2, a novel model that deals with multiple data streams, is significantly better at this task than MMPP. Moreover, it allows us to distinguish between regular and non-regular visits automatically, and to have a model of daily and weekly cycles in the person's routine. We evaluate the performance of our model on real-life sensor data. We use two data sets, that we make public, consisting of nine months of sensor data collected in the apartment of two elderly persons. The results show that our model significantly (significance level, p < 0.05) outperforms the standard Markov modulated Poisson process (MMPP). Two additional data sets are used to evaluate the generalisation of the M3P2 model.

3.2 Related Work

The issue of dealing with multiple persons in a smart home is an important problem that recently became the subject of extensive study. In his survey Teixeira et al. (2010) described the ability to detect the presence, count, track and identify persons using different methods and sensor types. Binary sensors in a network are able to count and localize individuals with an accuracy that depends on the number of the nodes. Using a large number of sensors in a network, Singla et al. (2010) described a method that focuses on the recognition of ADLs in multi-user contexts. Using the same dense sensor network, Crandall et al. applied standard supervised classification techniques, such as Naive Bayes and HMM, to identify and track multiple smart home residents (Crandall and Cook, 2009, 2011, 2013). Phua et al. (2011) noted that standard supervised techniques yield high accuracies only if a) the number of simple sensors is large, b) the training data is accurately labelled and c) the activities are simple and done in habitual way. These assumptions are unrealistic in real life situations. Using a small sensor network, comparable to our situation, Petersen et al. (2012), applied Support Vector Machines to detect the presence of a visitor in a smart home during a period of 6 weeks. However, supervised techniques have the weakness that they assume that the activities do not evolve over time (Phua et al., 2011). The collection of annotated data to train supervised classifiers is difficult and involves other (invasive) sensors or a strict administration from the elderly. Unsupervised methods for the detection of abnormal behaviour in smart homes have been presented in applications like fall detection or wandering. Clustering methods such as K-means are used for the identification and prediction of abnormal behaviour of elderly dementia sufferers, but these methods are not effective in the presence of visitors or pets (Lotfi et al., 2012).

MMPPs, as unsupervised methods, are widely applied for the detection of anomalous events in various areas: to detect intrusions in a telephone network (Scott, 1999). Scott (2001) introduced the non-homogeneous MMPPs, which take into account the natural cyclic nature of the variations in telephone traffic. A similar model was used by Hutchins et al. (2007) to model the occupancy in a building and by Scott and Smyth (2003) to model web traffic data. These models are all univariate, and as such cannot deal with the richer datasets that are common to AAL. Multivariate MMPPs have been described in detail in Sumita and Masuda (1992) for the homogeneous case, but lack the capacity of non-homogeneous MMPPs to model regular variations.

3.3 Sensor Data

We have collected multiple data sets, in several ambient assisted living apartments, for a duration of up to more than a year. Different sensor networks were used to collect data as described in section 3.6. These sensor networks consist of off-the-shelf binary sensors that measure motion, pressure on the bed, toilet flush and the opening and closing of cabinets and doors. An overview of the location of the sensors in the apartment of one resident is shown in Figure 3.1. The elderly are living their routine life and are not told



Figure 3.1: A map of the apartment of volunteer A equipped with sensors. The number of used sensors, their types and their position do not differ a lot between the different apartments.

to modify their behaviour in any way. The location of the sensors is chosen so that all the important rooms in the apartment are covered and so that the network does not affect the elderly's daily life. For instance, the pressure sensor for the bed is installed under the mattress and sensors in the kitchen are installed above the stove, under the freezer, etc. A detailed description is provided in Nait Aicha et al. (2013, 2014).

3.4 Features: description and extraction

The binary sensors generate a continuous stream of sensor-events. Our experience is that sensor-transitions are better than the number of sensor-events in the measurement of ADLs. Two consecutive sensor events are referred to as a sensor-transition. The number of these sensor-transitions during some time slice is likely to be smaller when there is only one person in the house (i.e. the resident) than when there is more than one person in the house (i.e. a visitor). Therefore, the number of all possible sensor-transitions, referred to as a feature to detect visits.

When the resident is alone at home, we can assume that N(t) only consists of sensortransitions from *topologically connected* sensors, i.e., sensors that the resident can activate in sequence without tripping a third sensor in between. A graph representing the sensors that are topologically connected in the apartment of volunteer A is given in Figure 4.2. The node identities in this figure correspond to the sensors shown in Figure 3.1.
An example of a sensor-transition of not-topologically connected sensors is the sensor-transition coming from the front-door sensor followed by the living-room sensor (edge $19 \rightarrow 13$). It is unlikely that this transition is generated by the resident alone, because he/she must go through the hall-sensor resulting in two transitions (edges $19 \rightarrow 09$ and $09 \rightarrow 13$). To detect visits, the number of sensor-transitions for which the sensors are *not* topologically connected, referred as , can also be considered as a feature. Because a visitor always enters and leaves the apartment through the front-door, a third feature $N^D(t)$ can also be considered and used with the M3P2 model described in subsection 3.5.3. $N^D(t)$ is defined as the number of sensor-transitions during time slice t, for which one of the sensor readings originates from the front-door sensor. For a formal definition of the features, we define a sensor-transition $\tau_{ij}^{(t_n)}$ between the sensors i and j starting at time stamp t_n by:

$$\tau_{ij}^{(t_n)} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if sensor } i \text{ fires at } t_n \text{ and sensor } j \text{ fires at } t_{n+1} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

The feature N(t) can then be expressed as:

$$N(t) = \sum_{\substack{b(t) \le t_n < e(t) \\ i, j \in S}} \tau_{ij}^{(t_n)}$$
(3.2)

where S is the set of all sensors and the function b(t) (respectively e(t)) returns de beginning (respectively the end) of the time slice containing t_n .

Similar equations hold for and $N^{D}(t)$ by redefining S to be the subset of the topologically not-connected sensor tuples and the subset of the tuples where the front-door sensor is involved, respectively.

3.5 Models

3.5.1 Markov Modulated non-homogeneous Poisson Process (MMPP)

A Markov modulated Poisson process is a widely used stochastic process for modelling counts of random events that occur during a sequence of time intervals, in which different Poisson processes are switched between by an underlying Markov chain. The probability density for every Poisson process is given by a Poisson distribution:

$$\operatorname{Pois}(N=n;\lambda) = \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} e^{-\lambda}$$
(3.3)

In Scott (2001), a MMPP was introduced, where the rate $\lambda(t)$ of the count data N(t) varies over time. We follow Ihler et al. (2007), where both the periodic and the nonperiodic influences on the count data are modelled. The periodic aspects (in this case, weekly and daily cycles) are modelled by decomposing the rate $\lambda(t)$ as follows:

$$\lambda(t) = \lambda_0 \cdot \delta_{d(t)} \cdot \eta_{d(t),h(t)} \tag{3.4}$$



Figure 3.2: A graph indicating the sensors that are topologically connected to each other. The node id's correspond to the sensor id's depicted in Figure 3.1. The node bathroom (resp. kitchen) consists of six (resp three) sensors that are topologically connected to each other. These sensors are omitted to keep the overview of the graph clear.



Figure 3.3: Graphical model for different distributions and variables defining the MMPP and the M3P2 models. The shaded nodes are observed and the small solid nodes indicate deterministic parameters. The directed edges indicate conditional dependence of the nodes. $\lambda(t)$ depends on the parameters $\lambda_0, \delta, \eta, d(t)$ and h(t), while N(t) depends on $N_0(t), N_A(t)$ and z(t).

where $d(t) \in \{1, ..., 7\}$ indicates the day of week in which t falls, and $h(t) \in \{1, ..., K\}$ indicates the time interval of a day in which t falls. δ_j represents the effect of the day jof the week and $\eta_{j,i}$ represents the effect of the time interval i given day j of the week. These effects are normalised by requiring that $\sum_{j=1}^{7} \delta_j = 7$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{K} \eta_{j,i} = K \forall j$. For example, $\delta_6 = 2$ would imply that the counts on Friday are twice λ_0 . Figure 3.4 illustrates the overall average λ_0 , the effect of the day of week, δ_j , and the effect of the time of day, $\eta_{j,i}$.

We learn the model parameters using Maximum a Posteriori optimisation, using Gamma and Dirichlet distributions as conjugate priors for the model parameters λ_0 , δ and η , following Ihler et al. (2007); Nait Aicha et al. (2013).

$$\lambda_0 \sim \operatorname{Gamma}(a^L, b^L)$$

$$\frac{1}{7}[\delta_1, \cdots, \delta_7] \sim \operatorname{Dir}(\alpha_1^d, \dots, \alpha_7^d)$$

$$\frac{1}{D}[\eta_{j,1}, \cdots, \eta_{j,D}] \sim \operatorname{Dir}(\eta_1^h, \dots, \eta_D^h) \; \forall j \in \{1, \dots, 7\}$$
(3.5)

The presence of anomalies in the counts is modelled with the latent variables z(t), which form a Markov chain with transition probabilities $m_{zz'}$ of the transition matrix M. Anomalies are modelled as resulting in an increase (positive anomaly) or decrease (negative anomaly) of the observed counts. The values of the hidden states z(t) are as follows:

$$z(t) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{no anomaly in time slice } t \\ 1 & \text{anomalous count increase in time slice } t \\ -1 & \text{anomalous count decrease in time slice } t \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

In our case, a positive anomaly corresponds to a visit, while a negative anomaly may correspond to either the absence of the resident or the absence of a regular visit. In both cases, they correspond to deviations from the regular pattern. We expand on these concepts in Section 3.5.2. We model the event counts N(t) as:

$$N(t) = N_0(t) + N_A(t), \qquad (3.7)$$

the sum of $N_0(t)$, the number of "normal" events, and, $N_A(t)$, the anomalous counts for that time period. Both of these are Poisson-distributed, and $N_A(t)$ is conditioned on z(t). We use conjugate priors for the model parameters:

$$\begin{split} N_0(t) &\sim \operatorname{Pois}(\lambda(t)) \\ z(t) \, N_A(t) &\sim \operatorname{Pois}\left(\lambda_A\left(z(t)\right)\right) \\ \lambda_A(z(t)) &\sim \operatorname{Gamma}(a^A, b^A) \\ (m_{s0}, m_{s1}, m_{s, -1}) &\sim \operatorname{Dir}(\alpha_{s0}, \alpha_{s1}, \alpha_{s, -1}) \; \forall s \in \{0, 1, -1\} \end{split}$$

Notice that in this formulation λ_A is state-specific, meaning that the expected count increase (z(t) = 1) does not necessarily follow the same distribution as the count decrease (z(t) = -1). In the experimental section, we show that this extra flexibility is important to our application.



Figure 3.4: An illustration of the overall average (λ_0) , the day of week effect combined with λ_0 $(\lambda_0 \delta_{d(t)})$ and the effect of the hour of the day of the week combined with λ_0 $(\lambda_0 \delta_{d(t)} \eta_{d(t),h(t)})$. The effect of $\eta_{d(t),h(t)}$ during the night is clearly lower than the day. The effect of Friday is higher than the other days. The morning rhythm is also clearly visible.

Our model is unsupervised: during training we jointly optimise the model parameters and the latent states using the EM algorithm. We use Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) sampling from the posterior of the latent state to estimate the parameters of the posterior Dirichlet distributions (Ihler et al., 2007).

3.5.2 Regular visits, irregular visits and long-term temporal variations

The periodic effects in the MMPP model are governed by $\delta_{d(t)}$ and $\eta_{d(t),h(t)}$. Because of our choices for these parameters, anomalies are defined with respect to the weekly patterns. A visit that occurs at a specific time at a specific day in the week (for example the cleaner that comes on Friday) is not considered as anomaly, but is learned as a regular pattern, or *regular visit*. A visit that does not follow such a periodic behaviour is detected as *irregular visit*. If we choose another setting for these parameters we can modify the period with which we model effects. For example, if we do not learn the δ from the data but set $\delta_i = 1 \forall i$, we assume that every day of the week follows the same pattern. In that case the cleaner that comes every week on Friday will be detected an an anomaly. We can also use prior knowledge to set some parameters, for example η can be set to model daytime or night cycles.

The MMPP learns the characteristic activity pattern and the anomalies from a data set

that spans some time period W. During that time period we assume that there are no other effects than the effects captured by our model. However, long term effects, which are not modelled, may occur. In the experiment section we study how far this assumption is warranted.

3.5.3 Markov Modulated Multidimensional non-homogeneous Poisson Process (M3P2)

An important limitation the above-described MMPP is that the model is restricted to onedimensional observations. In our application, detecting the presence of multiple persons, we are dealing with more than one feature that is informative. Although multivariate MMPP have been analysed before (Sumita and Masuda, 1992), this does not extend to non-homogeneous MMPP. We therefore extend the model to multiple simultaneous count features, resulting in the Multidimensional MMPP, abbreviated as M3P2 in the remainder of this text. A graphical representation of the M3P2 is given in Figure 3.3(b). We define the M3P2 similarly to the MMPP, where the observation streams are assumed to be independent. Let $N^i(t)$ denote the *i*th observation stream at time *t*. Similar to the MMPP, define

$$N^{i}(t) = N_{0}^{i}(t) + N_{A}^{i}(z(t))$$
(3.8)

and $p(N^1(t), N^2(t), \dots) = \prod_i p(N^i(t)).$

As a consequence of the increased expressiveness of the M3P2, it is advantageous to increase the cardinality of the latent states z(t). In particular, in our application we explicitly model the usage of the front door. Since a visitor cannot enter or leave the house without making use of the door, we introduce a new state that models the entering or leaving of the house. The states are now:

$$z(t) = \begin{cases} -1 & \text{irregular absence of a visit} \\ 0 & \text{Normal situation} \\ 1 & \text{irregular visit} \\ 2 & \text{irregular door activity} \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

The state z(t) = 2 acts as a *gating* state without which it is impossible to transition from the absence of an irregular visit to its presence, and vice-versa. We encode our knowledge that it is impossible for visitors to enter or leave without using the door in the priors, setting $\alpha_{0,1}, \alpha_{-1,1}, \alpha_{1,-1}$ and $\alpha_{1,0}$ to 0.

In case we are dealing with two data streams (e.g. N(t) and $N^{D}(t)$), the calculation of the posterior probability $p(z(t)|N(t), N^{D}(t))$ is also done using the MCMC sampling method. We consider N(t) and $N^{D}(t)$ to be independent given z(t), so that $p(N(t), N^{D}(t)|z(t)) = p(N(t)|z(t))p(N^{D}(t)|z(t))$.

In the first part of each MCMC-iteration, the hidden states z(t) of the Markov chain are sampled by iteratively computing the conditional distribution $p(z(t), N(1...t), N^D(1...t)))$

in a forward step, as follows:

$$\alpha_t(s) = p(z(t) = s, N(1...t), N^D(1...t)) = p(N(t)|s)p(N^D(t)|s) \sum_r M_z(r,s)\alpha_{t-1}(r) \quad (3.10)$$

Define f_+ (respectively f_-) to be the probability of N(t)|z(t) in case there is a positive (respectively a negative) anomaly, which is computed by marginalising out both the number of additional (respectively, missing) events, $N_A(t)$, and the actual parameters of the distribution for the anomaly, giving raise to:

$$f_{+}(t) := \sum_{i} \text{Pois}(N(t) - i; \lambda(t)) \,\text{NB}(i; a^{A}, \frac{b^{A}}{1 + b^{A}})$$
(3.11)

$$f_{-}(t) := \sum_{i} \text{Pois}(N(t) + i; \lambda(t)) \,\text{NB}(i; a^{A}, \frac{b^{A}}{1 + b^{A}})$$
(3.12)

where NB indicates the Negative Binomial distribution.

Defining f_{+}^{D} and f_{-}^{D} on the same way for the second data stream N_{A}^{D} , the likelihood functions $p(N(t), N^{D}(t)|z(t))$ can be expressed as given in Equation 3.13. Note that an irregular visit, z(t) = 1, is mainly caused by an increase of visit transition counts, while an increase of the door counts will cause an irregular visit coming in or leaving.

$$P(N(t), N^{D}(t)|z(t)) = \begin{cases} Pois(N(t); \lambda) \cdot Pois(N^{D}(t); \lambda^{D}) & \text{if } z(t)=0 \\ f_{+}(t) \cdot Pois(N^{D}(t); \lambda^{D}) & \text{if } z(t)=1 \\ f_{-}(t) \cdot f_{-}^{D}(t) & \text{if } z(t)=-1 \\ Pois(N(t); \lambda) \cdot f_{+}^{D}(t) & \text{if } z(t)=2 \end{cases}$$
(3.13)

The model parameters are then updated using the samples obtained using Equation 3.10 as for a standard MMPP, following Ihler et al. (2007).

3.6 Experiments

3.6.1 Objectives

A set of six experiments is conducted to evaluate the performance of the models. In the first experiment, we studied the effect of the time discretization: the duration of the timeslice in which we count the transitions. If this is too small we may have too few counts to make a good model. If it is too large we lose resolution and will miss information as the duration of a visit may vary from few minutes to several hours. The second experiment is conducted to select the most relevant feature: are the general sensor-transitions sufficient, or are the more specific sensor-transitions (these involving the topologically not-connected sensors) more informative for the visit detection? A third experiment was

Data Set	Volunteer	Period	Experiment(s)
А	M, 84	Apr 2013 - Dec 2013	1, 2 and 3
В	F, 80	Oct 2013 - Jun 2014	4 and 5
С	M, 84	Jul 2012 - Sep 2102	6
D	F, 87	Jul 2012 - Sep 2102	6

Table 3.1: A summary of which data set is used for which experiment(s).

carried out to investigate how well the model performs in the face of slow changes in the patterns over long periods of time. For example, do we need to take any influence of meteorological seasons into account or not? In the fourth experiment, we compared our model, the M3P2, with the baseline, the standard MMPP model: does the incorporation of a second data feature stream, $N^D(t)$, result in better performance or is one feature stream, N(t), sufficient. The fifth experiment is conducted to evaluate how regular and irregular visits are detected when different periodicities are considered. The last experiment is conducted to test the generalisation of our model. The M3P2 model is applied to two new data sets collected using a different sensor network.

3.6.2 Sensor data

For the first three experiments, a dataset collected during 9 months between April 2013 and December 2013 in the apartment of a volunteer A is used. This resident, a male of 84 years old, received visits from a caregiver every day around 8:30 in the morning and around 9:00 in the evening and weekly visits of a cleaner every Friday between 9 and 12 in the morning. The resident also occasionally got visits from his children. For the fourth and fifth experiments we used two datasets: a) the same dataset used for the first three experiment and b) an extra dataset collected in the apartment of a volunteer B during 9 months between October 2013 and June 2014. This resident, a female of 80 years old, rarely got visits, except a visit of the cleaner twice a month. For generalisation experiment (last experiment), we used two data sets collected using a different sensor network. This sensor network, described in van Kasteren et al. (2008), consists of simple binary sensors communicating with a receiver using RFM DM nodes. The data set C was collected between July 2012 and September 2012 in the apartment of volunteer A, while the data set D is collected in the same period in the apartment of a different volunteer: a female of 87 years old. A summary of which data sets is used for which experiment is given in Table 3.1.

3.6.3 Annotation and performance measure

To measure the performance of the model we used annotated data. The annotation of the data is done using self report and by visually inspecting the raw sensor data. The volunteers are asked to register some information about the visits they received during at least two weeks. A special form was designed to make the registration easy for them.

	slice length	non-regular visits ($z = 1$)		
K	(hours)	precision	recall	F-value
8	3	0.661	0.667	0.661
12	2	0.653	0.854	0.728
24	1	0.735	0.792	0.762
48	$^{1}/_{2}$	0.750	0.752	0.750
96	$^{1}/_{4}$	0.858	0.664	0.743

Table 3.2: Precision, recall and F-value of MMPP applied on N(t) using different K's.

After the period of annotation, an interview with the elderly took place to clarify the annotations. The start and end time of the visits registered by the elderly seemed to be approximate times. For this reason the exact time generated by the front- and back-door sensors are used for the annotation in stead of the times filled in by the elderly.

In order to map the ground truth into discrete time slices, we decided to label all the time slices that are fully or partially covered by a non-regular visit as a positive class (z = 1). For example, a non-regular visit on Friday September, 13 between 18:55 and 20:04 lasted one hour and 9 minutes, but spans 3 time slices (respectively 4 time slices) in the annotation when D = 24 (respectively D = 48) is used. These 3 (respectively 4 time slices) are labelled as a positive anomaly class. The same procedure holds for the irregular absence of visit (z = -1). The precision, recall and the F-value are computed separately for the two states (z = 1 and z = -1). The values stated in section 3.7 are obtained by calculating the average of at least 10 experiment repetitions. A non-regular visit lasting more than one time slice is defined to be correctly detected if at least one time slice of this irregular visit is correctly detected by the classifier.

3.7 Results

3.7.1 Effect of time discretization

We varied the number of time slices in a day $K \in \{8, 12, 24, 48, 96\}$, corresponding to time slice length of $\{3, 2, 1, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4}\}$ hours. The reason to limit to only these values is because most non-regular visits have a duration of 3 hours or less. A 3-fold cross validation is used to determine the best model parameters (*e.g.*, λ_0 and λ_A) during the training phase. The results, listed in Table 3.2, are obtained by taking the average of 10 repetitions when MMPP is applied on N(t). The results show that the highest F-value is obtained when K = 24. The results also show that the precision increases with K. This can be explained by the fact that increasing K, which is equivalent to decreasing the time slice length, will decrease the number of observation per time slice, which will increase the variance. As a consequence, the number of false positives will increase, which decreases the precision. The results of the irregular absence of visits (z = -1) are not reported because of lack of data, resulting in a very large standard deviation of the F-value. The first fold (calendar weeks 14-27) and the third fold (calendar weeks 40-53)



Figure 3.5: The F-value obtained when MMPP is applied on N(t) and using different time slices. The standard deviation varies between 0.03 and 0.1 in all cases after 10 repetitions.

have only one or two 'irregular absences of visits', while all the other 'irregular absences' lie in the second fold. In our case, the recall was almost always equal to 1 (respectively equal to 0) when testing with the first fold (respectively the third fold). For this reason, we omit absence of visit for the rest of our experiments. Unless mentioned otherwise, we chose for K = 24 in the following experiments because it gives the best compromise between the performance and the practical usage.

3.7.2 Feature Selection

To investigate the value of topological connected sensors, the MMPP is applied using the features N(t) and described in section 3.4. Similar to the first experiment, a 3-fold cross validation is used during the training phase. Figure 3.5 shows the F-values when MMPP is applied to these features using different time slice lengths. The results show that the F-values corresponding to the features N(t) and do not differ a lot from each other and confirms that different features do not affect which time discretisation is optimal. This means that the use the general sensor-transition counts, N(t), is sufficient for the detection of the visits.

3.7.3 Temporal variations

For this experiment, we varied the number of weeks, W, during which we assume that the resident's behaviour does not change. Using the feature and time slice duration

W	non-regular visits $(z = 1)$			std dev
(weeks)	precision	recall	F-value	F-value
4	0.511	0.670	0.579	0.15
6	0.636	0.626	0.630	0.10
8	0.826	0.690	0.752	0.05
13	0.749	0.784	0.765	0.04
39	0.748	0.749	0.748	0.01

Table 3.3: Precision, recall and F-value obtained when MMPP is applied on N(t) using D = 24 and different values for the period W.

Model	data	non-regular visits $(z = 1)$		
(MMPP/M3P2)	set	precision	recall	F-value
MMPP	А	0.749	0.784	0.765
M3P2	A	0.856	0.800	0.827
MMPP	В	0.842	0.800	0.821
M3P2	В	0.849	0.854	0.851

Table 3.4: Precision, recall and F-value obtained when MMPP (resp. M3P2) is applied on N(t) (resp. $N^D(t)$) using one hour as time slice length (*i.e.*, D = 24) and a season as a temporal variation (*i.e.*, W = 13). The data set A (resp. B) corresponds to the volunteer A (resp. B).

found above, we varied W between 4 and 39 weeks. Setting W = 4 assumes there are 'monthly' variations in the behavior, while setting W = 39 assumes there were no variations for the whole duration of the data collection. The results, given in Table 3.3, are obtained by taking the average of 10 repetitions of MMPP for each value of W. The results show that the best performance is obtained when using a period of 13 weeks long. This is remarkably close to the duration of a meteorological season, and it seems very plausible that there is a seasonal effect in the data. It will be fascinating, in future work, to incorporate this in the model and evaluate it on multi-year data. Note that the computational time to build such model is less than 10 minutes.

3.7.4 Comparison between M3P2 and MMPP

In this experiment, we investigate whether the M3P2, using an additional feature stream, outperforms the MMPP. We do this by combining the N(t) feature used by the MMPP with the $N^D(t)$ feature, the number of front-door transitions, and keep K = 24 and W = 13 as found above. The results of this experiment, listed in Table 3.4, show that the M3P2 results in significantly higher F-values than the MMPP. The significance is tested using the two-sample *t*-test using a threshold level $\alpha = 0.05$. The normality assumption is tested using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test using the same threshold level. The better precision of M3P2 compared to MMPP reflects the lower number of false positives obtained by the M3P2. Most of the false positives are caused by slight temporal shifts of the nurse's daily visits. An earlier (respectively later) visit of the nurse results

in a higher value of N(t) in the preceding (respectively following) time slice than the one in which the visit normally takes place. Another reason for false positives, in both models, is the lack of an accurate annotation for such large data sets. As mentioned earlier, the annotation is based on visual inspection of the raw sensor data combined with several interviews with the residents. Time slices that are detected as visits by the model and that cannot be clarified by the resident may result in erroneous false positives. We think that these false positives correspond to unexpected visits which the resident cannot remember.

3.7.5 Periodicity

In previous experiments we have considered visits as a deviation from the normal patterns for the resident within their weekly cycle. Such anomalies depend on how the cycle is defined, however, and it is therefore useful to evaluate how visits are detected when a different periodicity is considered. In particular, we experimented with the following four periodicities:

- a periodicity 'day/night', meaning that we assume that every day has a day cycle (08:00 00:59) and a night cycle (01:00-07:59) and that all the days of the week are the same. All hours of the day cycle, respectively night cycle, are the same. Furthermore, all the days of the week are the same.
- A periodicity of a day, meaning that we assume that every day is the same, but the hours of the day are not. Visits that do not have a periodicity of 24 hours are detected as an anomaly.
- A periodicity 'weekday/weekend', meaning that we assume that the weekdays (Monday-Friday) are the same and that the weekends are the same. Weekly visits are considered as an anomaly and are detected.
- A periodicity of a week, meaning that we assume that only the weeks are the same. The days of the week and the hours of the day are assumed to be different. Visits that do not have a periodicity of one week are detected as an anomaly. This is our setting for the first four experiments.

The periodicity of a day, for example, is obtained by setting $\delta_j = 1 \ \forall j \in \{1, \dots, 7\}$. For this experiment, we use the optimal values of K = 24 and W = 13, as found before, and use the M3P2 model with the features N(t) and $N^D(t)$ described above. The results of this experiment, listed in Figure 3.6, show that the best performance of the model M3P2 is obtained with the periodicity of a week. This is conform with our assumption that the residents have daily and weekly living patterns. The standard deviation of the F-values is large for both the two data-sets in the case of periodicity 'day/night' because the assumption that the residents have a constant behaviour throughout the day (08:00-24:00) is not warranted. The large standard deviation in case of data set *B* is due to a long visit period (guest) lasting more than three days between December 31 and January 3.



Figure 3.6: The F-value with the corresponding standard deviation, obtained when M3P2 is applied on N(t) and $N^D(t)$ using different periodicities.

	# weeks	non-regular visits $(z = 1)$		
data set	annotated	precision	recall	F-value
С	4	0.686	0.917	0.785
D	1	0.611	1.000	0.759

Table 3.5: Precision, recall and F-value obtained when M3P2 is applied on N(t) and $N^{D}(t)$ using one hour as time slice length and a season as a temporal variation. The values are averages of 10 repetitions with a corresponding standard deviation smaller than 0.015.

3.7.6 Generalisation

With this last experiment, we confirm that our model is not specific to our particular dataset and generalises well, both to different people and to different types of sensor network. To achieve this, we use two new datasets which are different from the datasets used in the previous experiments: 1) they use fewer sensors, and of a different type, 2) the datasets were collected at different times of the year 3) the sleep time of the sensors is much smaller, resulting in numerically very different data, and 4) one of the datasets is from a new, previously unseen volunteer. The results, listed in Table 3.5 and Figure 3.7, are obtained using the optimal values of the parameters found from the previous experiments. Hence, W = 13, D = 24 and the periodicity is set to a day to capture the weekly visits. The results show that the performance of our model on the new two data sets is comparable to the performance on the data sets A and B.



Figure 3.7: Feature data streams N(t) and $N^D(t)$ along with $\lambda(t)$, the corresponding posterior probability of non-regular visits (p(z = +1)) and the ground truth (GT).

3.8 Conclusions

We presented an unsupervised method for the detection of visits in the home of older adults living alone. A Markov modulated multidimensional non-homogeneous Poisson process (M3P2) is described, which allows us to incorporate multiple feature streams. The non-homogeneous property allows us to model weekly and daily cycles. As features we looked at transitions between sensors, both general transitions and transitions with knowledge on the sensor placement. The M3P2 is tested on two real-life data sets collected between April 2013 and June 2014 in the apartment of two older adults living alone. The study has shown that M3P2 is able to detect visits with a significantly (p < 0.05) higher F-value than the traditional MMPP. In particular, the reduced number of false positives, reflected in the much higher precision, is of great practical importance in care environments. In addition, the approach is able to model daily and weekly characteristics, and can distinguish between regular and irregular visits. The conducted experiments show that the a) the simple sensor-transitions are sufficient for the detection of visits; b) the meteorological seasons and the weekly patterns are reflected in the parameters of the model and c) the proposed mode can deal with the different lifestyles of different people and different types of sensor networks.

Detecting and analysing visits gives us an insight in the social life of the resident, and allows for a more accurate automatic activity recognition in general. These can allow the elderly to live in their own home for longer, with better monitoring and improved security.

This chapter was previously published as: A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Continuous measuring of the indoor walking speed of older adults living alone. Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing, Feb 2017b. ISSN 1868-5145. doi: 10.1007/s12652-017-0456x. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s12652-017-0456-x

Continuous Measuring of the Indoor Walking Speed of Older Adults Living Alone

We present a method for measuring gait velocity of older adults using data from existing ambient sensor networks. Gait velocity is an important predictor of fall risk and functional health. In contrast to other approaches that use specific sensors or sensor configurations our method imposes no constraints on the elderly. We studied different probabilistic models for the modeling of the duration and the distance of the indoor walking paths. Experiments are carried out on 27 months of data and include repeated assessments from an occupational therapist. We showed that the measured gait velocities correlate with these assessments.

4.1 Introduction

With the increasing number of older adults that live independently in their own homes, sensing systems that monitor someone's health are becoming popular. A wide range of sensor systems exists, often aimed at specific applications such as sleep monitoring or medicine intake monitoring. For more general lifestyle monitoring, ambient sensor networks consisting of motion and switch sensors mounted in the environment have been presented. In this paper, we focus on measuring gait velocity (walking speed) of elderly with such systems. Gait velocity is an important predictor of functional health; it is shown that it predicts the risk of falls (Montero-Odasso et al., 2005; Quach et al., 2011), but also of hospitalization and survival (Studenski et al., 2011). For that reason, gait velocity is an important measure in comprehensive geriatric assessment in clinical settings.

The disadvantage of the clinical assessments is that the tests are usually carried out over a short period of time in an unnatural setting. For assessments in home settings, measurements have to be carried out by a therapist in the home, which is time consuming and therefore expensive. The measurements may also be subjective to the therapist taking the tests.

Continuous domestic monitoring may provide a clearer and more objective picture of a person's mobility. Systems have been presented that suggest specific sensors in the home such as RGB-D cameras, radar sensors (Wang et al., 2013), motion sensors placed in an array (Kaye et al., 2011), or use wearable sensors such as accelerometers (Plasqui et al., 2013).

We developed a system for measuring gait velocity from an existing ambient sensor network. Because the elderly are not instructed to follow predefined paths, the variations in walking patterns will be large. The contributions of this paper are: (1) we propose a method for automatically identifying useful paths for speed estimation, (2) we show that unconstrained daily activities result in non-trivial distributions over path durations and propose a model to deal with those (3) we simultaneously estimate the duration and the distance of the collected paths. Finally, we compare the results with measurements from an occupational therapist over a period of 27 months.

4.2 Related Work

Approaches for continuous walking speed assessment for elderly use either *wearable* sensors or *ambient* sensors. A review of wearable sensors for gait analysis is given in Tao et al. (2012). Apart from velocity, other characteristics of the gait may be measured such as under-foot pressure and rotation of the foot (the GaitShoe (Bamberg et al., 2008), the Smart Insole (Xu et al., 2012) and the In-Shoe device (De Rossi et al., 2011)). These gait characteristics can be measured using gyroscopes. Pedometers are suitable for a long-term measurement of the physical activity. However, the accuracy of these pedometers is dependent of the implemented algorithm to count the steps. Furthermore, pedometers significantly underestimate the gait velocity of older adults (Cyarto et al., 2004), and a major disadvantage of using wearable sensors in general for gate analysis is that the subject must not forget to wear the device and has to recharge it regularly. The acceptance of wearable sensor applications for long term monitoring is therefore low. Ambient pressure sensors can be used to build large sensor mats for the analysis of gait. GAITRite[®] is a portable electronic walkway of 0.89m wide and between 5 and 8m long where pressure sensors are embedded in a grid. This system is frequently used for clinical and research purposes, but not in a home setting (Bilney et al., 2003; Van Uden and Besser, 2004). Imaging devices such as the Microsoft Kinect have been presented to evaluate the gait (Stone and Skubic, 2011; Stone et al., 2015). The advantage of using the depth RGB-D is the ability to capture different parameters of gait such as walking speed, stride time and stride length. The disadvantages are, however, privacy related although only a silhouette of the subject is captured. An unobtrusive way for the continuous measurement of gait velocity is using motion sensors. A specific lay-out of motion sensors was used in Hagler et al. (2010), who mounted four motion sensors with a restricted view to $\pm 4^{\circ}$ in a line on the ceiling of a hallway with approximately 61cmdistance between them. The assumption of this method is that a long and narrow hallway is available to enforce the subject to walk in a line. This is not always the case in elderly apartments.

Frenken et al. (2011) introduced a fully automated approach to calculate the TUG, including the walking speed, using ambient sensors. These sensors consisting of force, light barriers and a Laser Range Scanner are incorporated in a chair to measure the walking direction and the speed. Both the GAITRite[®] and the TUG-chair are suitable for periodic instrumented clinical tests, but the systems are expensive for continuous gait monitoring.

4.3 Sensor Data

We have continuously collected data, in several ambient assisted living apartments, for more than a year. The sensor networks used to collect data use the Z-Wave protocol and consist of off-the-shelf binary sensors that measure motion, pressure on the bed, toilet flush and the opening and closing of cabinets and doors. An overview of the location of the sensors in the apartment of one resident is shown in Figure 4.1. The elderly are living their routine life and are not told to modify their behaviour in any way. The location of the sensors is chosen so that all the important rooms in the apartment are covered and so that the network does not affect the elderly's daily life. For instance, the pressure sensor for the bed is installed under the mattress and sensors in the kitchen are installed above the stove, under the freezer, etc. A list of the all the sensors installed in the apartment of volunteer A is shown in Table 4.1.

4.4 Approach

To calculate the gait velocity, we collect the walking paths of the residents in their home during a period of time (e.g., week). We represent these walking paths by trajectories in a graph where the nodes represent sensors and the edges represent the distances between them, and calculate the corresponding durations. For each collected trajectory, the gait velocity is then equal to the length of the trajectory divided by its duration. Because of the variations in the duration we consider the duration as a stochastic variable. We fit a probabilistic model to this variable and estimate the model parameters. Before describing our approach in detail, we describe the challenges involved first.

4.4.1 Challenges

In instrumental tests, both the walking path and its duration are known. As the subject is instructed to walk without stopping, the gait velocity is therefore easy to compute. The calculation of the walking speed from ambient sensor data used for continuous monitoring is more challenging:

• The walking path is neither fixed nor precisely known, as the resident is not instructed to follow a specific walking path.

Id	Sensor name	Sensor type	Room (number)
09	Hall	Motion	Hall (3)
10	Desk	Motion	Living room (6)
11	Kitchen	Motion	Kitchen (4)
12	Kitchen hob	Motion	Kitchen (4)
13	Living front	Motion	Living room (6)
14	Living back	Motion	Living room (6)
15	Bedroom	Motion	Bedroom (2)
16	Laundry	Motion	Laundry room (5)
17	Washbasin	Motion	Bathroom (1)
18	Shower	Motion	Bathroom (1)
19	Front Door	Door	Hall (3)
20	Freezer	Door	Kitchen (4)
21	Fridge	Door	Kitchen (4)
22	Cupboard1	Door	Kitchen (4)
23	Cupboard2	Door	Kitchen (4)
24	Cupboard3	Door	Kitchen (4)
25	Balcony	Door	Living room (6)
26	Bed	Pressure	Bedroom (2)
27	Toilet	Floating	Bathroom (1)

Table 4.1: A list of the sensors (id, name, type and room) installed in the apartment of Volunteer A, as shown in Figure 4.1. Cupboard1 contains coffee/tea items, cupboard2 contains spices and cupboard3 contains dinner dishes



Figure 4.1: A map of the apartment of volunteer A equipped with a wireless sensor network. The three apartments have the same basic size and layout. The number of used sensors, their types and their positions were kept as similar as possible between the apartments.

- The walking paths of the resident do not necessary follow straight lines.
- It is unknown if the resident's walking paths are interwoven with some other activity or not.
- Motion sensors do not provide us with accurate locations, and to save their batteries the sensors do not transmit every detection they make. The start time and location and the end time and location of the walking path are, therefore, not known precisely due to the nature of the sensors.
- There is more variation in the walking paths and speeds in natural conditions than during a controlled test.

4.4.2 Features

When the resident performs his activities of daily living during a period of time, the binary sensors generate a continuous stream of sensor-events. A sensor event $e_n = (t_n, s_n)$ is defined as a tuple consisting of the time stamp t_n of the sensor signal (ON or OFF) and the identity of the sensor that fired that signal, $s_n \in \{s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_{|S|}\}$.¹ The sequence of N sensor-events collected during some period of time can be represented as

¹The actual value of the event is not relevant to our purposes: we are interested in the knowledge that the resident is present at a certain location, not in their activity.



Figure 4.2: A graph indicating the sensors that are topologically connected to each other. The node ids correspond to the sensor ids depicted in Figure 4.1. The node kitchen (resp. bathroom) consists of six (resp. three) sensors that are topologically connected to each other. These sensors are omitted to keep the overview of the graph clear

 $e = \langle e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_N \rangle$. The OFF-signals of the motion sensor correspond to the end of the sleep-time of the sensor. These OFF-signals are ignored as they do not necessarily correspond to the end of the movement of the resident. For the same reason, the OFF-signal of the float sensor is filtered out as this signal indicates the end of filling up the toilet water tank. Furthermore, if more than two consecutive sensor events come from the same sensor, only the first and last event are taken into account. The reason is that many consecutive events of a sensor usually do not correspond to a displacement of the resident, and we cannot associate any walking distance with them. For example, consecutive events of the bed sensor mean that the resident is changing his posture. Finally, the sequence of events caused by the presence of multiple persons in the home is detected and excluded from the data under consideration using the method presented in chapter 3.5 To estimate gait velocity, we rely on durations of walking paths inside the home.

4.4.3 Model

We represent the walking paths of the resident in his home by trajectories in a graph. Figure 4.2 shows a graph of all possible walking paths of volunteer A. The node identities in this figure correspond to the sensors shown in Figure 4.1. The sensor ids, indicating the location of the resident, are used as nodes and the sensor-transitions, indicating the movement of the resident, are used as edges. As example, a trajectory corresponding to sensor sequence < 15, 27, 17 > consists of three nodes and two edges. This trajectory represents the walking path 'bedroom-toilet-washbasin' resulted from a toileting activity.

The mathematical representation of the graph is G = (V, E) where $V = \{s_1, s_2, \dots, s_{|V|}\}$ and $E = \{(i, j) | i \text{ is topologically connected to } j\}$. To calculate the gait velocity in a period of time, we assume that the duration of natural paths in the house is representative of the person's gait velocity. For the calculation of the duration of the walking paths, we follow the approach:

- 1. Identify walking trajectories from sensor data and calculate the corresponding durations.
- 2. Model the duration of each collected trajectory.
- 3. Estimate the distance of each collected trajectory.
- 4. calculate the average gait velocity of the resident.

Identification of walking trajectories:

Given a sequence of sensor events $\langle e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_N \rangle$ collected during a period of time T (e.g., a week), we need to identify subsequences that correspond to actual walking. We do this by cutting this sequence at edge (n, n + 1) if the edge duration is larger than some threshold τ . Cutting the sequence at (n, n + 1) means that one walking path ends with event e_n and a new path starts with event e_{n+1} . The variable τ correspond to a 'rest moment' of the resident. This cutting action results in K sensor sequence segments. Some segments correspond to the movement of the subject in the same room and are therefore not suitable for the calculation of the gait velocity. Other segments, on the other hand, correspond to long and complex activities. These activities may contain walking paths that are suitable for the calculation of the gait velocity. Therefore, two possibilities to extract valid potential walking trajectories from theses segments have been investigated:

- 1. Automatically detect all trajectories that involve at least two rooms to ensure that the collected trajectories correspond to a movement of the resident and not to some activity within a room. These trajectories are referred as *auto-detected* trajectories.
- 2. Search within the *K* segments for some predefined walking trajectories. The start and end point of these trajectories are selected so that the obtained walking trajectories are as long and straight as possible. The start and end point are selected by manually inspecting the map of the apartment. These trajectories are referred as *predefined* trajectories.

For each collected (instance of a) trajectory, both auto-detected and predefined, its duration is calculated by substracting the time stamp of start point from the time stamp of the end point.

Modeling the durations of each trajectory:

The Poisson is a widely used distribution to model time durations and is the correct model to use if our collected sequences all correspond to the same physical walking path in the space. We therefore selected this distribution as a candidate model for the duration of the collected trajectories. Some trajectories may, however, sometimes be interwoven with another trajectory, in which case a mixture of Poisson distributions would be a more accurate model. Trajectories may also be interwoven with one or more activities, whose

duration is not adequately modelled by a Poisson distribution. We therefore also selected a mixture of a Poisson and a Normal distribution as a candidate model.

In our experiments we evaluated the following set of three candidate models:

- 1. a Poisson distribution with parameter $\Theta_1 = \lambda$,
- 2. a mixture of two Poisson distributions with parameters $\Theta_2 = (\pi, \lambda_1, \lambda_2)$,
- 3. a mixture of a Poisson and a Normal distribution $\Theta_3 = (\pi, \lambda, \mu, \sigma)$.

The probability distribution function (PDF) of a Poisson and a Normal distribution are given in Equation 4.1 and Equation 4.2. The PDF of a mixture a Poisson and a Normal distribution is given in Equation 4.3. The PDF of the mixtures of two Poisson distributions can be obtained in the same way.

$$P(x) = \frac{\lambda^x}{x!} e^{-\lambda}$$
(4.1)

$$P\left(x\right) = \tag{4.2}$$

$$P(x) = \pi \frac{\lambda^x}{x!} e^{-\lambda} + (1 - \pi)$$
(4.3)

For each collected unique trajectory, the parameters π , λ , λ_1 , λ_2 , μ , and σ corresponding to the three candidate models are estimated by using the maximum likelihood method. To determine the model that fits the data the best, the 'goodness of fit' function of each candidate model is calculated using the Akaike information criterion (AIC) (Akaike, 1974) and the Bayesian information criterion (BIC) (Schwarz et al., 1978) metrics given by:

$$AIC = -2\log(\hat{L}) + 2K \tag{4.4}$$

$$BIC = -2\log(\hat{L}) + K\log(N) \tag{4.5}$$

In these equations, \hat{L} represents the likelihood function of the model, K represents the number of parameters of the model and N is the number of observations. Both AIC and BIC metrics measure a penalized likelihood of the model. The penalty portion of AIC is only dependent of the number of the parameters of the model, while the penalty of the BIC is also dependent of the number of observations.

The estimate of the duration of each collected trajectory $\hat{\lambda}_i$ is then equal to the estimate of the Poisson-parameter (λ) of the model with the best (smallest AIC and BIC values) goodness of fit.

Modelling the length of each unique trajectory:

In Nait Aicha et al. (2015), we extracted the length of each unique trajectory from the map of the apartment. The disadvantage of this method is that the more complex the collected trajectory is, the least accurate estimate we get for its length. Moreover, an increase of the number of the unique collected trajectories results in a bigger error of the estimated gait velocity of the resident as we need to estimate more distances. Therefore,

we experimented with two methods where only the length of one single unique trajectory is 'manually' set (*e.g.*, extracted from the map of the apartment) and the length of the other trajectories is derived from this single length. In other words, under the assumption that the velocity is the same for each trajectory, we can do *simultaneous* relative length and velocity estimation.

Denote k to be the index of the unique trajectory for which the length l_k is manually set. The length of each other unique trajectory can be expressed by:

$$l_i = \alpha_i l_k \ \forall i \in \{i, 2, \dots, k - 1, k + 1, \dots, |R|\}$$
(4.6)

where R is the set of all collected trajectories. To calculate l_i , we explored two methods, referred to as *Simultane*₁ and *Simultane*₂, and based on the two assumptions:

- 1. the overall average gait velocity of the resident is constant and is the same for each unique trajectory i over the whole/complete measurement period W,
- 2. the average gait velocity of the resident is constant and is the same for each trajectory *i* during a short period of time (*e.g.*, a week).

The first assumption is formally given in Equation 4.7 and the second assumption is given in Equation 4.8,

$$\bar{v} = \frac{l_i}{\bar{\lambda}_i} \,\forall i \in R \tag{4.7}$$

$$v_i^{(w)} = \frac{l_i}{\widehat{\lambda_i}^{(w)}} \,\forall i \in R \,, \forall w \in W.$$

$$(4.8)$$

where $\overline{\lambda_i}$ is the average duration of trajectory *i* and $\widehat{\lambda_i}^{(w)}$ is the etimated duration of the trajectory *i* during a short time of period $w \in W$.

To calculate the lengths l_i using the first method, we combine the Equation 4.6 and Equation 4.7 to get a set of N equations with N unkown variables $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_{k-1}, \alpha_{k+1}, \ldots, \alpha_N$, where N is the number of the collected unique trajectories (|R| = N).

To calculate the lengths l_i using the second method, we combine the equations Equation 4.6 and Equation 4.8 to get a set set of $M \times (N-1)$ equations with M+N-1 unkown variables $v^{(1)}, v^{(2)}, \ldots, v^{(M)}, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_{k-1}, \alpha_{k+1}, \ldots, \alpha_N$. This set of equations is then solved using the least squares method. The resulted values for $\alpha's$ are then used to compute the distance l_i of each trajectory i using the Equation 4.6.

4.5 Experiments

4.5.1 Objectives

A set of five experiments is conducted to evaluate the approach. In the **first experiment**, we investigate the effect of varying the duration of the rest time on the collected trajectories, and find the optimal value of τ corresponding to each subject. Our hypothesis is that

small values of τ will result in the collection of few useful trajectories (*i.e.*, , trajectories involving at least two rooms), while large values of τ will result in long sensor trajectories corresponding to walking paths with too many interwoven activities. We seek for a value of τ that results in sufficient useful trajectories, so that we can estimate our model parameters accurately, and that does not result in too many trajectories with interwoven activities.

In the **second experiment**, varied the length of the period in which we collected statistics on duration. On one hand, if a short period is chosen we assume that the functional health of the subject will not vary a lot, resulting in a constant gait velocity. On the other hand, the period of time must be large enough so that the number of collected trajectories during that period is sufficient to fit a probabilistic model to the corresponding durations.

In the **third experiment**, we study the effect of modeling the duration by a single distribution and by a mixture of distributions. Our hypothesis consists of two parts: on one hand, we expect the most frequently *auto-detected* trajectories to be short (between rooms) and therefore should be fitted by one probability distribution as these trajectories correspond to walking paths without interwoven activities. On the other hand, the *predefined* trajectories are long and may correspond to different walking paths or to paths interwoven with some activity and therefore need to be fitted using a mixture of probability distributions.

The **fourth experiment** is conducted to model the distance of the trajectories. The three methods described in section 4.4 are evaluated and compared to each other.

In the **last experiment**, we compare the walking speed measured by the occupational therapist with the gait velocity estimated from the sensor data. Our hypothesis is that the walking speed measured by the therapist is higher than the gait velocity estimated from the sensor data, because the residents tend to improve their behavior as a response of being watched. We also expect that continuous monitoring of the gait velocity results in more insights with respect of the functional health of a resident.

4.5.2 Sensor data and annotation

Three sensor datasets collected in our living labs are used to conduct the described experiments. The three sensor datasets are collected during 27 months between April 2013 and July 2014 in the apartment of three volunteers living alone. Volunteer A, a male of 85 years old, has difficulties with getting up from a chair and with walking. Volunteer B, a female of 80 years old, has no difficulty with walking in her home. Volunteer C, a female of 87 years old, also has no difficulty with walking, but has a diagnose of Alzheimer's dementia since April 2014. She is, therefore, at a day care for two days a week.

During the period of sensor data collection, the three volunteers are visited by the same occupational therapist for the KATZ (Katz et al., 1963) and assessment of motor and processing skills (AMPS) assessments (Fisher and Jones, 1999). The walking speed test taken over 3 meters is part of these assessments. The KATZ-score varies between a minimum value of 0, indicating the subject needs NO assistance, and a maximum value of



Figure 4.3: Assessment data consisting of the AMPS, KATZ and the gait velocity test over 3 m distance. The gait velocity (m/s) is repeated twice and the mean value is notated. An increase of the KATZ score ($\{0, 1, \ldots, 6\}$) indicates more need of assistance. A decrease of the AMPS ([-3, 4]) indicates a decrease in the functional health.

6 indicating the subject is dependent of assistance for performing the ADLs. Two values of the AMPS, the motor part $(AMPS_M)$ related to physical skills and the process part $(AMPS_P)$ related to cognitive skills, are calculated from the assessment. A decrease of the AMPS indicate a decrease in the functional health of the subject.

4.6 Results

4.6.1 Occupational therapist assessments

The assessment scores, given in Figure 4.3, show an approximately stable functional health of volunteer A since January 2011. This may be concluded from the gait velocity and the AMPS scores, which show no significant increase or decrease. For volunteer B,

the assessments show conflicting observations. On one hand, the AMPS show a decrease indicating the functional health of the resident is decreasing, while on the other hand the gait velocity shows an increase indicating the functional health is increasing. The decrease of the motor AMPS score of volunteer C indicates a decrease of her functional health. The speed test is however stable. Furthermore, the KATZ score of the subject indicates she needs assistance for preforming her ADLs.

4.6.2 Experiment 1: Effect of the rest time τ

For each subject, we collected sensor data collected during 50 random weeks in the period between April 2013 and July 2015. We ensured that the selected weeks do not lack any sensor data. For each obtained sequence of sensor readings, valid trajectories are extracted using the two proposed methods, *auto-detected* and *predefined* trajectories, as described in section 4.4. The plot of the collected predefined trajectories as a function of τ , given in 4.4(a), shows that the value of $\tau = 50$ results in a maximum average number of predefined trajectories per week for volunteer A. This value of $\tau = 50$ seconds results also in sufficient average number (more than 40 per week) of collected autodetected trajectories, as given in 4.4(b). Note that the most auto-detected trajectories have a low frequency, which means that during a week, many different trajectories are collected. For example, Figure 4.4(c) shows that for $\tau = 7$ more than 85% of the collected 8172 trajectories occurred only once. Comparable figures hold for the other values of $\tau \in \{5, 10, \dots, 70\}$. Following the same procedure for volunteers B and C resulted in an 'optimal' value of $\tau = 30$ for collecting both auto-detected and predefined trajectories. Note that this higher values of τ for volunteer A compared to the other volunteers correlates with the measured low walking speed of volunteer A.

4.6.3 Experiment 2: Modeling the period of time the trajectories are collected

In the first experiment, we set the period of time the trajectories are collected to 1 week, because of the ease of interpretation. In this experiment, we have experimented with other values around a week as a period of time. The periods above one week are chosen to test if this results in collecting significantly larger number of trajectories. The periods less than a week are chosen to test if these values still results in a sufficient number of trajectories. For each value of period of time in $\{1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 14, 21\}$ days, a set of 50 random samples of sensor data is selected. Also, the 'optimal' value of τ obtained from the first experiment is used. The results, given in Figure 4.5, show that one week is a reasonable choice.

4.6.4 Experiment 3: Modeling the duration of a trajectory

In this experiment, we have selected 50 random weeks of sensor data and we used for each subject his/her 'optimal' value of τ obtained in experiment 1. The durations of





(a) Average number of collected *predefined* trajectories versus τ (sec).

(b) Average number of collected *auto-detected* trajectories versus τ (sec).



(c) Histogram of the number of auto-detected trajectories using different values of τ .

Figure 4.4: Visualisation of the collected predefined and auto-detected trajectories using different values of τ (seconds). V_i denotes volunteer *i*. A sample of 50 random weeks extracted from the sensor data collected between April 2013 and July 2015 is used.



Figure 4.5: Boxplot of the number of collected trajectories per period of time $(\{1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 14, 21\}$ days). The sensor data used is collected between April 2013 and July 2015.

	average of standard deviations			
Method	Volunteer A	Volunteer B	Volunteer C	
Map	0.336	0.317	0.491	
Simultane ₁	0.261	0.051	0.177	
$Simultane_2$	0.172	0.012	0.183	

Table 4.2: The average of standard deviations calculated using the three methods described in section 4.4 for modeling a trajectory length. The values are calculated using a sample of 50 random weeks extracted from the sensor data collected between April 2013 and July 2015 is used.

the collected trajectories are fitted to the selected three models. Figure 4.6 gives an example of the observed durations in a histogram and the fitted mixture of a Poisson and a Normal distribution. For each model and each trajectory we calculated its AIC and BIC values. Figure 4.7 shows the AIC average values for the collected auto-detected and predefined trajectories. Comparable figures hold for the BIC scores. The results show that the Poisson distribution fits the calculated duration significantly less well than the two mixtures of probabilities. We therefore reject the first part of our hypothesis that the auto-detected trajectories are best modeled using one distribution. The results also show that the mixture of two Poisson distributions gives significantly the best fit in almost all cases for each subject. Only in case of auto-detected trajectories of volunteer *B*, there is no significant (p < 0.01) difference between the calculated AIC_{PP} and AIC_{PN} . A paired t-test resulted in a p-value of 0.19. We may, therefore, conclude that any collected trajectory (both auto-detected and predefined) is occasionally interwoven with an other trajectory or some activity.

4.6.5 Experiment 4: Modeling the length of the trajectories

Similar to the previous experiments, we selected 50 random weeks of sensor data collected between April 2013 and July 2015. For each week, we collected walking trajectories and we estimated for each single trajectory its average duration and the corresponding standard deviation using the best fitting model. The average of these standard deviations, calculated for each subject, are given in Table 4.2. As expected, the estimation of the length of each single trajectory from the map (Map method) results in a large error in comparison with the use of a simultaneous method. The comparison of the two simultaneous method (Simultane₁ and Simultane₂) to each other using a paired t-test results in a significantly better performance of the method Simultane₂ over the method Simulate₁ for both the volunteer A and B. There is, however, no significant difference between the two methods for volunteer C (p-value = 0.383). This may indicate that Volunteer C's walking speed is particularly stable, when evaluated on all recorded motion. Further investigation with more volunteers will be needed to ascertain this.



(c) Mixture of a Poisson and a Normal distribution

Figure 4.6: A histogram of the duration of the collected *'living room to kitchen'* trajectories in one week. The data is fitted using (a) a Poisson distribution, (b) a mixture of two Poisson distributions and (c) a mixture of a Poisson and a Normal distribution.



Figure 4.7: A plot of the AIC values calculated for the most occurred collected *auto*detected and predefined trajectories. aic_P (resp. aic_{PP} and aic_{PN}) denotes the AICcalculated when the Poisson model (resp. a mixture of two Poisson and a mixture of a Poisson and Normal) is applied. Collected trajectories, represented by their sensor ids, are given in the x-axis. Note that these trajectories do not have any order.



Figure 4.8: Gait velocity measured by the occupational therapist (circles) and estimated from sensor data using Simultane₂ method (crosses).

4.6.6 Experiment 5: continuous measurement of the gait velocity versus measurement by an occupational therapist

For this experiment, we estimated the gait velocity using the Simultane₂ method applied on trajectories collected each week in the period between April 2103 and July 2015. These gait velocities, referred to as sensor data velocities, are given Figure 4.8 together with the gait velocity measured occasionally by the occupational therapist. The results show that the walking speed values measured by the therapist are higher than the average gait velocity estimated from sensor data. These results are in line with our hypothesis that the subjects tend to improve their behavior as a response of being assessed. Furthermore, the results show a stable gait velocity of the subjects A and C while the gait velocity of subject B is decreasing. These trends are more clearer than the measurements performed by the occupational therapist.

4.7 Conclusion

This study shows the potential of continuously monitoring the indoor gait velocity of older adults living alone using a simple sensor network. We have shown that unconstrained behavior leads to a multimodal distribution of path durations, as walking is interwoven with other activities. We have shown that we can nevertheless extract the gait velocity from unconstrained sensor data, by fitting a mixture model to the durations. In particular, the results show that the durations of the collected trajectories can be best fitted using a mixture of a Poisson and a Normal distribution as a model. Apart from the gait velocity, the method also allows us to detect the most recurrent indoor walking trajectories.

We applied this model to three sets of sensor data collected in three different living labs in a period of 27 months. Our results showed that the estimated gait velocity is in line with the motor AMPS scores extracted from the assessments conducted by an occupational therapist. In accordance with the findings in the literature, our results also show that the walking speed measured by the therapist is significantly higher than the average gait velocity. Moreover, the few assessments of the therapist do not provide a solid ground truth about the functional health of the resident, while our method gives a clearer trends.

In a real-time situation, we could imagine a sliding window of one week needed to collect enough valid walking trajectories to be fitted by the model. Currently, our group is involved in a monitoring older adults after having a hip surgery using comparable sensor networks. This project gives an opportunity to apply our findings to a new situation where we expect the walking speed to increase in a relative short period, as the functional health of these subjects gets better during the rehabilitation. It will be fascinating to have the same pattern from the gait velocity estimated from the sensor data. An interesting future challenge is the measurement of the gait velocity in a multi-person home setting.

This chapter was previously published as: A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, K. S. van Schooten, M. Pijnappels, and B. Kröse. Deep learning to predict falls in older adults based on daily-life trunk accelerometry. Sensors, 18(5), 2018. ISSN 1424-8220. doi: 10.3390/s18051654. URL http:

//www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/18/5/1654

5

Deep Learning to Predict Falls in Older Adults Based on Daily-Life Trunk Accelerometry

Early detection of high fall risk is an essential component of fall prevention in older adults. Wearable sensors can provide valuable insight into daily-life activities; biomechanical features extracted from such inertial data have been shown to be of added value for the assessment of fall risk. Body-worn sensors such as accelerometers can provide valuable insight into fall risk. Currently, biomechanical features derived from accelerometer data are used for the assessment of fall risk. Here, we studied whether deep learning methods from machine learning are suited to automatically derive features from raw accelerometer data that assess fall risk. We used an existing dataset of 296 older adults. We compared the performance of three deep learning model architectures: CNN, LSTM and a combination of these two (ConvLSTM) to each other and to a baseline model with biomechanical features on the same dataset. The results show that the deep learning models in a single-task learning mode are strong in recognition of identity of the subject, but that these models only slightly outperform the baseline method on fall risk assessment. When using multi-task learning, with gender and age as auxiliary task, deep learning models perform better. We also found that preprocessing of the data resulted in the best performance (AUC = 0.75). We conclude that deep learning models, and in particular multi-task learning are good for assessment of fall risk on the basis of wearable sensor data.

5.1 Introduction

Falls among older adults are one of the major health problems that lead to a decreased quality of life and increased morbidity and mortality. In addition, falls pose high costs to the public health service. **Risk factors** for falls are for example weak muscles, unsteady gait, cognitive decline and psychoactive medications. Early detection and monitoring of fall risk factors can significantly reduce the risk of future falls (Ambrose et al., 2013;

Rubenstein, 2006). Among these factors, history of falls and gait and balance disorders have been identified as the strong predictors (Deandrea et al., 2010).

Fall risk assessment is a process in which the probability of a future fall is estimated, usually within a time frame of 6 to 12 months. In many intervention programs proposed for **fall prevention**, fall risk assessment is performed as the initial step to identify persons at highest risk. The assessment of fall risk is commonly conducted in a clinical setting and based on questionnaires and functional tests of mobility such as the Timed Up and Go (TUG) (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991), the Performance Oriented Mobility Assessment (POMA) (Tinetti, 1986) or the Berg Balance Scale test (Berg KO, 1989). Although these tests provide a good indication of one's optimal mobility and performance, their predictive ability for prospective falls is limited (e.g. Barry et al. (2014)), possibly because this optimal ability might not be representative of one's use in daily life behavior.

In previous research, we studied the use of ambient sensors for continuous monitoring of human activities in their **natural environment** (Nait Aicha et al., 2017b; Ordonez et al., 2014). In this paper, we focus on body-worn inertial sensors which are used in many research studies for ambulatory monitoring of humans in daily life providing reliable insight into an individuals daily activities and gait quality characteristics (Howcroft et al., 2013).

Much research is done in the characterization of the **quantity of the movement** of subjects, including the duration of the low, moderate and high intensity of activities, the total number of daily steps and the daily percentage of time spent in lying, sitting, standing and walking (Howcroft et al., 2013). Recent research showed the added value of the characterization of one's **quality of the movement** in the determination of fall risk in older adults (van Schooten et al., 2015). These studies revealed that biomechanical features such as gait stability, variability, and smoothness Rispens et al. (2015b); Weiss et al. (2013), but also mean turn duration Mancini et al. (2016) and number of abnormal sit-to-stand transitions Najafi et al. (2002), are associated with fall risk. However, estimation of these features often requires event detection, which deserves improvement, and may not exploit the wealth of information contained in the data. Deep learning, on the other hand, allows for data-driven generation of features and does not suffer from these shortcomings.

In machine learning, deep convolutional and LSTM recurrent neural networks have shown to be successful for recognition of activities Ordónez and Roggen (2016) and gait patterns Hu et al. (2018) from inertial sensor data. However, the assessment of fall risk with such models has not been done before. The contributions of this paper are: a) a comparison of the performance of deep learning models for the assessment of fall risk with a baseline model based on biomechanical features using a large data set of 296 subjects and b) the extension and testing of these models with multi-task learning to improve their performance.
	Male (%)	Age (Years)	Weight (Kg)	Height (Cm)
Mean	74.1	75.3	49.2	170.6
Standard deviation		6.8	13.3	8.8
25% Quantile		70.0	64.0	165.0
75% Quantile		80.0	81.8	176.0

Table 5.1: Descriptive statistics of the population.

5.2 Sensor Data

The data used in this paper were collected between March 2011 and January 2014 as part of the Fall Risk Assessment in Older Adults (FARAO) cohort study performed at the Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam. The FARAO study collected data on fall risk factors in older adults with questionnaires, physical tests and wearable sensors. Participants in the cohort were between 65 and 99 years of age, had a mini mental state examination score (MMSE Folstein et al. (1975)) between 19 and 30, and were able to walk at least 20 meters with the aid of an assistive device, if needed. We re-analysed the data described in (van Schooten et al., 2016), which consisted of a population of 296 older adults. These participants wore a triaxial accelerometer (Dynaport MoveMonitor, McRoberts) on their lower back, which registered 3D trunk accelerations at 100 Hz and +/- 6 G, during 1 week of their daily life. During a 6 month follow-up period, in which fall incidences and descriptions were monthly obtained, 101 subjects (34.1%) had experienced at least one fall and were identified as fallers. Table 5.1 provides an overview of the descriptive characteristics of the population. A detailed description of the population and the methods for data collection can be found in Rispens et al. (2015a) and in van Schooten et al. (2015, 2016).

Participants were instructed to wear the accelerometer with an elastic belt around their lower back at all times, except during aquatic activities such as showering. The distribution of the total time that the sensor was worn was similar for fallers and non-fallers. Bouts of non-wearing, locomotion, sitting, lying and standing were identified using the manufacturer's activity classification algorithm (Dijkstra et al., 2010). Only the locomotion bouts were analysed in the current study. For each locomotion bout, the acceleration in three directions, i.e., anteroposterior (AP), mediolateral (ML) and vertical (VT) was recorded. Figure 5.1 shows two examples of locomotion bouts lasting 10 seconds each.

5.3 Approach

On the basis of this data set containing bouts of accelerometer data of 296 participants and the identification of the participants into fall or non-fall category, a model is made that predicts falls from accelerometer data. In van Schooten et al. (2016), a linear model was used, based on biomechanical features from the accelerometer data. In this paper we used deep neural networks. Deep learning allows creating computational models



Figure 5.1: An example of two locomotion samples. (a) a typical walking sample and (b) a walking sample interwoven with a turning activity round second 7.

that are composed of multiple processing layers and learn representations of data with multiple levels of abstraction (LeCun et al., 2015). This can result in more powerful models, because the complexity of the feature computations are dictated directly by the data and by the quality of the model predictions, rather than by preconceptions of the operator. On the other hand, no prior knowledge is leveraged in the creation of the model, and so it is useful to compare deep learning approaches to traditional machine learning methods.

We evaluated two types of deep neural networks (DNNs) for the analysis of fall risk. First, we considered the convolutional neural network (CNN), which constrains the number of parameters by sharing parameter values in different parts of the network. It has been used with great success in speech recognition (Abdel-Hamid et al., 2012) and in the detection, segmentation and recognition of objects and regions in images (Krizhevsky et al., 2012; Toshev and Szegedy, 2014). We then looked at the long short term memory (LSTM) model, a specific type of recurrent neural networks (RNNs). RNNs specifically model sequential inputs, such as speech and language (Graves, 2013; Sutskever et al., 2014). In this work, we used a model that combines convolutional and recurrent models, which we refer to as the 'ConvLSTM'.

We trained the model parameters and evaluated the resulting models by minimising the loss, a function that expresses how many prediction errors the model makes, and evaluated the models for different values of their so-called "hyper-parameters", which include the number of layers and the number of nodes in each layer, based on their the receiver operator Characteristics (ROC) curves. The models can make different types of errors, false positive and false negative predictions, and a single model can be tweaked to minimise one type of error at the expense of the other. The ROC curve shows the model's performance for multiple choices of this trade-off. The Area Under the (ROC) Curve (AUC) is a robust metric of a model's performance. The training, validation and testing of the DNN was performed on a Distributed ASCI Supercomputer 5 (DAS-5) server (Bal et al., 2016).



Figure 5.2: A 3-layer neural network with three input neurons, two hidden layers of 4 neurons each and one output layer.

5.4 Deep Learning Neural Network Models

5.4.1 Feed-forward Neural Networks

Deep neural networks consist of large numbers of simple processing modules, the "neurons", which compute a fixed function — the "activation function" — of the weighted sum of their inputs and are organised in separate layers. The simplicity of the neurons make training of the network possible, while the large number of nodes and their organisation in a large number of layers allows them to perform complex tasks. DNNs have the ability to learn representations of the training data and relate them to the output variable(s) that we train them to predict. An example of a DNN consisting of two hidden layers is given in Figure 5.2. The number of nodes in the input layer is determined by the dimensionality of the data, while the number of nodes in the output layer is determined by the chosen representation of the intended prediction. The structure of the network is determined by the complexity of the task being predicted. In addition to the number of nodes and layers, the connections between layers affect the complexity of the network. In a dense layer, each neuron is connected to all neurons of the previous layer and has its own set of weights. In a convolutional layer, a neuron is connected to a subset of the neurons in the previous layer, and shares its weights with the other neurons of that layer.

5.4.2 Long Short Term Memory (LSTM) network

Recurrent neural networks is a type of neural networks where inputs are organized sequentially, and the output at time t is connected to all inputs from time 0 to t (see Figure 5.3(a)). Such a network is still a feed-forward network, but the number of layers between an output and previous inputs increases as the time difference increases. In practice, the training of recurrent neural networks (RNNs) with long-term temporal de-



Figure 5.3: (a) A cyclic connection of an RNN folded and unfolded. (b) An LSTM memory block consisting of one cell at time t and the three gates $(i_t, o_t \text{ and } f_t)$ which control the activation of the cell c_t and its output h_t .

pendencies can be problematic because the gradient of the loss function decays exponentially with the number of layers, and therefore with time (Bengio et al., 1994). long short term memory (LSTM) networks, introduced by Hochreiter and Schmidhuber (1997), are a type of RNN that uses special units to solve this so-called vanishing gradient problem by "gating" the propagation of information over time. They extend RNNs with memory blocks (Figure 5.3(b)) to store information, easing the learning of temporal relationships over long time periods.

5.4.3 Multi-task learning

Multi-task learning has been proposed by Caruana (1993) to learn several related tasks by a single model. Having a network learn multiple tasks increases the complexity of the function it computes but, when the tasks are related, the models can share parameters. The complexity of a network performing multiple tasks is then lower than the complexity of multiple networks learning the tasks separately. In addition, the fact that tasks essentially compete for the resources of the network tends to force the network to avoid modeling non-essential aspects of the problem, thereby also improving the performance on the individual tasks.

5.5 Experiments and Results

We conducted a set of five experiments to evaluate the presented approach. In the **first** experiment, we compared deep neural networks (DNNs) with the current state-of-theart model, described in subsection 5.5.1 which relies on manually engineered feature extraction. In the second experiment, we investigated the performance of DNNs in the prediction of fall status at sample level, *i.e.*, when allowing the model to train and test on different data from the same person, and show drastically improved results. In the **third experiment**, we explored whether these improvements are due to the model learning to identify people from their gait, rather than from better modeling of fall risk. We observed that the model is capable to identify people from their gait, but that this does not by itself explain all of the performance increase. In the fourth experiment, we therefore explored how person-specific but not fall-related information can improve the model. We showed that multi-task learning improved fall prediction. Finally, in the fifth experiment, we showed how improving the focus of the model on cleaner data further improved the overall prediction performance. To train a model and calculate its performance, the complete dataset is split into a training and a validation set (90%) and a test set (10%).

5.5.1 Experiment 1:

We compared the performance of three types of DNNs using raw inputs to the performance of the state-of-the-art model. This base model has been previously described by van Schooten et al. (2016) and is based on a dataset of ten-second gait samples from which several features such as walking speed, variability, smoothness and complexity were extracted. principal components analysis (PCA) was applied to these features (as well as other parameters obtained from questionnaires and tests), keeping 18 principal components, and a multivariate model was developed to predict time to prospective falls. The median of a person's ten-second segments' predictions provided that person's risk assessment. This base model resulted in a performance of AUC=0.67 (95% confidence interval [0.59, 0.73]) at 6 months (van Schooten et al., 2016).

The same complete dataset was randomly split into three subsets (training, validation and testing set) at **subject level**, where all the 10-second samples of a subject A occur in a single subset. The ratio of fallers to non-fallers was approximately the same in these three sets. The DNNs were given 10-second samples x and the corresponding faller/non-faller label $y \in \{0, 1\}$ for training and testing. For each sample x the predicted value using an DNN architecture was denoted by \hat{y} . The median of the predicted values for all of a subject's samples was used as the predicted value for that subject. The subjects' predicted values (label) were used to plot the ROC and to calculate the corresponding AUC. Figure 5.4 shows an illustration of predicted values (\hat{y}) for multiple 10-second sequences grouped by subject.

As described in section 5.3, three types of DNN architectures CNN, LSTM and ConvL-STM were applied to a small set of the data to determine the best fitting model. The mod-



Figure 5.4: Example boxplots of the normalized predicted values (\hat{y}) for multiple 10second sequences, grouped by subject. Subjects 1 and 4 were non-fallers and the other two were fallers. The final prediction per subject was given by the median of the predictions, as per van Schooten et al. (2016).

els were trained by minimizing the Binary Cross Entropy loss function (Figure 5.5(a)), and evaluated in terms of the Area under the ROC Curve for each subject (Figure 5.6(a)). The corresponding AUC was used to measure the performance of the models (Figure 5.7(a)).

From these, we can conclude that the LSTM and ConvLSTM architectures resulted in a slightly better performance than the CNN architecture (p-values are respectively 0.056 and 0.022) and that there is no significant difference in the performance between LSTM and ConvLSTM (p = 0.480). The time needed for the training of the LSTMs was very long compared to the ConvLSTM architecture (Table 5.4), because two or more LSTM layers were used in the LSTM architecture while the ConvLSTM architectures was set to have exactly one LSTM layer. For this reason, we selected a ConvLSTM architecture and its corresponding hyper parameters to be trained on larger datasets. Table 5.2 illustrates the architecture of the ConvLSTM type used. The AUC and the corresponding training time of this architecture is given in Table 5.5.

We compared the performance, in terms of average AUC, of the best fitting model to the base model using a z-test and found no statistically significant difference (p = 0.209). In addition, the results also showed a poor generalization ability of the DNN model when trained at the subject level as indicated by the gap between the two loss functions in Figure 5.5(a). Perhaps the model learnt concepts from the training data that did not apply to the test data and therefore negatively impacted the performance of the model. For the investigation of the cause of this generalization problem, we conducted a second experiment, where we applied the same types of DNNs on different training and testing subsets.



Figure 5.5: A typical **loss** versus **epoch** graph during the training of a DNN. The data has been split at (a) subject level or (b) sample level; loss is the training loss and val_loss is the validation loss. The gap between the training and validation loss indicates the amount of over-fitting.



Figure 5.6: Examples of the ROC curves and their corresponding AUC values obtained using a ConvLSTM model. The dashed line represents the ROC for chance. The dataset was split at (a) subject level and (b) sample level.

layer index	01	03	05	07	09	11	12
type filter	CNN	CNN	CNN	CNN	CNN	LSTM	Dense
number filters	N	N	N	$\frac{3}{4}N$	$\frac{3}{4}N$	Ν	2

Table 5.2: The ConvLSTM architecture. To keep the architecture clear, we omitted the input-layer (layer 00) and the dropout layers (the even layer indices) applied after each CNN-layer. N is set to 128.



Figure 5.7: A boxplot of the AUC's of different DNN architectures. For the LSTM architecture at least two LSTM layers were involved, while for the ConvLSTM architecture, only one LSTM layer was involved. The dataset was split at (a) subject level and (b) sample level.

	AUC				
	average	standard deviation			
subject level	0.65	0.09			
sample level	0.94	0.07			

Table 5.3: Comparison of the Average AUC and the corresponding standard deviation when splitting at sample or subject level.

	subjec	t level	sample level		
	AUC	time (hrs)	AUC	time (hrs)	
CNN	0.52 (0.07)	6	0.74 (0.07)	7	
LSTM	0.61 (0.10)	160	0.91 (0.06)	180	
ConvLSTM	0.60 (0.09)	35	0.90 (0.05)	40	

Table 5.4: Average AUC (standard deviation) and corresponding average training time, per NN architecture type, for a subset of the data. The difference in training time between the ways of splitting the data is due to the slower convergence when splitting at the sample level.

	Dataset size in minutes				
	10	30	60	120	complete dataset
average AUC	0.61	0.63	0.65	0.65	0.65
training duration (Hrs)	35	90	150	250	350
number of folds	10	10	10	2	1

Table 5.5: Average AUC, training duration and number of folds obtained when applying the ConvLSTM model to different dataset sizes. The dataset was cut into three subsets at the subject level.

5.5.2 Experiment 2

For this experiment the complete dataset was randomly split into three subsets (training, validation and testing set) again but now at **sample level**. As a consequence, there was only a small chance that all the 10 seconds samples of a single subject were allocated to only one subset. As in the first experiment, we evaluated three DNN architectures to a small set of the data to identify the best performing architecture. The ConvLSTM architecture again resulted in the best trade-off between performance and training time (Figure 5.6(b) and Figure 5.7(b)). A *t*-test showed that both LSTM and ConvLSTM have a significantly better performance than CNN (p < 0.002) and no significant difference between LSTM and ConvLSTM(0.580). Furthermore, this experiment resulted in a better performance than the previous experiment as shown in Table 5.3.

The high AUC when splitting the data at sample level compared to subject level can be explained by the smaller within-subject, compared to between-subject, variability of gait. However, another explanation may be that the model learns to identify subjects better than it recognises characteristics indicating fall risk (since the same subjects were present in train and test set, the model could map their identity to fall risk). In the third experiment, we checked the model's ability to identify subjects' gait signatures.

5.5.3 Experiment 3

We again split the dataset into three subsets at **sample level**. To learn subject signatures together with their fall risk, we used multi-task learning (MTL): fall risk was the main task, while the identity of the subject was the auxiliary task. We used the same ConvL-STM architecture as in Table 5.2, because of its good trade-off between performance and learning time in the previous experiments, with an additional dense output layer (connected to layer 11) for the auxiliary task. The overall loss of the network is a weighted sum of the losses on the main and auxiliary tasks. Ten-fold cross validation was used to calculate the performance of both the main and auxiliary tasks. The performance of the auxiliary task, which identified the person out of the 296 in the dataset, was evaluated with a plot of the ROC for each subject in a one versus all approach. The ROC of the main task and, for clarity, a random sample of the ROCs for the auxiliary task are shown in Figure 5.8.

As we can see, when both tasks are given the same weight (Figures 5.8(a) and 5.8(b)), the network is exceedingly good at recognising identities, but not so much at predicting fall risk. The network has the information to learn the mapping from identity to risk, but not the information capacity to learn this mapping. So when we increase the weight of the main task, the network becomes better at predicting fall risk at the expense of the identification task (Figures 5.8(c) and 5.8(d)). From this, we can conclude that there are important differences between subjects, but that there are other informative patterns in the data, which leaded us to our next experiment.

5.5.4 Experiment 4

In this experiment, we investigated the effect of MTDL on the model performance. When we split the data at subject level, it makes no sense to use subject ID as the auxiliary task — since the IDs in the test set are never seen during training — but other subject characteristics can form an informative auxiliary task. The experimental setup is similar to the previous experiment, except that the data is split at the subject level and the auxiliary task is one of the following subject characteristics: *age*, *gender*, *weight* and *height*. Table 5.6 shows the average AUC and the corresponding standard deviation of the main task (fall status). We can conclude that MTDL consistently results in improved performance compared to the single-task learning used in the first experiment. The improvement, however, is not significant when compared to the base model.

5.5.5 Experiment 5

In the previous experiments, we used the exact same 10-second data segments as in van Schooten et al. (2016), which consists of samples of locomotion as identified by the accelerometer manufacturer's algorithm (Dijkstra et al., 2010). As the data were collected in a daily living environment, the locomotion bouts may contain some 'non-gait' data



Figure 5.8: A sample of obtained ROCs for MTDL with fall status as main task and subject identity as auxiliary task. For the auxiliary task, the ROCs are computed using one-versus-all. The corresponding average AUC is reported. For Figures (a) and (b), the main and auxiliary losses are given the same weight (1 : 1); for Figures (c) and (d) the main loss function is given higher weight $(10^4 : 1)$ than auxiliary loss function. The dashed line in Figures (a) and (c) represents the chance ROC.

	AUC main t	ask (std dev)	<i>p</i> -value diff to base model		
Characteristic	Experiment 4 Experiment 5		Experiment 4	Experiment 5	
Gender	0.70 (0.06)	0.75 (0.05)	0.070	< 0.001	
Age	0.70 (0.05)	0.74 (0.05)	0.082	< 0.001	
Weight	0.68 (0.05)	0.72 (0.05)	0.306	0.005	
Height	0.63 (0.06)	0.65 (0.06)	0.987	0.897	

Table 5.6: Average AUC and the corresponding standard deviation of the main task (fall status), obtained when the ConvLSTM is applied to the test set. The *p*-value is obtained using the *z*-test to test the difference in performance to the base model.



Figure 5.9: (a) An example of a 10-seconds data sample included in the training and testing set and (b) an example of a data sample excluded in experiment 5 due to the low dominant frequencies in the VT-axis. In the bottom-right corners, histograms of the VT-frequencies up to 3 Hz are depicted. Both examples are included in the first 4 experiments.

samples, which may have negatively affected the performance of the DNNs. Visual inspection of the data indeed suggested the presence of such data samples. These data samples correspond to cyclic accelerations of the trunk without taking clear steps (such as when riding a bike) or involve only a few steps (such as when moving in the kitchen while preparing a meal). The objective of this experiment was to investigate the effect of conservatively selecting gait data samples on the performance of the models. To do so, 10-seconds data samples having a very low dominant frequency in the vertical direction (VT-axis) (≤ 0.2 Hz) were removed from the data, resulting in approximately 20% discarded data. An example of such included and excluded samples is shown in Figure 5.9. A procedure similar to experiment 4 was followed to train, test and calculate the performance of the ConvLSTM model. Table 5.6 shows the obtained average AUC and the corresponding standard deviation of the main task. Notice that although different data were used for both training and testing, the results are per *subject*, for the same subjects: they are, therefore, comparable. Comparing these results with those of experiment 4, we may conclude that the excluded samples did have a negative effect on the performance of the DNNs. The obtained results of the z-test showed that this model resulted in a significant improvement compared to the performance of the base model. These results suggest that improvement in fall prediction based on accelerometry is not only warranted on the modeling side, but also on the input (or activity classification) side.

5.6 Discussion and conclusions

In this paper, we studied the use of deep learning neural networks to model fall risk on the basis of accelerometer data. Our aim was to compare the performance of deep learning on raw acceleration data with the performance of a base model that uses biomechanical

features extracted from the data. For this comparison we used the same dataset. We did not compare our approach with other work done on different tasks such as activity recognition (Ordónez and Roggen, 2016) or age-related differences in walking (Hu et al., 2018).

In our first experiment, we selected the ConvLSTM neural model based on its trade-off between performance and training time. However, although we found that this architecture was best in modeling the training data, it generalized poorly over subjects. This was confirmed in experiment 2, where we achieved a very good performance (AUC = 0.94) when the training and validation sets contain data, split at samples, from all 296 subjects. The very good performance in this case may have been caused by the network learning identities of subjects from gait data and using these implicitly to model individual fall risk. In experiment 3 we studied an MTL network that simultaneously modeled fall risk and identity. We infer the need to control for subject-specific factors since training for both fall risk and identity improved the model's performance considerably. In experiment 4, we studied an MTL approach whereas auxiliary task we chose more general characteristics such as age or weight as secondary tasks that are still related to the subject, but is not the subject itself. We found an improvement of the performance of the ConvLSTM model on the validation set of new subjects if we use gender and age as auxiliary output. When we compare the performance of our MTL ConvLSTM with the base model of van Schooten et al. (2015) we saw a slightly higher performance, however, this was not significant. Nevertheless, our results indicate that deep learning methods provide similar high accuracy of fall risk prediction compared to biomechanical models, with the advantage that they do not require painstakingly-crafted features.

The performance of a model relies on the model architecture used and on the input data. In experiment 5, we, therefore studied an approach where we selectively ignored some of the data samples based on a spectral analysis. We found a significantly better performance. These results suggest that a stricter gait classification algorithm may result in more accurate identification of an individual's gait signature and therefore improve model performance. An other option is to use the dynamics in the data over periods longer than 10 seconds. This can be done by using the entire locomotion bout as input for the ConvLSTM network. Another method is adopting hierarchical methods (van Kasteren et al., 2011).

In conclusion, this work shows that machine learning on accelerometer data acquired in the home environment provides comparable accuracy to conventional models, with the advantage that they do not rely on handcrafted extracted features, in the assessment of fall risk of older adults. We believe that this approach will contribute to the societal challenge of healthy and active aging in the home environment.

6 General Conclusion

The population of older adults is set to increase worldwide due to declining total fertility rates and increasing life expectancy thanks to medical advances and lifestyle improvements. The process of ageing involves many unavoidable changes related to the decline of cognitive, mental and physical health in older adults. Ageing therefore has a major impact on healthcare services.

This thesis describes research on the use of sensor monitoring to detect changes in the functional health of older adults living alone. Functional health refers to the adults capability of performing various (daily) tasks independently, which is crucial for independent living. Early detection of a decline allows for timely intervention, which may contribute to healthy and active ageing in the home environment. Technology for ageing in a home environment is considered to be an emerging technology, because ageing in place offers a significant feeling of independence and autonomy and the presence of a social network for older adults. Ambient sensor networks and body-worn inertial sensors are used in many research studies for the ambulatory monitoring of humans in daily life, providing reliable insights into an individuals functional health. These sensors have low costs and pose fewer to no privacy issues in comparison to intrusive sensors such as cameras. These kinds of sensors are ever more incorporated in home environments and in the devices we use daily. Examples of such devices include wearables such as smart phones, smart watches and smart bracelets and ambient devices such as smart thermostats, motion detection devices and home automation.

The focus of this thesis is the on the development and use of machine-learning algorithms for the purpose of monitoring the functional health condition of older adults, in particular to detect change in functional health condition. The machine-learning algorithms used in this thesis are applied to sensor data collected in the daily-life environments of older adults (the wild). The sensors used to collect data are both ambient and wearable and generate data that is comparable with that generated by devices now used on a daily basis by many people. The machine algorithms used in this thesis can therefore be easily implemented in monitoring systems and incorporated into home environments. We have developed machine learning algorithms for a) the detection of visits to older adults, b) the continuous measurement of the indoor gait velocity and c) the prediction of fall risk. The sensors used in this thesis do not record any audio or video. Therefore, it is important to know that the collected data comes from a single person, the resident. The first contribution of the thesis is in the detection of regular and irregular visits to older adults. We explored both supervised and unsupervised methods for the detection of visits, and a multidimensional Markov modulated non-homogenous Poisson process (M3P2) was described. This model is based on the Markov modulated Poisson process (MMPP), which allows the incorporation of multiple feature streams. The non-homogeneous property allows weekly and daily cycles to be modelled. As features, we used sensor-transitions, both general transitions and transitions with knowledge on sensor placement. Sensor transitions refer to sensor events that the resident can trigger in sequence without tripping a third sensor in between. To evaluate the performance of the M3P2 model, we conducted several experiments to test various aspects of the model, such as time discretization, the influence of meteorological seasons and the generalisation of the model. The experiments show that our model M3P2 significantly (p < 0.05) outperforms the standard MMPP model.

Detecting and analysing visits gives us insight into the social life of the resident. Many regular visits to the resident may be an indication of one or multiple chronic diseases, as the most regular visits are from (health) care professionals. Meanwhile, the absence of regular visits may be an indication of loneliness of the resident.

In summary, we are able to detect visits in a unsupervised manner using the M3P2 described in chapter 3. Not only does the detection make it possible to differentiate between the residents and the visitors data streams, but the detected type and frequency of visits are also important indicators of the social participation of older adults.

The second contribution of the thesis is the continuous measurement of the gait velocity (indoor walking speed) of older adults from unconstrained sensor data, because many studies have shown that gait velocity is an important predictor of functional health. We have developed a method to automatically collect walking trajectories and calculate their duration and length in a simultaneous manner. The duration of the walking trajectories was best estimated by fitting a mixture of a Poisson and a normal distribution on the collected data, because walking in the home seemed usually to be interwoven with other activities. The length of the trajectories was estimated by manually specifying the length of one single walking trajectory of the resident (e.g., extracted from the map of the apartment) and deriving other lengths from it. The developed methods were applied to multiple data sets collected over a period of 27 months to estimate the weekly gait velocity of the residents. The results showed the ability to discover clearer trends in the gait of the resident, which can be translated to clearer trends in the functional health of the older adults. Compared to controlled tests, such as timed up and go (TUG) and performance oriented mobility assessment (POMA), our method resulted in an estimated velocity based on a variety of walking trajectories and a variety of speeds in natural conditions, which makes it more representative of the functional health of the resident. The installation of the sensors does not involve any complicated placement requirements. The location of the sensors is chosen, so that all the important rooms in the apartment are covered without affecting the residents daily life.

The automatically collected walking trajectories can also be analysed to detect changes in the daily rhythm of the resident. By monitoring for a long period, the method makes

it possible to detect changes in the most frequent walking trajectories and discover new walking trajectories. These kinds of insight are valuable for different caregivers. For example, a shift of a frequent walking trajectory livingroom-bathroom-bedroom to livingroombedroom during some period of time may be a reason for a therapist to test the resident for the diagnosis of dementia. Another example may be the detection of a new walking trajectory bedroom-toilet-bedroom during the night, which may be an indication for a caregiver (or family member) to test the resident for an infection in the urinary system. The automatically collected walking trajectories can also be analysed to detect changes in the daily rhythm of the resident. By monitoring for a long term, the method makes it possible to detect Changes in the most frequently walking trajectories and discover new walking trajectories. These kind of insights are valuable for different caregivers. For example, a shift of a frequent walking trajectory livingroom-bathroom-bedroom to livingroom-bedroom during some period of time may be a reason for a therapist to test the resident for the diagnosis of dementia. Another example may be the detection of a new walking trajectory bedroom-toilet-bedroom during the night which may be an indication for a caregiver (or family member) to test the resident for an infection in the urinary system.

In summary, standard tests, such as TUG and POMA, evaluating mobility and walking abilities give a general insight into the physical abilities of a patient, but they may be affected by factors such as performance anxiety or pressure to perform in response to being watched. Continuous measurements in the home environment suffer much less from these limitations and provide an opportunity for more accurate assessment of the persons functional health.

Early detection of high fall risk is an essential component of fall prevention in older adults. Fall risk assessment is a process in which the probability of a future fall is estimated, usually within a time frame of six to twelve months. In many intervention programs proposed for fall prevention, fall risk assessment is performed as the initial step to identify persons at the highest risk. The third contribution of the thesis is the assessment of fall risk using state-of-the-art machine-learning models. We trained three deep learning model architectures: convolutional neural network (CNN), long short term memory (LSTM) and the combination of these two which is ConvLSTM and applied them to a dataset of 296 older adults. Deep learning allows the creation of computational models that are composed of multiple processing layers and learn representations of data with multiple levels of abstraction. This approach has resulted in more powerful models compared to the baseline model, because the complexity of the feature computations are dictated directly by the data and by the quality of the model predictions, rather than by preconceptions of the operator. The performance of these three deep learning architectures, without fine tunings, compared to a baseline model with biomechanical features showed comparable accuracy, with the advantage that they do not rely on handcrafted extracted features. Fine tuning these deep learning models using multi-task learning, with gender and age as auxiliary tasks, resulted in a significantly better performance than the baseline model. Further fine tuning of the approach by excluding the non-gait data samples resulted in even better performance of the DNNs. This suggests that improvement in fall prediction based on accelerometery data is warranted not only by fine tuning on the modelling side, but also by fine tuning on the input side. This suggests that the application of these models on data subsets may result in good performance and new insights, for example, in the detection and analysis of detailed patterns of sleeping, standing up, sitting down or climbing stairs.

We also showed that the DNNs are able to recognize individuals based on their gait signature. As a consequence, it is possible to detect changes in the gait of older adults by monitoring their gait signature. A change in gait signature may be an indication of a change in their functional health.

This thesis has produced several insights with respect to continuous monitoring obtained by applying state-of-the-art machine-learning models to datasets collected in the wild for a long period of time. Different aspects of functional health can be measured using algorithms applied to data sets collected using both ambient and wearable sensors. Ambient sensors can be installed in a manner such that they do not affect the daily rhythm of the resident. Wearable sensors are powerful in capturing the movement characteristics of the resident. These two types of sensor are incorporated in a portable monitoring system for remote monitoring, providing information about how active the patient is and which activities he or she is performing (Nait Aicha et al., 2016). One example where this portable monitoring system has been applied is a rehabilitation program aiming to support older adults to remain living independently after a hip fracture (Pol et al., 2017). The occupational therapist used the monitoring system as support and feedback to coach the patient during the weekly rehabilitation sessions. Another example where sensor monitoring can be easily implemented in a real life situation is the early detection and diagnosis of Alzheimer (Robben et al., 2016). For this study, we have collected data using the portable sensor to show that regularity is a promising candidate feature for the purpose of early detection of Alzeheimer.

In summary, this thesis thoroughly investigated the possibility of continuously monitoring the functional health condition of older adults living alone by applying machinelearning algorithms to raw sensor data. The sensors used to collect data are simple ambient and wearable sensors, and the algorithms developed require little to no a priori knowledge. Some of the insights that were obtained have been implemented in a commercial monitoring system, and other insights require less to no effort to be implemented in real-life monitoring systems, which makes the gained knowledge applicable in practice.

Bibliography

- O. Abdel-Hamid, A.-r. Mohamed, H. Jiang, and G. Penn. Applying convolutional neural networks concepts to hybrid nn-hmm model for speech recognition. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2012 IEEE International Conference on, pages 4277–4280. IEEE, 2012.
- G. Acampora, D. J. Cook, P. Rashidi, and A. Vasilakos. A survey on ambient intelligence in healthcare. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 101(12):2470 – 2494, 2013.
- H. Akaike. A new look at the statistical model identification. *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, 19(6): 716–723, 1974.
- M. R. Alam, M. B. I. Reaz, and M. A. M. Ali. A review of smart homespast, present, and future. *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part C (Applications and Reviews)*, 42(6):1190–1203, Nov 2012. ISSN 1094-6977. doi: 10.1109/TSMCC.2012.2189204.
- B. Allen, A. van Berlo, J. Ekberg, K. Fellbaum, M. Hampicke, and C. Willems. Design guidelines on smart homes. COST 219bis guidebook, 2001. URL http://infoscience.epfl.ch/record/96144.
- A. F. Ambrose, G. Paul, and J. M. Hausdorff. Risk factors for falls among older adults: a review of the literature. *Maturitas*, 75(1):51–61, 2013.
- O. Aran, D. Sanchez-Cortes, M.-T. Do, and D. Gatica-Perez. Anomaly detection in elderly daily behavior in ambient sensing environments. In M. Chetouani, J. Cohn, and A. A. Salah, editors, *Human Behavior Understanding*, pages 51–67, Cham, 2016. Springer International Publishing.
- H. Bal, D. Epema, C. de Laat, R. van Nieuwpoort, J. Romein, F. Seinstra, C. Snoek, and H. Wijshoff. A medium-scale distributed system for computer science research: Infrastructure for the long term. *Computer*, 49(5):54–63, May 2016. ISSN 0018-9162. doi: 10.1109/MC.2016.127.
- S. Bamberg, A. Benbasat, D. Scarborough, D. Krebs, and J. Paradiso. Gait Analysis Using a Shoe-Integrated Wireless Sensor System. *Information Technology in Biomedicine, IEEE Transactions on*, 12(4):413–423, July 2008. ISSN 1089-7771.
- T. Banerjee, J. M. Keller, and M. Skubic. Resident identification using kinect depth image data and fuzzy clustering techniques. In 2012 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, pages 5102–5105, 2012.
- E. Barry, R. Galvin, C. Keogh, F. Horgan, and T. Fahey. Is the timed up and go test a useful predictor of risk of falls in community dwelling older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC geriatrics*, 14(1): 14, 2014.
- Y. Bengio, P. Simard, and P. Frasconi. Learning long-term dependencies with gradient descent is difficult. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks*, 5(2):157–166, Mar 1994. ISSN 1045-9227. doi: 10.1109/72.279181.
- A. Benmansour, A. Bouchachia, and M. Feham. Multioccupant activity recognition in pervasive smart home environments. ACM Comput. Surv., 48(3):34:1–34:36, Dec. 2015. ISSN 0360-0300. doi: 10.1145/2835372. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2835372.
- W. J. M. B. Berg KO, Wood-Dauphinee SL. Measuring balance in the elderly: validation of an instrument. *Physiotherapy Canada*, 41(6):304–311, 1989.
- B. Bilney, M. Morris, and K. Webster. Concurrent related validity of the gaitrite (R) walkway system for quantification of the spatial and temporal parameters of gait. *Gait & posture*, 17(1):68–74, 2003.
- L. Boise, K. Wild, N. Mattek, M. Ruhl, H. H. Dodge, and J. Kaye. Willingness of older adults to share data and privacy concerns after exposure to unobtrusive in-home monitoring. *Gerontechnology : international journal on the fundamental aspects of technology to serve the ageing society*, 11(3):428–435, 2013. doi: 10.4017/gt.2013.11.3.001.00. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23525351.

- A. Boroomand, G. Shaker, P. P. Morita, A. Wong, and J. Boger. Autonomous gait speed estimation using 24ghz fmcw radar technology. In 2018 IEEE EMBS International Conference on Biomedical Health Informatics (BHI), pages 66–69, March 2018. doi: 10.1109/BHI.2018.8333371.
- I. Cameron, S. Dyer, C. Panagoda, G. Murray, K. Hill, R. Cumming, and N. Kerse. Interventions for preventing falls in older people in care facilities and hospitals. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (9), 2018. ISSN 1465-1858. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005465.pub4. URL https://doi.org//10.1002/ 14651858.CD005465.pub4.
- E. Campo, Y. Charlon, and D. Brulin. Instrumented insole for weight measurement of frail people. In Proceedings of the 8th ACM International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments, PETRA '15, pages 60:1–60:6, New York, NY, USA, 2015. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-3452-5. doi: 10.1145/2769493.2769525. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2769493.2769525.
- J. A. Cantoral-Ceballos, N. Nurgiyatna, P. Wright, J. Vaughan, C. Brown-Wilson, P. J. Scully, and K. B. Ozanyan. Intelligent carpet system, based on photonic guided-path tomography, for gait and balance monitoring in home environments. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 15(1):279–289, Jan 2015. ISSN 1530-437X. doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2014.2341455.
- R. Caruana. Multitask learning: A knowledge-based source of inductive bias. In Proceedings of the Tenth International Conference on Machine Learning, pages 41–48. Morgan Kaufmann, 1993.
- Y. Charlon, E. Campo, and D. Brulin. Design and evaluation of a smart insole: Application for continuous monitoring of frail people at home. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 95:57 – 71, 2018. ISSN 0957-4174. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2017.11.024. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0957417417307807.
- L. Chen, J. Hoey, C. Nugent, D. Cook, and Z. Yu. Sensor-based activity recognition. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part C: Applications and Reviews, IEEE Transactions on, 42(6):790–808, 2012. ISSN 1094-6977.
- R. A. Clark, B. F. Mentiplay, Y.-H. Pua, and K. J. Bower. Reliability and validity of the wii balance board for assessment of standing balance: A systematic review. *Gait Posture*, 61:40 – 54, 2018. ISSN 0966-6362. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.12.022. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0966636217310512.
- K. E. Covinsky, R. M. Palmer, R. H. Fortinsky, S. R. Counsell, A. L. Stewart, D. Kresevic, C. J. Burant, and C. S. Landefeld. Loss of independence in activities of daily living in older adults hospitalized with medical illnesses: increased vulnerability with age. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 51(4):451–458, 2003.
- A. S. Crandall and D. J. Cook. Coping with multiple residents in a smart environment. *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Smart Environments*, 1(4):323–334, 2009.
- A. S. Crandall and D. J. Cook. Using a hidden markov model for resident identification. In 2010 Sixth International Conference on Intelligent Environments, pages 74–79, July 2010. doi: 10.1109/IE.2010.21.
- A. S. Crandall and D. J. Cook. Tracking systems for multiple smart home residents. *Human Behavior Recog*nition Technologies: Intelligent Applications for Monitoring and Security, pages 111–129, 2011.
- A. S. Crandall and D. J. Cook. Behaviometrics for identifying smart home residents. In *Human Aspects in Ambient Intelligence*, pages 55–71. Springer, 2013.
- S. R. Cummings, M. C. Nevitt, and S. Kidd. Forgetting falls. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 36(7):613–616, 1988. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1988.tb06155.x. URL https://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1988.tb06155.x.
- E. V. Cyarto, A. Myers, and C. Tudor-Locke. Pedometer accuracy in nursing home and community-dwelling older adults. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 36(2):205–209, 2004.

- M. Daher, A. Diab, M. El Badaoui El Najjar, M. Ali Khalil, and F. Charpillet. Elder tracking and fall detection system using smart tiles. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 17(2):469–479, Jan 2017. ISSN 1530-437X. doi: 10.1109/ JSEN.2016.2625099.
- T. Darrell, A. P. Pentland, A. Azarbayejani, and C. R. Wren. Pfinder: Real-time tracking of the human body. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis & Machine Intelligence*, 19:780–785, 07 1997. ISSN 0162-8828. doi: 10.1109/34.598236. URL doi.ieeecomputersociety.org/10.1109/34.598236.
- S. De Rossi, T. Lenzi, N. Vitiello, M. Donati, A. Persichetti, F. Giovacchini, F. Vecchi, and M. Carrozza. Development of an in-shoe pressure-sensitive device for gait analysis. In *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, EMBC, 2011 Annual International Conference of the IEEE*, pages 5637–5640. IEEE, 2011.
- S. Deandrea, E. Lucenteforte, F. Bravi, R. Foschi, C. La Vecchia, and E. Negri. Review article: Risk factors for falls in community-dwelling older people:" a systematic review and meta-analysis". *Epidemiology*, pages 658–668, 2010.
- M. J. Deen. Information and communications technologies for elderly ubiquitous healthcare in a smart home. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 19(3):573–599, 2015. doi: 10.1007/s00779-015-0856-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s00779-015-0856-x.
- B. Dijkstra, Y. Kamsma, and W. Zijlstra. Detection of gait and postures using a miniaturised triaxial accelerometer-based system: accuracy in community-dwelling older adults. *Age and ageing*, 39(2):259– 262, 2010.
- G. Diraco, A. Leone, and P. Siciliano. A radar-based smart sensor for unobtrusive elderly monitoring in ambient assisted living applications. *Biosensors*, 7(4), 2017. ISSN 2079-6374. doi: 10.3390/bios7040055. URL http://www.mdpi.com/2079-6374/7/4/55.
- T. Doi, S. Hirata, R. Ono, K. Tsutsumimoto, S. Misu, and H. Ando. The harmonic ratio of trunk acceleration predicts falling among older people: results of a 1-year prospective study. *Journal of NeuroEngineering* and Rehabilitation, 10(1):7, Jan 2013. ISSN 1743-0003. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-10-7. URL https: //doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-10-7.
- H. Durrani and S. Khoja. A systematic review of the use of telehealth in asian countries. Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare, 15(4):175–181, 2009. doi: 10.1258/jtt.2009.080605.
- A. Ejupi, M. Brodie, J. Gschwind Y, R. Lord S, L. Zagler W, and K. Delbaere. Kinect-based five-times-sit-tostand test for clinical and in-home assessment of fall risk in older people. *Gerontology*, 62:118–124, 2016. doi: 10.1159/000381804.
- M. Eldib, F. Deboeverie, D. V. Haerenborgh, W. Philips, and H. Aghajan. Detection of visitors in elderly care using a low-resolution visual sensor network. In *Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Distributed Smart Cameras*, ICDSC '15, pages 56–61, New York, NY, USA, 2015. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-3681-9. doi: 10.1145/2789116.2789137. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2789116. 2789137.
- O. M. Ernsting C, Dombrowski SU. Using smartphones and health apps to change and manage health behaviors: A population-based survey. *Eysenbach G, ed. Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(4), 2017. doi: 10.2196/jmir.6838.
- M. Fine. Intergenerational perspectives on ageing, economics and globalisation. Australasian Journal on Ageing, 33(4):220–225, 2014a. doi: 10.1111/ajag.12208. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/abs/10.1111/ajag.12208.
- M. Fine. Nurturing longevity: Sociological constructions of ageing, care and the body. *Health Sociology Review*, 23(1):33–42, 2014b. doi: 10.5172/hesr.2014.23.1.33. URL https://doi.org/10.5172/hesr.2014.23.1.33.

- S. H. Fischer, D. David, B. H. Crotty, M. Dierks, and C. Safran. Acceptance and use of health information technology by community-dwelling elders. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 83(9): 624 635, 2014. ISSN 1386-5056. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.06.005. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1386505614001063.
- A. G. Fisher and K. B. Jones. Assessment of motor and process skills. Three Star Press Fort Collins, CO, 1999.
- M. F. Folstein, S. E. Folstein, and P. R. McHugh. mini-mental state: a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 12(3):189–198, 1975.
- T. Frenken, B. Vester, M. Brell, and A. Hein. aTUG: Fully-automated timed up and go assessment using ambient sensor technologies. In *Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth)*, 2011 5th International Conference on, pages 55–62, May 2011.
- A. Graves. Generating sequences with recurrent neural networks. arXiv preprint arXiv:1308.0850, 2013.
- S. Hagler, D. Austin, T. L. Hayes, J. Kaye, and M. Pavel. Unobtrusive and ubiquitous in-home monitoring: a methodology for continuous assessment of gait velocity in elders. *Biomedical Engineering, IEEE Transactions on*, 57(4):813–820, 2010.
- S. Hochreiter and J. Schmidhuber. Long short-term memory. *Neural Computation*, 9(8):1735–1780, 1997. doi: 10.1162/neco.1997.9.8.1735. URL https://doi.org/10.1162/neco.1997.9.8.1735.
- J. Howcroft, J. Kofman, and E. D. Lemaire. Review of fall risk assessment in geriatric populations using inertial sensors. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 10(1):91, Aug 2013. ISSN 1743-0003. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-10-91. URL https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-10-91.
- B. Hu, P. Dixon, J. Jacobs, J. Dennerlein, and J. Schiffman. Machine learning algorithms based on signals from a single wearable inertial sensor can detect surface-and age-related differences in walking. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 2018.
- R. Hu, H. Pham, P. Buluschek, and D. Gatica-Perez. Elderly people living alone: Detecting home visits with ambient and wearable sensing. In *Proceedings of the 2Nd International Workshop on Multimedia for Personal Health and Health Care*, MMHealth '17, pages 85–88, New York, NY, USA, 2017. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-5504-9. doi: 10.1145/3132635.3132649. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/ 3132635.3132649.
- J. Hutchins, A. Ihler, and P. Smyth. Modeling count data from multiple sensors: a building occupancy model. In Computational Advances in Multi-Sensor Adaptive Processing, 2007. CAMPSAP 2007. 2nd IEEE International Workshop on, pages 241–244. IEEE, 2007.
- A. Ihler, J. Hutchins, and P. Smyth. Learning to detect events with Markov-modulated Poisson processes. ACM Transactions on Knowledge Discovery from Data (TKDD), 1(3):13, 2007.
- C. Jiang, M. K. Masood, Y. C. Soh, and H. Li. Indoor occupancy estimation from carbon dioxide concentration. *Energy and Buildings*, 131:132 – 141, 2016. ISSN 0378-7788. doi: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.09.002. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0378778816308027.
- R. Kampmeijer, M. Pavlova, M. Tambor, S. Golinowska, and W. Groot. The use of e-health and m-health tools in health promotion and primary prevention among older adults: a systematic literature review. *BMC Health Services Research*, 16(5):290, Sep 2016. ISSN 1472-6963. doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1522-3. URL https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1522-3.
- T. Kasteren, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. An activity monitoring system for elderly care using generative and discriminative models. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 14(6):489–498, 2010. ISSN 1617-4909.
- S. Katz, A. B. Ford, R. W. Moskowitz, B. A. Jackson, and M. W. Jaffe. Studies of illness in the aged: the index of adl: a standardized measure of biological and psychosocial function. *Jama*, 185(12):914–919, 1963.

- J. A. Kaye, S. A. Maxwell, N. Mattek, T. L. Hayes, H. Dodge, M. Pavel, H. B. Jimison, K. Wild, L. Boise, and T. A. Zitzelberger. Intelligent systems for assessing aging changes: home-based, unobtrusive, and continuous assessment of aging. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 66(suppl 1):i180–i190, 2011.
- B. Kon, A. Lam, and J. Chan. Evolution of smart homes for the elderly. In *Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on World Wide Web Companion*, WWW '17 Companion, pages 1095–1101, Republic and Canton of Geneva, Switzerland, 2017. International World Wide Web Conferences Steering Committee. ISBN 978-1-4503-4914-7. doi: 10.1145/3041021.3054928. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3041021.3054928.
- A. Krizhevsky, I. Sutskever, and G. E. Hinton. Imagenet classification with deep convolutional neural networks. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 1097–1105, 2012.
- C. S. Kruse, M. Mileski, and J. Moreno. Mobile health solutions for the aging population: A systematic narrative analysis. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 23(4):439–451, 2017. doi: 10.1177/ 1357633X16649790. PMID: 27255207.
- Y. LeCun, Y. Bengio, and G. Hinton. Deep learning. Nature, 521(7553):436-444, 2015.
- A. Lotfi, C. Langensiepen, S. M. Mahmoud, and M. J. Akhlaghinia. Smart homes for the elderly dementia sufferers: identification and prediction of abnormal behaviour. *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing*, 3(3):205–218, Sep 2012. ISSN 1868-5145. doi: 10.1007/s12652-010-0043-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s12652-010-0043-x.
- R. Lutolf. Smart home concept and the integration of energy meters into a home based system. In Seventh International Conference on Metering Apparatus and Tariffs for Electricity Supply 1992, pages 277–278, Nov 1992.
- W. Lutz, P. B. William, and K. Samir. World population human capital in the twenty-first century: An overview. Oxford University Press, 2017.
- M. Mancini, H. Schlueter, M. El-Gohary, N. Mattek, C. Duncan, J. Kaye, and F. B. Horak. Continuous monitoring of turning mobility and its association to falls and cognitive function: A pilot study. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 71(8):1102–1108, 2016.
- P. McDonald. International migration and employment in australia. *Population Review*, 54(2), 2015. doi: 10.1353/prv.2015.0005.
- P. McDonald. Population Ageing: A Demographic Perspective, pages 47–61. Springer New York, New York, NY, 2017. ISBN 978-1-4939-6466-6. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-6466-6_4. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6466-6_4.
- F. Mendona, S. S. Mostafa, F. Morgado-Dias, A. G. Ravelo-Garca, and T. Penzel. A review of approaches for sleep quality analysis. *IEEE Access*, 7:24527–24546, 2019.
- M. Montero-Odasso, M. Schapira, E. R. Soriano, M. Varela, R. Kaplan, L. A. Camera, and L. M. Mayorga. Gait velocity as a single predictor of adverse events in healthy seniors aged 75 years and older. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 60(10):1304–1309, 2005.
- F. Muheidat, H. W. Tyrer, M. Popescu, and M. Rantz. Estimating walking speed, stride length, and stride time using a passive floor based electronic scavenging system. In 2017 IEEE Sensors Applications Symposium (SAS), pages 1–5, March 2017.
- J. L. W. F.-G. N. Farber, D. Shinkle and R. Harrell. Aging in place: A state survey of livability policies and practices. *AARP Public Policy Institute, DC, USA*, 2011.
- A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. How busy is my supervisor? detecting the visits in the office of my supervisor using a sensor network. In *Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments*, PETRA 12, New York, NY, USA, 2012. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450313001. doi: 10.1145/2413097.2413112. URL https://doi. org/10.1145/2413097.2413112.

- A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. How lonely is your grandma?: Detecting the visits to assisted living elderly from wireless sensor network data. In *Proceedings of the 2013 ACM Conference on Pervasive* and Ubiquitous Computing Adjunct Publication, UbiComp '13 Adjunct, pages 1285–1294, New York, NY, USA, 2013. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-2215-7. doi: 10.1145/2494091.2497283. URL http://doi.acm. org/10.1145/2494091.2497283.
- A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Modeling visit behaviour in smart homes using unsupervised learning. In *Proceedings of the 2014 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing: Adjunct Publication*, UbiComp '14 Adjunct, pages 1193–1200, New York, NY, USA, 2014. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-3047-3. doi: 10.1145/2638728.2638809. URL http://doi.acm.org/10. 1145/2638728.2638809.
- A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Continuous gait velocity analysis using ambient sensors in a smart home. In *Ambient Intelligence*, pages 219–235, Cham, 2015. Springer International Publishing. ISBN 978-3-319-26005-1.
- A. Nait Aicha, S. Haitjema, and P. Wiggers. Hipperbox: A portable toolbox for rehabilitation from a hip surgery using sensors. In *Proceedings of the 10th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare*, PervasiveHealth '16, pages 255–256, ICST, Brussels, Belgium, Belgium, 2016. ICST (Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering). ISBN 978-1-63190-051-8. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=3021319.3021361.
- A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Unsupervised visit detection in smart homes. *Pervasive and Mobile Computing*, 34:157 167, 2017a. ISSN 1574-1192. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmcj.2016.05.003. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1574119216300517. Pervasive Computing for Gerontechnology.
- A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Continuous measuring of the indoor walking speed of older adults living alone. *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing*, Feb 2017b. ISSN 1868-5145. doi: 10.1007/s12652-017-0456-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s12652-017-0456-x.
- A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, K. S. van Schooten, M. Pijnappels, and B. Kröse. Deep learning to predict falls in older adults based on daily-life trunk accelerometry. *Sensors*, 18(5), 2018. ISSN 1424-8220. doi: 10.3390/s18051654. URL http://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/18/5/1654.
- B. Najafi, K. Aminian, F. Loew, Y. Blanc, and P. A. Robert. Measurement of stand-sit and sit-stand transitions using a miniature gyroscope and its application in fall risk evaluation in the elderly. *Biomedical Engineering*, *IEEE Transactions on*, 49(8):843–851, 2002.
- A. O'Brien and R. M. Ruairi. Survey of assistive technology devices and applications for aging in place. In 2009 Second International Conference on Advances in Human-Oriented and Personalized Mechanisms, Technologies, and Services, pages 7–12, Sep. 2009. doi: 10.1109/CENTRIC.2009.9.
- F. Ordonez, G. Englebienne, P. de Toledo, T. van Kasteren, A. Sanchis, and B. Kröse. Bayesian inference in hidden Markov models for in-home activity recognition. *IEEE Pervasive Computing*, 13(3):67–75, July-Sept 2014.
- F. J. Ordónez and D. Roggen. Deep convolutional and lstm recurrent neural networks for multimodal wearable activity recognition. *Sensors*, 16(1):115, 2016.
- J. R. Orejana, B. A. MacDonald, H. S. Ahn, K. Peri, and E. Broadbent. Healthcare robots in homes of rural older adults. In A. Tapus, E. André, J.-C. Martin, F. Ferland, and M. Ammi, editors, *Social Robotics*, pages 512–521, Cham, 2015. Springer International Publishing. ISBN 978-3-319-25554-5.
- D. Pal, T. Triyason, and S. Funikul. Smart homes and quality of life for the elderly: A systematic review. In 2017 IEEE International Symposium on Multimedia (ISM), pages 413–419, Dec 2017. doi: 10.1109/ISM. 2017.83.

- S. T. Peek, E. J. Wouters, J. van Hoof, K. G. Luijkx, H. R. Boeije, and H. J. Vrijhoef. Factors influencing acceptance of technology for aging in place: A systematic review. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 83(4):235 – 248, 2014. ISSN 1386-5056. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.004. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1386505614000173.
- A. P. Pentland. Smart rooms. *Scientific American*, 274(4):68–76, 1996. ISSN 00368733, 19467087. URL http://www.jstor.org/stable/24989483.
- L. Pereira, A. Dias, A. Queirós, and N. P. Rocha. Technologies for ageing in place: A systematic review of reviews and meta-analyses. In N. Peixoto, M. Silveira, H. H. Ali, C. Maciel, and E. L. van den Broek, editors, *Biomedical Engineering Systems and Technologies*, pages 331–353, Cham, 2018. Springer International Publishing.
- J. Petersen, N. Larimer, J. A. Kaye, M. Pavel, and T. L. Hayes. SVM to detect the presence of visitors in a smart home environment. In *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC)*, 2012 Annual International Conference of the IEEE, pages 5850–5853. IEEE, 2012.
- C. Phua, K. Sim, and J. Biswas. Multiple people activity recognition using simple sensors. In *PECCS*, pages 224–231, 2011.
- G. Plasqui, A. Bonomi, and K. Westerterp. Daily physical activity assessment with accelerometers: new insights and validation studies. *obesity reviews*, 14(6):451–462, 2013.
- D. Podsiadlo and S. Richardson. The timed up & go: A test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 39(2):142–148, 1991. ISSN 1532-5415. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1991.tb01616.x. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1991.tb01616.x.
- M. C. Pol, S. Poerbodipoero, S. Robben, J. Daams, M. Hartingsveldt, R. Vos, S. E. Rooij, B. Kröse, and B. M. Buurman. Sensor monitoring to measure and support daily functioning for independently living older people: A systematic review and road map for further development. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 2013.
- M. C. Pol, G. ter Riet, M. van Hartingsveldt, B. Kröse, S. E. de Rooij, and B. M. Buurman. Effectiveness of sensor monitoring in an occupational therapy rehabilitation program for older individuals after hip fracture, the so-hip trial: study protocol of a three-arm stepped wedge cluster randomized trial. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17(1):3, 2017. doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1934-0. URL https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12913-016-1934-0.
- L. Quach, A. M. Galica, R. N. Jones, E. Procter-Gray, B. Manor, M. T. Hannan, and L. A. Lipsitz. The nonlinear relationship between gait speed and falls: the maintenance of balance, independent living, intellect, and zest in the elderly of boston study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 59(6):1069–1073, 2011.
- M. J. Rantz, R. T. Porter, D. Cheshier, D. Otto, C. H. S. III, R. A. Johnson, M. Aud, M. Skubic, H. Tyrer, Z. He, G. Demiris, G. L. Alexander, and G. Taylor. Tigerplace, a state-academic-private project to revolutionize traditional long-term care. *Journal of Housing For the Elderly*, 22(1-2):66–85, 2008. doi: 10.1080/02763890802097045. URL https://doi.org/10.1080/02763890802097045. PMID: 21566729.
- S. M. Rispens, K. S. van Schooten, M. Pijnappels, A. Daffertshofer, P. J. Beek, and J. H. van Dieën. Do extreme values of daily-life gait characteristics provide more information about fall risk than median values? *JMIR research protocols*, 4(1), 2015a.
- S. M. Rispens, K. S. van Schooten, M. Pijnappels, A. Daffertshofer, P. J. Beek, and J. H. van Dieën. Identification of fall risk predictors in daily life measurements: gait characteristics reliability and association with self-reported fall history. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair*, 29(1):54–61, 2015b.
- S. M. Rispens, J. H. Van Dieën, K. S. Van Schooten, L. E. CofréLizama, A. Daffertshofer, P. J. Beek, and M. Pijnappels. Fall-related gait characteristics on the treadmill and in daily life. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 13(1):12, 2016. doi: 10.1186/s12984-016-0118-9. URL https: //doi.org/10.1186/s12984-016-0118-9.

- S. Robben, A. Nait Aicha, and B. Kröse. Measuring regularity in daily behavior for the purpose of detecting alzheimer. In *Proceedings of the 10th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare*, PervasiveHealth '16, pages 97–100, ICST, Brussels, Belgium, Belgium, 2016. ICST (Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering). ISBN 978-1-63190-051-8. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=3021319.3021334.
- P. Rosenbaum and D. Stewart. The world health organization international classification of functioning, disability, and health: a model to guide clinical thinking, practice and research in the field of cerebral palsy. *Seminars in Pediatric Neurology*, 11(1):5 10, 2004. ISSN 1071-9091. doi: https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.spen.2004.01.002. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ \$1071909104000038. Current Perspectives in Cerebral Palsy.
- L. Z. Rubenstein. Falls in older people: epidemiology, risk factors and strategies for prevention. Age and ageing, 35(suppl 2):ii37–ii41, 2006.
- S. H. K. R. M. S. M. Rui, Liyanga; Chen. Estimation of human walking speed by doppler radar for elderly care. Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Smart Environments, 9(2):181–191, 2017.
- S. A. B. Santosh Krishna and E. A. Balas. Healthcare via cell phones: A systematic review. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 15(3), 2009.
- G. Schwarz et al. Estimating the dimension of a model. The annals of statistics, 6(2):461–464, 1978.
- S. L. Scott. Bayesian analysis of a two-state Markov modulated Poisson process. Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics, 8(3):662–670, 1999.
- S. L. Scott. Detecting network intrusion using a markov modulated nonhomogeneous poisson process. Submitted to the Journal of the American Statistical Association, 2001.
- S. L. Scott and P. Smyth. The Markov modulated Poisson process and Markov Poisson cascade with applications to web traffic data. *Bayesian Statistics*, 7:671–680, 2003.
- L. C. D. Silva, C. Morikawa, and I. M. Petra. State of the art of smart homes. *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence*, 25(7):1313 1321, 2012. ISSN 0952-1976. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engappai.2012.05.002. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S095219761200098X. Advanced issues in Artificial Intelligence and Pattern Recognition for Intelligent Surveillance System in Smart Home Environment.
- G. Singla and D. J. Cook. Interleaved activity recognition for smart home residents. pages 145–152. Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Intelligent Environments, Amsterdam, The Netherlands: IOS Press, 2009.
- G. Singla, D. J. Cook, and M. Schmitter-Edgecombe. Recognizing independent and joint activities among multiple residents in smart environments. volume 1, pages 57–63. Springer, 2010.
- M. Skubic, G. Alexander, M. Popescu, M. Rantz, and J. Keller. A smart home application to eldercare: Current status and lessons learned. *Technology And Health Care*, 17(3):183 – 201, 2009. ISSN 09287329.
- S. Steels. Key characteristics of age-friendly cities and communities: A review. Cities, 47:45 52, 2015. ISSN 0264-2751. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2015.02.004. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264275115000190. Current Research on Cities (CRoC).
- S. A. Sternberg, A. W. Schwartz, S. Karunananthan, H. Bergman, and A. Mark Clarfield. The identification of frailty: A systematic literature review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 59(11):2129–2138, 2011. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03597.x. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03597.x.
- E. Stone and M. Skubic. Evaluation of an inexpensive depth camera for in-home gait assessment. Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Smart Environments, 3(4):349–361, 2011.

- E. Stone, M. Skubic, M. Rantz, C. Abbott, and S. Miller. Average in-home gait speed: Investigation of a new metric for mobility and fall risk assessment of elders. *Gait & posture*, 41(1):57–62, 2015.
- E. E. Stone and M. Skubic. Fall detection in homes of older adults using the microsoft kinect. *IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics*, 19(1):290–301, Jan 2015. ISSN 2168-2194. doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2014. 2312180.
- S. Studenski, S. Perera, K. Patel, C. Rosano, K. Faulkner, M. Inzitari, J. Brach, J. Chandler, P. Cawthon, E. B. Connor, et al. Gait speed and survival in older adults. *Jama*, 305(1):50–58, 2011.
- U. Sumita and Y. Masuda. Analysis of multivariate Markov modulated Poisson processes. Operations research letters, 12(1):37–45, 1992.
- R. Sun and J. J. Sosnoff. Novel sensing technology in fall risk assessment in older adults: a systematic review. BMC Geriatrics, 18(1):14, Jan 2018. ISSN 1471-2318. doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0706-6. URL https: //doi.org/10.1186/s12877-018-0706-6.
- I. Sutskever, O. Vinyals, and Q. V. Le. Sequence to sequence learning with neural networks. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 3104–3112, 2014.
- W. Tao, T. Liu, R. Zheng, and H. Feng. Gait analysis using wearable sensors. Sensors, 12(2):2255–2283, 2012.
- T. Teixeira, G. Dublon, and A. Savvides. A survey of human-sensing: Methods for detecting presence, count, location, track, and identity. ACM Computing Surveys, 5:1–77, 2010.
- M. T. P. M. B. Tiago, J. P. de Almeida Couto, F. G. B. Tiago, and S. M. C. D. Faria. Baby boomers turning grey: European profiles. *Tourism Management*, 54:13 – 22, 2016. ISSN 0261-5177. doi: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tourman.2015.10.017. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0261517715300364.
- M. E. Tinetti. Performance-oriented assessment of mobility problems in elderly patients. *Journal of the Ameri*can Geriatrics Society, 34(2):119–126, 1986. ISSN 1532-5415. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1986.tb05480.x. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1986.tb05480.x.
- M. E. Tinetti and C. Kumar. The Patient Who Falls: It's Always a Trade-off. JAMA, 303(3):258–266, 01 2010. ISSN 0098-7484. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.2024. URL https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009. 2024.
- M. E. Tinetti and C. S. Williams. Falls, injuries due to falls, and the risk of admission to a nursing home. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 337(18):1279–1284, 1997. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199710303371806. URL https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199710303371806. PMID: 9345078.
- A. Toshev and C. Szegedy. Deeppose: Human pose estimation via deep neural networks. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 1653–1660, 2014.
- M. Z. Uddin, W. Khaksar, and J. Torresen. Ambient sensors for elderly care and independent living: A survey. Sensors, 18(7), 2018. ISSN 1424-8220. doi: 10.3390/s18072027. URL http://www.mdpi.com/ 1424-8220/18/7/2027.
- T. van Kasteren, A. Noulas, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Accurate activity recognition in a home setting. In UbiComp '08: Proceedings of the 10th international conference on Ubiquitous computing, pages 1–9, New York, NY, USA, 2008. ACM. ISBN 978-1-60558-136-1. doi: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1409635.1409637.
- T. L. van Kasteren, G. Englebienne, and B. J. Kröse. Hierarchical activity recognition using automatically clustered actions. In *International Joint Conference on Ambient Intelligence*, pages 82–91. Springer, 2011.
- K. S. van Schooten, M. Pijnappels, S. M. Rispens, P. J. Elders, P. Lips, and J. H. van Dieën. Ambulatory fallrisk assessment: amount and quality of daily-life gait predict falls in older adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 70(5):608–615, 2015.

- K. S. van Schooten, M. Pijnappels, S. M. Rispens, P. J. M. Elders, P. Lips, A. Daffertshofer, P. J. Beek, and J. H. van Dien. Daily-life gait quality as predictor of falls in older people: A 1-year prospective cohort study. *PLOS ONE*, 11(7):1–13, 07 2016. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158623. URL https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0158623.
- C. J. Van Uden and M. P. Besser. Test-retest reliability of temporal and spatial gait characteristics measured with an instrumented walkway system (gaitrite®). *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 5(1):13, 2004.
- F. Wang, E. Stone, M. Skubic, J. M. Keller, C. Abbott, and M. Rantz. Towards a Passive Low-Cost In-Home Gait Assessment System for Older Adults. *IEEE journal of biomedical and health informatics*, 17(2), 2013.
- L. Wang, T. Gu, X. Tao, H. Chen, and J. Lu. Recognizing multi-user activities using wearable sensors in a smart home. *Pervasive and Mobile Computing*, 7(3):287–298, 2011.
- A. Weiss, M. Brozgol, M. Dorfman, T. Herman, S. Shema, N. Giladi, and J. M. Hausdorff. Does the evaluation of gait quality during daily life provide insight into fall risk? a novel approach using 3-day accelerometer recordings. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair*, 27(8):742–752, 2013.
- J. L. Wiles, A. Leibing, N. Guberman, J. Reeve, and R. E. S. Allen. The meaning of aging in place to older people. *The Gerontologist*, 52(3):357–366, 2012. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnr098. URL http://dx.doi. org/10.1093/geront/gnr098.
- S. Wolf, D. Cal, J. Krogstie, and H. Madsen. Carbon dioxide-based occupancy estimation using stochastic differential equations. *Applied Energy*, 236:32 – 41, 2019. ISSN 0306-2619. doi: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.11.078. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S030626191831794X.
- W. Xu, M.-C. Huang, N. Amini, J. J. Liu, L. He, and M. Sarrafzadeh. Smart insole: a wearable system for gait analysis. In *Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments*, page 18. ACM, 2012.
- W. Young, S. Ferguson, S. Brault, and C. Craig. Assessing and training standing balance in older adults: A novel approach using the nintendo wii balance board. *Gait Posture*, 33(2):303 305, 2011. ISSN 0966-6362. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2010.10.089. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0966636210003814.

List of publications

2012

1. A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. How busy is my supervisor? detecting the visits in the office of my supervisor using a sensor network. In *Proceedings* of the 5th International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments, PETRA 12, New York, NY, USA, 2012. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450313001. doi: 10.1145/2413097.2413112. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2413097.2413112

2013

2. A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. How lonely is your grandma?: Detecting the visits to assisted living elderly from wireless sensor network data. In *Proceedings of the 2013 ACM Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing Adjunct Publication*, UbiComp '13 Adjunct, pages 1285–1294, New York, NY, USA, 2013. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-2215-7. doi: 10.1145/2494091.2497283. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2494091.2497283

2014

 A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Modeling visit behaviour in smart homes using unsupervised learning. In *Proceedings of the 2014 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing: Adjunct Publication*, UbiComp '14 Adjunct, pages 1193–1200, New York, NY, USA, 2014. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-3047-3. doi: 10.1145/2638728.2638809. URL http: //doi.acm.org/10.1145/2638728.2638809

2015

 A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Continuous gait velocity analysis using ambient sensors in a smart home. In *Ambient Intelligence*, pages 219–235, Cham, 2015. Springer International Publishing. ISBN 978-3-319-26005-1

2016

5. A. Nait Aicha, S. Haitjema, and P. Wiggers. Hipperbox: A portable toolbox for

rehabilitation from a hip surgery using sensors. In *Proceedings of the 10th EAI* International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare, PervasiveHealth '16, pages 255–256, ICST, Brussels, Belgium, Belgium, 2016. ICST (Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering). ISBN 978-1-63190-051-8. URL http://dl.acm.org/ citation.cfm?id=3021319.3021361

6. S. Robben, A. Nait Aicha, and B. Kröse. Measuring regularity in daily behavior for the purpose of detecting alzheimer. In *Proceedings of the 10th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare*, PervasiveHealth '16, pages 97–100, ICST, Brussels, Belgium, Belgium, 2016. ICST (Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering). ISBN 978-1-63190-051-8. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation. cfm?id=3021319.3021334

2017

- 7. A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Unsupervised visit detection in smart homes. *Pervasive and Mobile Computing*, 34:157 – 167, 2017a. ISSN 1574-1192. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmcj.2016.05.003. URL http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S1574119216300517. Pervasive Computing for Gerontechnology
- A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, and B. Kröse. Continuous measuring of the indoor walking speed of older adults living alone. *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing*, Feb 2017b. ISSN 1868-5145. doi: 10.1007/s12652-017-0456-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s12652-017-0456-x

2018

9. A. Nait Aicha, G. Englebienne, K. S. van Schooten, M. Pijnappels, and B. Kröse. Deep learning to predict falls in older adults based on daily-life trunk accelerometry. *Sensors*, 18(5), 2018. ISSN 1424-8220. doi: 10.3390/s18051654. URL http://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/18/5/1654

Summary

This thesis describes research on the use of sensor monitoring to detect changes in the functional health of older adults living alone. Functional health refers to the capability to perform activities that a person needs and wants to do without being limited by pain or injury. The ability to perform these activities is crucial for older adults living independently, because the process of ageing involves many unavoidable changes (usually a decline) related to mental and physical health. Early detection of a decline of functional health status allows for timely intervention, which may contribute to healthy and active ageing in the home environment.

To monitor functional health, we used sensor monitoring systems consisting of both ambient and wearable sensors. These sensors are comparable to sensors incorporated in devices used on a daily basis by many people nowadays. The focus of this thesis is on the development and use of machine-learning algorithms applied to sensor data collected in the daily-life environments of older adults (the wild). These algorithms can therefore be easily implemented in monitoring systems and incorporated in home environments. We have developed machine learning algorithms for a) the detection of visits to older adults, b) the continuous measurement of indoor gait velocity and c) the prediction of falls.

The first contribution of the thesis is the detection of regular and irregular visits to older adults. For the analysis of the functional health of the resident, it is important to know that the collected data originates from the resident and not from visitors. To this end, we developed a M3P2. The model is composed of a stochastic process component representing observed events over time (sensor transitions, in our case) and a latent component that modulates the observed process (visits, in our case). Furthermore, the model allows us to incorporate multiple feature streams, and its non-homogeneous property allows us to model weekly and daily cycles. The approach is fully unsupervised, with the advantage that the labelling of the data is not required. Especially when dealing with data collected in the wild, it is difficult to collect labels without affecting the daily routine or the privacy of older adults. The developed model makes it possible to filter out all data which do not originate from the resident, and in addition, the detected type and frequency of visits are important indicators of the social participation of older adults.

The second contribution of the thesis is the continuous measurement of the gait velocity (indoor walking speed) of the older adult from unconstrained ambient sensor data. Gait velocity is an important predictor of functional health in many research studies. We have developed a method to automatically collect indoor walking paths and calculate their duration and length in a simultaneous manner. A probabilistic model consisting of a mixture of a Poisson and a normal distribution is used to estimate the duration of the walking paths, because the analysis of the data showed that the majority of the walking paths of the resident are interwoven with some activity. Standard tests, such as TUG and POMA, evaluating mobility and walking abilities, give a general insight into the physical abilities of a patient, but they may be affected by factors such as performance anxiety or pressure to perform as a response to being watched. Compared to these standard tests, our method resulted in an estimated velocity based on a variety of walking trajectories and a variety of speeds in natural conditions, which makes it more representative of the functional health of the resident. The automatically collected walking trajectories can also be analysed to detect changes in the daily rhythm of the resident.

The third contribution of the thesis is the assessment of fall risk using state-of-the-art machine-learning models. The assessment of fall risk is a process in which the probability of a future fall is estimated, usually within a time frame of six to twelve months. Fall assessment is an important predictor of functional health and is usually performed as the initial step to identify persons at highest risk of a fall. Early detection of high fall risk is an essential component of fall prevention in older adults.

The sensor data that we used came from a study of fall risk factors and consisted of a population of 296 older adults. Fall incidences and descriptions (labels) were monthly obtained during a six-month follow-up period (van Schooten et al., 2015). Because of the presence of labels, we trained three deep learning model architectures: CNN, LSTM and ConvLSTM which is a combination of these two architecures. Using deep learning techniques, the features were automatically distilled from raw sensor data, with the advantage that the likelihood of missing features is small compared to the way in which biomechanical features are selected. The performance of the three deep learning architectures compared to the strong baseline model with biomechanical features showed comparable accuracy. Fine tuning the deep learning models by using multi-task learning resulted in significantly better performance. Further fine tuning by excluding the non-gait data samples resulted in even better performance. We also showed that the DNNs are able to recognize individuals based on their gait signature. As a consequence, it is possible to detect changes in the gait of older adults by monitoring their gait signature. A change in the gait signature may be an indication of a change in their functional health.

In summary, this thesis thoroughly investigated the possibility of continuously monitoring the functional health condition of older adults living alone by applying machinelearning algorithms to raw sensor data. The sensors used to collect data are simple ambient and wearable sensors, and the algorithms developed require little to no a priori knowledge and can evolve in time.

Samenvatting

Dit proefschrift beschrijft onderzoek naar het gebruik van sensormonitoring teneinde veranderingen in de functionele gezondheid van zelfstandig wonende ouderen vroegtijdig te detecteren. Functionele gezondheid definiëren wij als de mate van uitvoering van de activiteiten die iemand moet of wil uitvoeren zonder te worden beperkt door pijn of letsel. Het vermogen om deze activiteiten uit te voeren is cruciaal voor zelfstandig wonende ouderen omdat het proces van ouder worden veel onvermijdelijke veranderingen met zich meebrengt. Deze veranderingen vertalen zich meestal in een achteruitgang van de mentale gesteldheid of van de fysieke gezondheidstoestand. Vroegtijdig detecteren van een achteruitgang in de functionele gezondheidstoestand kan zorgen voor tijdige interventie die wedereom kan bijdragen aan gezond en actief ouder worden. Voor het monitoren van functionele gezondheid gebruiken we sensor-monitoringssystemen bestaande uit zowel omgevings- als draagbare sensoren. Dit zijn sensoren die ingebouwd zijn in apparaten die we dagelijks gebruiken zoals een mobiele telefoon. De focus van dit proefschrift is het ontwikkelen van machine learning algoritmen en deze toepassen op sensordata. Deze data is verzameld in een realistische omgeving waar ouderen dagelijks verblijven (slimme huizen). De ontwikkelde algoritmen sluiten daarom dichter aan bij de werkelijkheid dan als de data in laboratoria verzameld was, en kunnen daarom sneller in praktijk worden toegepast. We hebben machine learning-algoritmen ontwikkeld voor het detecteren van bezoeken, voor het continu meten van de loopsnelheid in huis en voor het voorspellen van vallen in de nabije toekomst.

De eerste bijdrage van het proefschrift is het detecteren van (on)regelmatige bezoeken aan ouderen. De reden is dat het voor de analyse van de functionele gezondheid van de bewoner belangrijk is dat de genalyseerde gegevens afkomstig zijn van de bewoner en niet van de bezoekers. Hiervoor hebben we het M3P2 model ontwikkeld. Het model bestaat uit twee componenten: de eerste component is een een stochastisch proces dat de sensorwaarden modelleert in de tijd (sensorovergangen in ons geval) en de tweede component is een latente variabele die het waargenomen proces moduleert (bezoeken in ons geval). Het model stelt ons in staat om meerdere stromen van data op te nemen als kenmerk en de niet-homogene eigenschap stelt ons in staat om dagelijkse en wekelijkse cycli te modelleren. Deze aanpak is volledig autonoom, in de zin dat in de leerfase geen manuele annotatie van de bezoeken nodig is (hetgeen bij traditionele classificatie wel het geval is). Vooral als het gaat om sensordata die in de praktijk zijn verzameld, is het moeilijk om data-labels (annotatie) te verzamelen zonder beïnvloeding van de dagelijkse routine en de privacy van de oudere. Naast de mogelijkheid om de data van de bezoeker te filteren stelt het ontwikkelde model ons in staat om de type en de frequentie van de bezoeken te detecteren. Hiermee kan een indicatie van de sociale participatie van de oudere verkregen worden.

De tweede bijdrage van het proefschrift is het continu meten van de loopsnelheid van de oudere in huis op basis van algoritmen toegepast op omgevingssensordata. De reden is dat loopsnelheid in veel onderzoeken gezien wordt als een belangrijke voorspeller voor de functionele gezondheid. Hiervoor hebben we een methode ontwikkeld om automatisch looppaden te verzamelen en daar uit de duur en de lengte en daarmee de snelheid te berekenen. Een probabilistisch model bestaand uit een mix van een Poisson en een normale verdeling werd gebruikt voor het schatten van de duur van de looppaden. Uit de analyse van de gegevens bleek namelijk dat de overgrote meerderheid van de verzamelde looppaden van de bewoner zijn verweven met een activiteit. Tests zoals TUG en POMA die gebruikt worden om de mobiliteit en loopvaardigheid van een persoon te evalueren, geven een algemene indruk van de fysieke toestand van de oudere. Deze tests kunnen echter beïnvloed worden door factoren zoals faalangst en prestatiedruk als gevolg van geobserveerd worden tijdens de test. Vergeleken met deze standaardtests resulteerde onze methode in een geschatte snelheid op basis van een verscheidenheid aan looppaden met verschillende snelheden in een natuurlijke woonomgeving. De omstandigheden zijn hierdoor veel meer representatief voor de functionele gezondheid van de oudere dan de omstandigheden waarin standaard tests uitgevoerd worden. De automatisch verzamelde looppaden kunnen bovendien worden geanalyseerd om veranderingen in het dagelijkse ritme van de inwoner te kunnen ontdekken.

De derde bijdrage van het proefschrift is het beoordelen van het valrisico van de oudere met behulp van moderne machine learning modellen. De valrisico-beoordeling is een proces waarbij de kans op een val binnen een tijdsbestek van zes tot twaalf maanden wordt geschat. Valrisico-beoordeling is een belangrijke voorspeller van de functionele gezondheid en wordt vaak uitgevoerd om personen met het hoogste risico te identificeren. Het identificeren van personen met een hoog valrisico is namelijk een essentieel onderdeel van valprentie bij ouderen. De in dit proefschrift gebruikte sensordata is afkomstig uit een onderzoek naar valrisicofactoren met een populatie van 296 ouderen (van Schooten et al., 2015). Valincidenten (de labels) waren maandelijks verkregen tijdens een followup-periode van zes maanden. Omdat we beschikten over labels hebben we drie deep learning-architecturen getraind: CNN, LSTM en een combinatie van deze twee (ConvLSTM). Met behulp van deep learning-technieken worden de kenmerken automatisch gedistilleerd uit ruwe sensordata. Dit heeft als voordeel een geringe kans om kenmerken te missen vergeleken met wanneer gebruikt wordt van bio-mechanische kenmerken. De nauwkeurigheid van de drie deep learning-architecturen in vergelijking met het basismodel met biomechanische kenmerken vertoonde vergelijkbare resultaten. Het verfijnen van deep learning-modellen door gebruik te maken van multi-task learning resulteerde in een significant betere nauwkeurigheid. Verdere verfijning door het uitsluiten van samples die geen bewegingsdata bevatten resulteerde in een nog betere nauwkeurigheid. Verder hebben we in deze bijdrage laten zien dat de deep learningmodellen individuen kunnen herkennen op basis van hun manier van bewegen. Logischerwijs zou het mogelijk zijn om veranderingen in het gedrag van ouderen te detecteren door hun manier van bewegen te monitoren. Een verandering in de manier van bewegen kan een indicatie zijn voor de verandering in hun functionele gezondheid.

Samenvattend hebben we in dit proefschrift grondig onderzoek gedaan naar de mogelijkheid om de functionele gezondheidstoestand van alleenstaande ouderen continu te monitoren door machine learning algoritmen toe te passen op sensordata. De gebruikte sensoren voor het verzamelen van data zijn eenvoudige sensoren die in talrijke hedendaagse apparaten zijn verwerkt. De ontwikkelde algoritmen kunnen daarom sneller in praktijk worden toegepast en bovendien kunnen ze in de tijd evolueren.

Acknowledgments (Dankwoord)

Het is al weer vele jaren geleden dat ik gereageerd heb op een e-mailtje van Ben Kröse waarin gezocht werd naar docent-onderzoekers voor zijn lectoraat 'Digital Life'. Wat mij aansprak in zijn e-mail was de uitdaging om algoritmen op sensor-data toe te passen om slimme oplossingen te ontwikkelen voor de problematieken in de zorg. Deze rol van docent-onderzoeker voor één dag in de week beviel mij heel goed en al snel kwam de vraag om de rol wat meer diepgang te geven in de vorm van een promotietraject. Toestemming krijgen voor extra tijd voor het onderzoek ten koste van het onderwijs ging niet zo makkelijk kan ik mij nog herinneren. De jaarlijks terugkerende besprekingen met Reza Esmaili over mijn onderwijstaken (wittebon) waren pittig in verband met mijn lidmaatschap aan de deelraad destijds en mijn taken voor het programma studium excellentie. Bovendien nam de instroom van het aantal HBO-ICT studenten jaarlijks toe. Vragen om extra tijd ten koste van het onderwijs kon Reza moeilijk verkopen richting zowel de onderwijsmanager Kees Rijsenbreij als richting andere onderwijscollega's. Na wat ge-pingpong was het toch gelukt.

Ben, Kees en Reza! bedankt voor de geboden mogelijkheid en voor het scheppen van de randvoorwaarden om binnen het lectoraat Digital Life in samenwerking met HBO-ICT mijn promotieonderzoek uitvoering te geven.

De eerste twee jaar mocht ik 40% van de tijd besteden aan het onderzoek en 60% aan het onderwijs. In praktijk kwam het op neer dat ik buiten de hectische periodes van het onderwijs zoveel mogelijk tijd besteed aan het onderzoek. De onderwijs-vakantieperiodes benutte ik over het algemeen voor het doen van onderzoek. Mijn macbook maakte standaard onderdeel van de bagage uit tijdens de vakanties. Het onderzoek kwam goed op gang mede door de inrichting van een onderzoekslab op de bovenste verdieping van de locatie Duivendrechtskade (huiskamer DDK). Dit was een mooie gelegenheid om studenten te betrekken bij het onderzoek. Deze studenten hebben bijgedragen aan het testen, installeren, uitlezen en in het lab ophangen van verschillende sensorsystemen.

Alberto, Bjorn, Darien, Marcin, Mick, Nurullah, Pim, Sven, Youssef, Alberto e.a. dank jullie wel voor jullie bijdrage. Miguel en Tim! bedankt voor de samenwerking en voor het beschikbaar stellen van de apparatuur voor het onderzoek.

Na een onderzoek naar verschillende of-the-shelf sensoren (zowel Zigbee en Zwave) in het lab werd gestart met de installatie van de sensorsystemen bij een aantal vrijwilligers in Naarderheem/Flank. Samen met Bas Terwijn, Margriet Pol en Tisca Ikking hebben ik veel bezoeken gebracht aan de bewoners voor installatie van de sensoren, sensoronderhoud, annotatie van sensor-data en het afnemen van verschillende testen. Met name de gesprekken met de heer Leenders zijn mij bijgebleven. Hij grapte altijd dat we overal sensoren in zijn appartement mogen plaatsen behalve in de kast met drank.

Meneer Leenders, Hartelijk bedankt voor uw bereidheid om deel te nemen aan verschillende onderzoeken en voor de leuke gesprekken. Bas, Margriet en Tisca! bedankt voor de samenwerking. Ik vond het fijn om met jullie samen op te trekken. Sven! bedankt voor je enthousiasme en je passie voor sensoren en voor de tripjes naar o.a. BeNext en later naar Tafelbergweg. Ondanks de snelle start liep ik na twee jaar één onderzoeksvraag achter op de planning. Twee dagen in de week onderzoek doen bleek te weinig te zijn en het type onderwijs waar ik bij betrokken was had geen sterke verbinding met mijn onderzoek. De verhouding onderwijs-onderzoek werd daarom omgezet naar 60% onderzoek en 40% onderwijs. Ik hoefde gelukkig niet in onderhandeling te gaan met Reza aangezien een nieuw HvA beleid dit mogelijk maakte. Met het intrekken van een kamer op de bovenste verdieping van de DDK maakte ik meer onderdeel van het lectoraat uit. Het ontwikkelen en het uitvoeren van het thema-semester Big Data samen met oa Peter Odenhoven zorgde ervoor dat mijn onderwijstaken een betere verbinding hadden met mijn onderzoek en daarmee de twee taken goed met elkaar kon combineren. Het binnen halen van subsidie voor nieuwe onderzoeksprojecten zorgde voor meer onderzoeksoutput in de vorm van conferentie- en journal papers, meer onderzoekscollega's en meer reuring binnen Digital Life.

Aduen, Annet, Annika, Ben, Bert, Gideon, Gwenn, Hans, Joey, Joyce, Lilian, Maarten, Margriet, Marije, Michel, Monique, Nazli, Pascal, Ria, Riemer, Sander, Saskia, Summit, Sven, Tim, Wouter, Yanti e.a. bedankt voor het delen van jullie passie voor het onderzoek en vooral voor de leuke momenten op de DDK en later op de TTH.

Omdat ik nog steeds onderdeel uitmaakte van het onderwijspersoneel heb ik mijn contacten met mijn onderwijscollega's gehouden. Bovendien kwam ik de meesten vaak tegen bij onderwijs gerelateerde vergaderingen en tijdens de jaarlijkse sociale activiteiten zoals de kerstavonden, de dobberdagen en vitaliteitsdagen.

Dankjewel Claar, Dennis, Dick, Dop, Ellen, Hassan, Heleen, Jan, Jeanine, Gerke, Marco, Marlies, Marten, Mieke, Miguel, Dop, Dennis, Erik, Ferry, Jan, Peter, Remco, Reza, Richard, Tamar e.a. voor de momenten samen. Ik heb mij op mijn gemak gevoeld bij jullie en ik zal de leuke momenten die we met elkaar hebben meegemaakt blijven herinneren.

Eén van de succesvolle onderzoeksprojecten waarin ik geparticipeerd heb, was het project Hipper. In dit project werkten we samen met de faculteiten ergo- en oefentherapie en een aantal zorginstellingen waaronder Zorgcirkel en Cordaan. Er werd een sensorsysteem inclusief behandelprotocol ontwikkeld ter ondersteuning van de revalidatie na een heupoperatie.

Bedankt Bart, Marleen, Margriet, Robert, Pascal, Sven e.a. voor de soepele samenwerking en het vertrouwen en begrip voor ieders expertise en professionaliteit.

Bijna elke promovendus kent moeilijke momenten gedurende zijn/haar phd-traject. Het heeft te maken met het feit dat je als onderzoeker dag en nacht bezig bent met je onderzoek. Als je naast je onderzoeksleven nog ander werk en een gezin met opgroeiende kinderen hebt kan dat zorgen voor stressvolle momenten. Het was fijn om bij dit soort momenten mensen om mij heen te hebben met wie ik deze momenten kon delen. De Phd-support groep was daar een voorbeeld van waarbij collega's in vergelijkbare situaties onze momenten met elkaar deelden.

Annemiek, Annika, Ben, David, Dennis, Maarten, Marije, Marije, Riemer, Saskia, Sven e.a.! bedankt voor deze momenten wat vaak gepaard gingen met nieuwtjes, tips en tricks uitwisselen.
Het verzamelen van sensor-data afkomstig uit draagbare sensoren was een periode waarbij weinig schot kwam in het onderzoek. Een poging om mee te liften met het onderzoek van Margriet leverde helaas niet het gewenste dataset. Het netwerken van Ben heeft uiteindelijk geresulteerd in een mooie samenwerking met Mirjam Pijnappels en Kimberley van Schooten.

Beste Mirjam en Kim, bedankt voor het beschikbaar stellen van de FARAO-dataset en voor de samenwerking om tot een mooie journal paper te komen.

Met het publiceren van de laatste journal paper 'Deep Learning to Predict Falls in Older Adults Based on Daily-Life Trunk Accelerometry' had ik een mijlpaal bereikt in mijn promotieonderzoek. Het afschrijven van het proefschrift was een kwestie van de drie hoofdonderwerpen aan elkaar breien en in theorie zou dit niet veel tijd meer hoeven kosten. In de praktijk is dit helaas anders uitgepakt. Ik besloot namelijk om mijn carriere een andere wending te geven buiten de wetenschappelijke wereld. Ik vond een nieuwe uitdaging in de data science consultancy bij Future Facts (onderdeel van Hot Item) en later bij de gemeente Amsterdam. Ondanks dat ik niet meer werkzaam was voor het lectoraat hield contact met Ben. Een nieuwe omgeving met nieuwe collega's heeft er voor gezorgd dat ik nieuwe energie kreeg en dat motiveerde mij om de draad weer op te pakken.

Adil, Bas, Bob, Bastiaan, Enny, Floris, Gabriel, Lisanne, Longhow, Marion, Martina, Max, Olivier, Parham, Sonja, Stephan, Vivien e.a. bedankt voor de leuke momenten samen en voor de inspirerende gesprekken.

De draad oppakken gebeurde echter in een laag tempo door gebrek aan tijd omdat de weekenden op een gegeven moment in het teken van de klus-werkzaamheden stonden. Dit gebeurde grotendeels via Skype omdat Gwenn inmiddels de UvA heeft verruild voor de universiteit Twente.

Ben, bedankt voor je grote toewijding als promotor. Jouw betrokkenheid, passie voor onderzoek en bijzondere manier van coaching hebben er voor gezorgd dat ik de eindstreep heb behaald. Ik heb van jou geleerd om mezelf te blijven verbeteren door continue mij af te vragen waarom ik iets doe en door (tot op een zekere hoogte ©) kritisch op mijn werk te zijn. Gwenn, bedankt voor je grote ondersteuning. Jouw veelzijdigheid, vele kennis op het gebied van sensortechnologie en algoritmiek en jouw oplossingsvermogen zorgden vaak voor de juiste toevoeging aan onze discussies. Zonder jouw bijdrage was het mij niet gelukt om de eindstreep te halen.

Beste leden van de promotiecommissie: Prof. dr. H.J. Hermens, Prof. dr. M.A.G.M. Pijnappels, Prof. dr. B.M. Buurman-van Es, Prof. dr. A. Abu-Hanna, Prof. dr. T. Gevers, Dr. H.C. van Hoof. Ik voel me vereerd dat jullie zitting hebben genomen in de commissie.

Zo'n twee maanden nadat de proefschrift is gestuurd naar de commissieleden kreeg ik van Ben het bericht dat alle leden positief hebben gereageerd op het manuscript. Ik ging toen aan de slag met de omslag. Al snel heb ik besloten om de omslag persoonlijk tintje te geven. Voor de toestemming wil ik de fotografe Manja Herrebrugh (www.bymanja.nl) en de heer Leenders bedanken. Voor de vormgeving en het drukken wil ik Loes (www.gvo.nl) bedanken.

Meneer Leenders! Leuk u telefonisch gesproken te hebben en goed om te horen dat u nog steeds zelfstandig woont ondanks uw hoge leeftijd van boven de 90 jaar en ondanks de verlamming aan één kant. Knap hoor!

Bij het schrijven van dit dankwoord was het laatste bericht dat de verdediging op locatie plaats vindt waarbij een zeer beperkt aantal mensen aanwezig mag zijn, namelijk 25 mensen waarbij ik slechts 12 mensen mag uitnodigen ©. Een moeilijk besluit zal het worden aangezien ik het liefst iedereen wil uitnodigen. Mijn familieleden bij elkaar opgeteld zijn al meer dan 20. Er bestaat echter een kans dat de hele ceremonie online plaats vindt. Ik hoop het echter niet!

Marouan en Sabrine, bedankt voor het accepteren van mijn verzoek om op te treden als paranimfen en daarmee mij geestelijk ondersteunen (ondersteund te hebben) tijdens de verdediging.

أمي الحبيبة وأبي العزيز أخي وأخواتي آلاشقاء شكرا جزيلا علا تفهمكم وعلا تقتكم الكبيرة. أتمنا من الله سبحانه ان يوفرنا عدة مناسبات اللقاء ويهدينا طريق النجاح في الدنيا والاخرة.

Last but not least wil ik mijn gezin bedanken. Annemiek, Fawzi en Yousri heel veel dank voor de onvoorwaardelijke liefde en steun afgelopen jaren. Dank voor de momenten die jullie mij gunden zodat ik mij kan concentreren op het lezen en schrijven van papers. Dank ook voor de ontspannen momenten samen zodat ik mijn hoofd leeg kon maken en op een later moment met hernieuwde energie weer aan de slag kon gaan. Dankzij jullie heb ik stressvolle tijden kunnen overwinnen.